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China Investment Development Limited ® /1 B &% & [ 2 B R A 7]

CORPORATE INFORMATION

NEER

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Cheong Yee

Mr. Chan Yiu Pun Clement

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Han Zhenghai (appointed as Chairman of the Board on

7 September 2022)
Ms. Li Jiangtao (resigned on 6 April 2022)
Mr. Deng Dongping
Mr. Liu Lihan
Mr. Gao Yun (resigned on 7 September 2022)
Mr. Zhu Zhikun
Mr. Zhang Junze (appointed on 27 July 2022 and
resigned on 17 November 2022)
Mr. Lyu Ping (appointed on 7 November 2022)
Ms. Mo Xiuping (re-designated on19 April 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. Mo Li

Mr. Kan Yat Kit (resigned on é April 2022)

Mr. Lok Chiu Chan (resigned on 22 July 2022)

Mr. Shi Zhu

Mr. Yuan Wei (resigned on 22 July 2022)

Ms. Chen Shunging
(appointed on 27 July 2022)

Ms. Mo Xiuping (appointed on 23 September 2022 and
ceased on 19 April 2023)

AUDIT COMMITTEE
Ms. Mo Li
(appointed as Chairlady on 6 April 2022
and ceased as Chairlady on 27 July 2022)
Mr. Kan Yat Kit (resigned on é April 2022)
Mr. Lok Chiu Chan (resigned on 22 July 2022)
Mr. Shi Zhu
Mr. Yuan Wei (resigned on 22 July 2022)
Ms. Chen Shunging (Chairladly)
(appointed as Chairlady on 27 July 2022)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
~AEER

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Ms. Mo Li (Chairladly)
Mr. Kan Yat Kit
(resigned on 6 April 2022)
Mr. Lok Chiu Chan (resigned on 22 July 2022)
Mr. Han Zhenghai
Mr. Shi Zhu
Mr. Yuan Wei (resigned on 22 July 2022)
Ms. Chen Shunging
(appointed on 27 July 2022)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Han Zhenghai (Chairman)
Ms. Mo Li
Mr. Kan Yat Kit
(resigned on 6 April 2022)
Mr. Lok Chiu Chan (resigned on 22 July 2022)
Mr. Shi Zhu
Mr. Yuan Wei (resigned on 22 July 2022)
Ms. Chen Shunging
(appointed on 27 July 2022)

RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee (Chairman)
Ms. Mo Li
Mr. Kan Yat Kit
(resigned on 6 April 2022)
Mr. Lok Chiu Chan (resigned on 22 July 2022)
Mr. Shi Zhu
Mr. Yuan Wei (resigned on 22 July 2022)
Ms. Chen Shunging
(appointed on 27 July 2022)
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China Investment Development Limited ® /1 B &% & [ 2 B R A 7]

CORPORATE INFORMATION
A AEEH

COMPANY SECRETARIES
Mr. Li Wancheng (resigned on 15 October 2022)
Ms. Ho Wing Yan
Mr. Wong Shiu Wah Williamson
(appointed on 17 November 2022)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
Mr. Han Zhenghai (appointed on 15 October 2022)
Mr. Li Wancheng (resigned on 15 October 2022)
Ms. Chen Shunging

(appointed on 27 July 2022)

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Dah Sing Bank, Limited

China CITIC Bank International Limited
O-Bank Co., Limited

AUDITOR
Fan, Chan & Co. Limited
Certified Public Accountants

LEGAL ADVISER

Bermuda Law
Conyers Dill & Pearman

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR
MUFG Fund Service (Bermuda) Limited
The Belvedere Building

69 Pitts Bay Road, Pembroke HM08
Bermuda

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE

Union Registrars Limited

Suites 3301-04, 33/F

Two Chinachem Exchange Square
338 King's Road

North Point, Hong Kong
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China Investment Development Limited ® /1 B &% & [ 2 B R A 7]

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
DR

Forthe yearended 31 March2023 B ZE T —_=F=A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—EC-=F gz
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
Proceeds from disposals of financial assets HERAFHEFAGEEREEZ
at fair value through profit or loss MEEEZRBRE 8,697 109,490
Revenue W &= - -
Loss for the year attributable to owners of ZAAREBEAEBGEEFEEEE
the Company (22,802) (20,010)
2023 2022
—EBE-=F T F
Restated
K&

Net asset value per share BEREEFRE

HK$0.759% 7t HK$0.980/% 7T

Net asset value per share was stated after taking into account
the effect of the share consolidation in February 2023, whereby
every 10 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of
the Company were being consolidated into 1 consolidated share
of HK$0.10 each. Comparative figures have been retrospectively
adjusted on the assumption that the above share consolidation had
been effective in prior year.
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China Investment Development Limited » f B % & 2 H R A A)

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWEDN

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group's revenue for the year ended 31 March 2023 was nil
(2022: nil), which remained unchanged when compared with that
of last year. The Group incurred a loss for the year attributable
to owners of the Company amounting to approximately
HK$22,802,000 which increased by approximately HK$2,792,000
or 13.95% when compared with the loss of approximately
HK$20,010,000 incurred in last year. The increased in the loss for
the year was mainly attributable to the decrease in net of reversal of
impairment losses under the expected credit loss model during the
year under review. The net asset value per share of the Group as at
31 March 2023 amounted to HK$0.759 (2022: restated as HK$0.980).
The Board has decided not to declare a final dividend for the year.

INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO

Details of all investments of the Group are included in note 18, 20
and 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had cash and cash equivalents
of approximately HK$3,997,000 (2022: approximately
HK$51,574,000). The Group had net current assets and the net
assets of approximately HK$225,346,000 (2022: HK$157,046,000)
and approximately HK$273,676,000 (2022: HK$224,016,000)
respectively as at 31 March 2023. The Group had other borrowing
of approximately HK$44,185,000 at 31 March 2023 (2022:
HK$2,694,000). The current ratio, calculated on the basis of total
current assets over total current liabilities, was approximately 5.34
(2022: 16.52) as at 31 March 2023.

As at 31 March 2023, the gearing ratio of the Group was
approximately 16.15% (2022: 1.20%).

The gearing ratio is calculated as total debts HK$44,185,000
(2022: HK$2,694,000) divided by equity attributable to owners
of the Company HK$273,676,000 (2022: HK$224,016,000) as the
respective reporting date. For this purpose, total debts are defined
as amounts due to bond holders as shown in note 25 to the
consolidated financial statement.

IERE
HE_ZT-_=F=ZA=+—HLFE K%
Bl=hAT (ZTEZ2F ' F)  BLEFH

T oo AEEEARRRBEABGEEREEE
18 #4922,8020008 7T * REFHEELEFEIEL
20,010,0007% 7T 1 AN 492,792,000 7T 8¢ 13.95% ©
FEEBEEBENDEZEAREBEFEANTERE
BEEBEEATHRERBEZ FELORLD - R
T-=ZFZA=Z+—HB AEESREEF
EA07598 T (2 = —F : £ &% 50980
BIL) - BEEEHEARTERAFESTRAS
f& 8 o

REES
ERASE2HEREZABENGZE A MK R
=MIFE18 ~ 20%21 ©

BBRERRABES
RZZTE-_ZFZA=Z+—H A5£EEH
2 RIBELEEYH3970008 T (T = =
F o H51,5740008 L) c RZFTEZ=F = A
=t—HB FAEEZARDHDEEFENEE
SE B 9 Bl £9225,346,0008 T (= T — — & ¢
157,046,00058 JT) K #9273,676,000% T (= =
T 2240160008 L) c RZEZ=ZF=
A=+—8 ' XEEHEEE4L &44,185,000
BT (ZEZZF 26940008 7L) - R=Z=
Z=ZF=ZA=+—"H "X (ERHE
ELERURBEBEHBRETE) HA34 (=
T4 :1652) o
R-ZE-_ZF=ZA=Z+—8  AEENEE
BELRELHE1615% (ZEZZF : 1.20%) °

EEEBBLEERMAERSAAHER A
44,185,000 7T (= & = = 4 : 2,694,000/ 7T )
Br AR B HEA A FE{h 7 25273,676,00078 7T (=
T T 1 224,016,000 7T) 5 E o mUt M
T BRHBETEARRS VB BRERM FE25M
TENESHFEARE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWED N

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Details in the changes of the capital structure of the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2023 are set out in note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements. The capital of the Company
comprises only ordinary shares as at 31 March 2023.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Most of the business transactions of the Group are denominated in
Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. The management of the Group
will closely monitor the fluctuation in these currencies and take
appropriate actions when needed. As at 31 March 2023, the Group
did not engage in currency hedging nor did it adopt any formal
hedging activities.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2023, there was charges on the Group's assets set
out in note 39.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group did not have any contingent
liabilities.

OTHER INCOME

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group's other income was
approximately HK$10,331,000 which increased by approximately
HK$231,000 or 2.29% when compared of approximately
HK$10,100,000 for the year ended 31 March 2022. The increased is
mainly attributable to interest income from other financial assets at
amortised cost for the year ended 31 March 2023.

NET GAIN ON FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the net gain was approximately
HK$2,518,000 which increased by approximately HK$17,786,000 or
116.49% when compared of approximately loss HK$15,268,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2022. The increased is mainly attributable
to the net gain of listed equity investment for the year ended 31
March 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWEDN

IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER THE EXPECTED

CREDIT LOSS MODEL, NET OF REVERSAL

A net amount of approximately HK$6,687,000 was recognised for
impairment loss under the ECL model for the year ended 31 March
2023 that details are set out in the note 8 to the consolidated
financial statement.

STAFF COST (INCLUDED IN ADMINISTRATIVE AND

OTHER EXPENSES)

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had 14 (2022: 10) full time
employees (exclusive of directors). The Group's total staff costs
(including directors’ remuneration) amounted to approximately
HK$6,048,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022:
HK$17,058,000). The employees were remunerated based on their
responsibilities and performance.

ADMINISTRATIVE AND OTHER EXPENSES
Administrative and other expenses for the year ended 31
March 2023 amounted to approximately HK$26,132,000 (2022:
HK$36,992,000), representing a decrease of approximately
HK$10,860,000 or 29.36%, which was mainly due to decrease in
share-based payment expenses. Such information is set out in note
11 to the consolidated financial statement.

FINANCE COSTS

Finance costs for the year ended 31 March 2023 amounted to
approximately HK$2,832,000 (2022: HK$2,272,000), represented an
increase of approximately HK$560,000. Such increase was mainly

due to the increase of interest on bonds during the year ended 31
March 2023.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Details are set out in note 42 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BFHEEFEEEXTRERE & MRS
&
BE_T-_-F=-A=+—HALFE  #HE
HA{E B 5 1R 45 TR (SR 2% #21406,687,000
B HBERRGSHBRERMES -

BINA (FFATTEREEMEASR)
i —ZHF=ZA=+—H8 KA&EBEHI4
HZB(ZEZZF 10%) 2BEE (TBEE
F) HEZTE-_ZFZAZ=+—HILFE -
AEBZEIRNAREF(BEESEMHS) &
56,048,000 T (= T = = & : 17,058,000/%
L) c ARRINEEEZRBREMKRABTCR
L28E -

THRHEMEX
HE-Z-_=F=ZA=+—HILEFE 7K
N E b B S 49 526,132,000 (Z T - =
36,992,000/ Jt) - A 4 4910,860,000% T =X
2936%  BEEHRRBROIATRAIRLD - B
BERENGZEAETHRRMEN -

Bt 7 R 2R
BE-_ET-_=F=A=1+—HIL=EE %
AR 49 42,832,000 7 (ZE = =4 : 2,272,000
HIT) » N #9560,0008 T - AR T E
EHREE_ZT-_=ZF=-A=+—BILEE
BEHF SIL o

WmEMBREE
F NGRS B MR M 42 -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWED N

PROSPECT

The sentiment of capital markets has rapidly changed after lifting
of the pandemic restrictions in China. The Board has reassessed
recent market condition and determined that the Company should
adopt a more active approach in its investment strategies as the
markets gained momentum on back of robust recovery in the
Chinese economy. In fact, the listed securities held by the Company
have made gains this year and the Company considered that it
should continue to hold on to these listed securities for medium to
long term appreciation.

However, in the new financial year, the Group will continue to adopt
a cautious and proactive attitude in seeking potential business
opportunities in the market. In addition, the Group’s investment
strategy will explore more diversified investment opportunities
with various industries. The Group is aiming at implementing an
efficient and compliant internal control, pragmatically deploying its
investment strategy, and strengthen its financial situation in order
to bring favorable return to our Shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

There was no purchase, sale or redemption of listed securities of
the Company by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the
year.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESNGREEEBE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Chan Cheong Yee (“Mr. Chan")

Mr. Chan, aged 59, has been appointed as an executive Director
since 29 May 2012. He is also the chairman of the Risk Management
Committee. Mr. Chan holds a Bachelor of Science degree from
the College of Business Administration of the University of South
Florida in the United States of America. Mr. Chan is currently a
licensed person to carry out type 4 (advising on securities) and type
9 (asset management) regulated activities under the Securities and
Future Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

Mr. Chan was appointed as execute Director of China Innovation
Investment Limited (Stock Code: 1217) (“CIl") in June 2003,
China Investment and Finance Group Limited (Stock Code: 1226)
("CIFG") in March 2011, Capital VC Limited (Stock Code: 2324)
("CVC") in November 2012, China New Economy Fund Limited
(Stock Code: 80) (“CNEF") in June 2013, National Investments
Fund Limited (Stock Code: 1227) (“NIF") in March 2019, Core
Economy Investment Group Limited (Stock Code: 339) ("EIG")
from 18 January 2021 to 15 June 2021 and Goldstone Investment
Group Limited (Stock Code: 901) (“GIG") in November 2021. ClI,
CIFG, CVC, CNEF, NIF, EIG and GIG are all investment companies
listed on the Stock Exchange. Mr. Chan was an executive Director
of China Trends Holding Limited (“CTH") in February 2016 and re-
appointed as a non-executive Director in December 2020. CTH
once was a company listed on the Stock Exchange GEM board (the
Stock Code before delisting: 8171).

Mr. Chan Yiu Pun Clement (“Mr. Clement Chan”)

Mr. Clement Chan, aged 65, has been appointed as an executive
Director of the Company since 6 April 2022. Mr. Clement Chan
is a member of The Institute of Financial Planners of Hong Kong
Limited and a Certified Financial Planner in Hong Kong. Mr.
Clement Chan obtained a higher diploma in accountancy from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic (now known as the Polytechnic University
of Hong Kong) in November 1980 and a Master of Science in
corporate governance & directorship from the Hong Kong Baptist
University in November 2008.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESNGREEEBE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (continued)

Mr. Chan Yiu Pun Clement (“Mr. Clement Chan") (continued)
Mr. Clement Chan was an executive director of Goldstone
Investment Group Limited (formerly known as Eagle Ride
Investment Holdings Limited, Stock Code: 901), a company listed
on the Stock Exchange from November 2013 to October 2020.
Mr. Clement Chan had over 27 years of experience in the financial
industry, including professional management of investments on
behalf of third-party investors and experiences as responsible
officers for type 4 (advising on securities) and type 9 (asset
management) regulated activities under the SFO for a number of
corporations.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Han Zhenghai (“Mr. Han")

Mr. Han, aged 45, has been appointed as a non-executive Director
since 20 January 2021 and additionally as the Chairman of the Board
since 11 March 2021. He is also the chairman of the Nomination
Committee and member of the Remuneration Committee. Mr. Han
has extensive experience in investment and management business.
He has been serving as a manager of Beijing Zhongmin Zhenxing
Construction Technology Co., Ltd.* JE R ERIREZFERHE AR A

and president of Beijing China Zhiyuan Technology Co., Ltd.* (it/‘?
FEBURRHEBR A F]) since June 2020 and May 2017, respectively.

In addition, he also served as vice president and chief executive
officer of Beijing Ruihai Zongheng Marketing Consultant Co., Ltd.*
(bR B g EE HERAREE AR from July 2007 to May 2017,
and was appointed as an expert of the National Policy Think Tank
Expert Committee of China Industrial Cooperation Association* (4
BTXAERBZBREEZEREZES) in May 2018. From November
2020 to February 2021, he was appointed as an executive Director
of Ling Yui Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 784), a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. He was also appointed
as an executive Director of Golden Faith Group Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 2863), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange from April 2021 to January 2022.

12 Annual Report 4F ¥ 2023

HITES (®)

BOEWEE ([FREWEE]) (&)
BRWEEER _E—=ZF+—AE2=_% =
EFETAMCBIALETRAREARESHR
ERAF (FAIBENEREZRERAF - K
MRS 901) ZHITEE - BRBRWEAERES
BMABBIFES  PEEBRBAE-FKE
%Lﬂ%%&éﬁ*ﬁ NMEFBEABENA
BRER  ABEBRCEMRERESFLBEKND
HTHE4E (RBHFRBEER) RFEE (R#
EEER) XHREETY -

FYTES

BIEELEE ([BEE]D)

BAE A5 B-F-—F—A-THE
BEERFNTESRUNIB-T-—F=
AT—ARZAREEEER - BABRE
ZERIRRYFMEBENORE - BELH
FLEMRAREREBER - #A-F=
EEAARBELRPREAZIMEAER
RAIZEE  URE-FT—LERARTL
RPEBENRERAAZEER -

oy ERER_ZEZLEFELAE_ZT—t
FHAHMEFLRE S EZEHEMRER
EAQRIZBEEERERE  YRZ-_ZZT—N
FRHAEBZEATRH IXGEHMERREE
ERLZEQER - BT =FTF+—AHEZ
T —F-AHH BEZEARBXAMEIR
EFhzaRERBR QG (BRH R 784)
MHTES - FHIE_T-_—FNUAE_Z
::i—ﬁ%ﬁ%%&#%i%iﬁiﬁz

LEEZERBRAR (RMHMRMR : 2863) #
$ﬂﬁ§$



China Investment Development Limited » ff B % & [ 2 B R A A)

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESNGREEEBE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Deng Dongping (“Mr. Deng”)

Mr. Deng, aged 49, has been appointed as independent non-
executive Director on 13 November 2020 and re-designated to
non-executive Director on 12 July 2021. Mr. Deng graduated from
Tianjin Normal University majoring in business administration. After
over 10 years’ military service in the PRC, Mr. Deng has held senior
positions in the cultural industry in mainland China. He is now
the deputy director of the Chinese Volunteer Emergency Rescue
Volunteer Committee.

Mr. Liu Lihan (“Mr. Liu")

Mr. Liu, aged 65, has been appointed as independent non-
executive Director on 11 March 2021 and re-designated to non-
executive Director on 12 July 2021. Mr. Liu holds a Master degree in
Economics from Nankai University. Mr. Liu has held senior positions
in various banks and financial institutions in China before and is
currently the president of an investment management company.
Mr. Liu has a wealth of experience in financial and investment
sectors. Mr. Liu was an executive director of Co-Prosperity Holdings
Limited (now known as Asia Television Holdings Limited) (Stock
Code: 707), a company listed on the main board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Mr. Zhu Zhikun (“Mr. Zhu")

Mr. Zhu, aged 24, has been appointed as a non-executive Director
of the Company since 6 August 2021. Mr. Zhu has a wealth of
experience in multi-dimensional investments and, in particular,
mineral resources development and logistics information. Mr. Zhu
is the founder of )T 1)L R #% & B R 2 Al (unofficially translated
as Zhanjiang City Jiangjing Investment Company Limited), as well
as a shareholder of F & & 2% B R A 7] (unofficially translated
as Qiangu Minerals Company Limited) and participating in its
operations.

Mr. Lyu Ping (“Mr. Lyu”)

Mr. Lyu, aged 67, has been appointed as a non-executive Director
of the Company since 7 November 2022. Mr. Lyu graduated from
Jilin University with a master’s degree in Law. Mr. Lyu holds a
lawyer’s practice certificate and has served as a long-term legal
advisor and capital advisor to several large state-owned enterprises
and joint-stock companies. He is a member of the Advisory
Committee of the State-owned Assets Supervision & Administration
Commission of the People’s Government of Jilin Province and
has directly participated in major projects such as shareholding
reform of Chinese joint-stock entities and merger & acquisition
restructuring of state-owned enterprises in China.
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China Investment Development Limited ® /1 B &% & [ 2 B R A 7]

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESNGREEEBE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. Lyu Ping (“Mr. Lyu”) (continued)

Mr. Lyu has served as the chairman of the “Filial Piety and Virtue
Specialized Cultural Fund Committee” of the “China Nationality
Culture Foundation”, the deputy group leader of the “Rural
Revitalization Industry Alliance” of the “Rural Revitalization
Bureau”, the first vice chairman of the “"World Chinese
Association”, Legal Advisor of the “Credit League of Small and
Medium-sized Enterprises in China”, Strategic Advisor of the
“Chinese Traditional Culture Promotion Council”, Member of the
“Academic Committee” of “Chinese Academy of Management
Science”, and Vice President of the Innovation Institute. “The Vice
President of the Institute of Innovation, a visiting professor of the
College of Business, and the Director of the Equity Investment
Research Center.

From 1993 to 1998, Mr. Lyu served as the chairman of Hainan SF
International Futures Brokerage Co. From 20071 to 2015, he was the
managing partner of Jilin Jiahe Law Firm. Since 2015, he has been
the chairman of Shenzhen Qianhai Guo Ping Capital Management
Co.

Ms. Mo Xiuping (“Ms. XP Mo")

Ms. XP Mo, aged 55, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company since 23 September 2022
and re-designated as non-executive Director of the Company since
19 April 2023. Ms. XP Mo graduated from Nanjing Tech University,
majoring in management science and business administration, and
is currently studying for a master’s degree in international finance.
Ms. XP Mo holds China Intermediate Accountant Certificate. Ms.
XP Mo has won honors such as “National Ten Thousand Talents
Program”, “Leading Talents in Scientific and Technological
Innovation”, and “Young and Middle-aged Experts with
QOutstanding Contributions in Jiangsu Province”. Since December
2016, she has served as the chief financial officer, independent
director and member of the board of directors of China area of JS
Beauty Land Network Technology Inc, a US listed company. Since
September 2018, she has concurrently served as the chief financial
officer of Jiangsu Meiyunmei Technology Co., Ltd. Since November
2019, she has concurrently served as the chief financial officer of
Yancheng Dafengzesheng Technology Co., Ltd.
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China Investment Development Limited » ff B % & [ 2 B R A A)

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESNGREEEBE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Mo Li (“Ms. Mo")

Ms. Mo, aged 48, has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director since 17 June 2021. Ms. Mo is the chairlady
of the Remuneration Committee, a member the Nomination
Committee, the Audit Committee and the Risk Management
Committee. Ms. Mo obtained a bachelor’'s degree from Hunan
University, majoring in accounting. Ms. Mo has rich experience in
financial and management business. Ms. Mo has been serving as a
sales representative in Unitedhealth in the United States since April
2022. From August 2019 to October 2021, Ms. Mo served as a sales
representative in Humana in the United States. From January 2010
to March 2012 and from August 2014 to May 2019, Ms. Mo served
as a director of Shen Zhen Shi ECO Building Facade Consultant
Limited. She was also a vice manager of personal business
department of Ping An Bank Fuhong Branch from April 2012 to
August 2014
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China Investment Development Limited ® /1 B &% & [ 2 B R A 7]

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESNGREEEBE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

(continued)

Mr. Shi Zhu (“Mr. Shi")

Mr. Shi, aged 55, has been appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company since 6 August 2021.
Mr. Shi is a member of the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Risk
Management Committee of the Company. Mr. Shi obtained his
first degree in Bachelor of Arts, majoring in English, from the
Anhui Fuyang Teacher’s University in the PRC in July 1989 and his
second degree in Bachelor of law, majoring in Journalism, from the
Communication University of China in July 1993. Mr. Shi worked
at the Ministry of Commerce of the PRC for over 15 years. From
November 1993 to May 2000, Mr. Shi served various positions
including front-page editor as well as deputy chief editor and chief
editor of the English version of International Business Monthly
under International Business Daily, a publishing entity under the
Ministry of Commerce of the PRC. Mr. Shi was appointed by the
Ministry of Commerce of the PRC to work at the Embassy of the
PRC in New Zealand where he acted as the Commercial Consul
and was in charge of economic and commercial affairs from June
2000 to December 2000 and Mr. Shi subsequently returned to
International Business Daily and served various positions including
chief editor of Important News, director of general office, chief
editor of China-ASEAN Business Week, chief editor of Features
from January 2001 to February 2008. After that, Mr. Shi migrated
to Hong Kong under the Quality Migrant Admission Scheme in
February 2008. Mr. Shi was the director of BOCHK Wealth Achieve
Fund Series SPC, a serial investment fund company wholly owned
by BOCHK Asset Management Limited from May 2017 to January
2020. Mr. Shi was also the chairman of Shenzhen Sanhong Asset
Management Limited, a private equity company incorporated in
the PRC which principally engaged in equity investment and supply
chain finance in the PRC and South East Asia, from September 2015
to October 2020. In addition, Mr. Shi is a director of Joyful Capital
Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong which principally
engaged in investment and investment consultancy in Hong Kong
and the PRC, since May 2008. Besides, Mr. Shi is an independent
non-executive director of Hua Lien International (Holding) Company
Limited (Stock Code: 969), a company listed on the main board of
the Stock Exchange since December 2017.
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China Investment Development Limited » ff B % & [ 2 B R A A)

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EERENEEERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS BIKEHTESE 2
(continued))
Ms. Chen Shunging (“Ms. Chen”) RIEFZE ([BR&zt])

Ms. Chen, aged 55, has been appointed as an independent FBZ I ' 555 r BT =-_F+ A =-++tH
non-executive Director of the Company since 27 July 2022. Ms. HBEZEARARRZBIIIERNITES - KL
Chen is the chairlady of the Audit Committee, a member of the TABRZECIXF H REZET - FWNZ
Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the B NKEREEZEEMKE - RXTHH
Risk Management Committee. Ms. Chen holds the qualification HEJIHSFMMASHMERESE - BRK
certificates of China junior accountant certificate and chief THEBENFHE TR KEESAEL @ %
accountant officer certificate. Ms. Chen has focused on finance EENVBEELR  YHIPERNUBE
management and so on fields in the past 28 years, has rich practical EARHEAEX BB RFH DT LEZE ©
experience in finance, and could provide effective and unique

analysis and advice on financial matters involved.

(* for identification purpose only) (* EH#HF)
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China Investment Development Limited ® /1 B &% & [ 2 B R A 7]

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERE

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of China
Investment Development Limited (the “Company”, together with
its subsidiaries, the "Group”)) hereby present its report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company and its subsidiaries are engaged in investment for
short to long-term capital appreciation purposes, and investment
in listed and unlisted securities. There have been no significant
changes in the nature of the Group's principal activities during the
year.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 84 of the annual report. The
Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the
year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Business Review and Future Prospect

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a
discussion on the Group's future business development are
provided in the Management Discussion and Analysis section on
pages 7 to 10 of this Annual Report.

Financial Key Performance Indicators

An analysis of the Group's performance during the year using
financial key performance indicators is provided in the Management
Discussion and Analysis section on pages 7 to 10 of this Annual
Report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERE

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Use of proceeds

For the year ended 31 March 2023

On 15 September 2022, the Company entered into the Placing
Agreement with the Placing Agent pursuant to which the Placing
Agent has agreed to place, on a best effort basis, to not less than
six independent Placees for up to 492,200,000 new Shares at a price
of HK$0.077 per Placing Share, for and on behalf of the Company.

The maximum number of 492,200,000 Placing Shares represents
approximately 20% of the entire issued share capital of
the Company of 2,461,028,593 Shares as at the date of this
announcement and approximately 16.67% of the Company’s entire
issued share capital as enlarged by the Placing. The net proceeds
from the Placing of approximately HK$37.4 million (assuming the
Placing Shares are fully placed and after all relevant expenses) will
be used for future investment opportunities as may be identified
from time to time, repayment of borrowings and general working
capital of the Group.

Details are set out in the Company’s announcement date 15
September 2022.

Date of initial announcement Fund raising activity

Net proceeds raised

China Investment Development Limited » ff B % & [ 2 B R A A)
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492,200,000 1 % 17 °

B & B 1D 2 & i & B 5492,200,0000% 15 A RQ
RIRARNE BHZ 208 #8172 22,461,028,593
BER% D 2 #920% » A R AR B & B & B8 %
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Actual use of proceeds as at
the Latest Practicable Date
RERERTTARAR

Intended use of proceeds

ERDERS REED FERRENERE FeMERERS RERRAR
15 September 2022 Placing new Shares under Approximately HK$37.4 million  Future investment Approximately HK$17.4 million
general mandate opportunities as may be for a commercial bill in
identified from time to time, ~ public transport sector;
repayment of borrowings approximately HK$6.0
and general working capital - million for investment
of the Group in Hong Kong listed
company in logistics sector;
approximately HK$10.0
million for investment
in United States dollar
denominated fund; and
approximately HK$4.0
million for general working
capital
“E-ZERATRA RE-RRERENRD HIABERT TRADNNARRAME B MTIAEATRARLLERS
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China Investment Development Limited ® /1 B &% & [ 2 B R A 7]

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERE

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Use of proceeds (continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2022

(i)

20

On 4 May 2021, the Company proposes to raise gross
proceeds of approximately HK$127,000,000 before expenses
by way of a rights issue of up to 634,892,864 Rights Shares at
a price of HK$0.2 per Rights Share on the basis of one Rights
Share for every two existing Shares held by the shareholders.

On 12 July 2021, being the latest time for acceptance and
payment for the Rights Shares and for application and
payment for the excess Rights Shares, in aggregate, 7 valid
acceptances and applications in respect of 24,616,353 Rights
Shares have been accepted and applied for, representing
approximately 3.88% of the maximum number of 634,892,864
Rights Shares offered under the Rights Issue. As a result of the
under-subscription of the Rights Shares and in accordance
with the Underwriting Agreement, the Underwriter and the
Sub-Underwriter has procured subscribers to subscribe for
610,276,511 Underwritten Shares in aggregate, representing
approximately 96.12% of the maximum number of 634,892,864
Rights Shares being offered under the Rights Issue.

The gross proceeds from the Rights Issue are approximately
HK$127 million and the net proceeds from the Rights Issue,
after deducting the underwriting commission and all other
relevant expenses for the Rights Issue, are estimated to
be approximately HK$122 million. The Company will apply
the net proceeds of the Rights Issue as to (i) approximately
HK$100 million for future investments in the future pursuant to
the investment objectives of the Company for the upcoming
twelve (12) months; and (i) approximately HK$22 million for
general working capital for the upcoming twenty-four (24)
months.

Approval has been granted by the Listing Committee of the
Stock Exchange for the listing of, and permission to deal in,
the Rights Shares. Dealings in the fully-paid Rights Shares
were to commence on the Stock Exchange at 9:00 a.m. on
Wednesday, 21 July 2021. Allotment and issue of rights
shares on 20 July 2021 pursuant to the rights issue as set out
in the prospectus of the Company dated 25 June 2021 are
634,892,864.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERE

BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Use of proceeds (continued)
During the year ended 31 March 2022, the net proceed was

subsequently used as follows:

Net proceeds raised
as at 19 July 2021

Intended use of the
unutilised proceeds

R-FB-—-%tAt+NA ABRARERE
EEBENAEREFHE Mt 8 AR

HK$122.0 million (the “Unutilised

Proceeds”) working capital
12208 88T ([ RBAMERIE]D 208BET - —KREEER
Other HK$100.0 million — investments
HAt 10008 88T - K&

(ii)

On 18 October 2021, the Placing Agents and the Company
entered into the Placing Agreement pursuant to which the
Placing Agents agreed to place, on a best effort basis, up to
380,900,000 Placing Shares at the Placing Price of HK$0.15
to currently expected not less than six Placees who are
Independent Third Parties.

The Placing Agreement has been fulfilled and completion
of the Placing took place on 8 November 2021. A total of
380,900,000 Placing Shares, representing approximately
16.67% of the issued share capital of the Company as
enlarged by the Placing Shares as at the date of this
announcement, have been successfully placed to not less than
six Placees (who are individual, corporate and/or institutional
investors), who and whose ultimate beneficial owner(s)
are Independent Third Parties. The net proceeds from the
Placing, after deducting all related costs, commission and
expenses, amount to approximately HK$56.6 million, which
is intended to be utilised for the general working capital of
the Group and future investment opportunities as may be
identified from time to time. The net proceeds raised per
Placing Share would be approximately HK$0.1485 per Share.
For details, please refer to the Company’s announcements
dated on 25 June 2021 and 19 July 2021.
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(ii)

Actual use the unutilised proceeds
during the year ended

31 March 2022
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HK$22.0 million — general working
capital
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HK$100.0 million — investments
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China Investment Development Limited ® /1 B &% & [ 2 B R A 7]
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Use of proceeds (continued)

subsequently used as follows:

Net proceeds raised

as at 8 November 2021
R=2=-—-%+—-ANR
ERENFERERHE

HK$56.6 million (the “Unutilised

Proceeds”)

56.68 8T (I REBAMEHEAL)

Other

(i) On 28 June 2021, the Company entered into a sale and

SO ()

FRBRERR (&)

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the net proceed was BEZE_T__F=A=+—HILFE ' &
HREFEERCOERAET

Intended use of the
unutilised proceeds
ABRARERE
Mt 8 AR

HK$14.2 million — general
working capital

U2BEAT- —REEES

HK$28.3 million — repayment
of the borrowings and
finance costs

283A&BAET - BEERNK
CURISRN

HK$14.1 million - investments

141BBAT - %A

=
=

purchase agreement with an independent third party by

which the Company agreed to sell, and the buyer agreed

to buy 1% (representing 1 owned share) of equity interest in
Huge Leader for a cash consideration of HK$50,000. As the
consideration for disposal of equity interest in Huge Leader

falls below 70% of their respective fair value as at 31 March

2019, the chairman of the Group is required to pay a total
amount of shortfall of HK$264,000 (after taking into account
the considerations received) to the Company under the terms

of the Deed of Indemnity.
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Actual use the unutilised proceeds
during the year ended

31 March 2022
BE-_ZE-_—F=ZA=+—HLEE
RBARGRENERAR

HK$3.7 million — general working
capital

J7EEA L - —REEES

HK$31.0 million — repayment of the
borrowings and finance costs

3108 T - BEERMMBRA

HK$21.9 million — investments
2198 8% -&E&

R-ZZE-—FXA-+N\H "KQAHE
BYE=FFLUEEWH=H Bt - K
AAIREHE  MEARENREZ2RK
{&50,0007% 7t B8 B Huge Leader #91% A% 4
(BEMBRBBERD) - AR L EHuge
Lleader R BN REERREZZT—NF=
A=+T—B&%B82¥ENI% ' RER
EBZENER  AEBEXFEHERAART
T 48 R 58264,0008 T (KKt BB R
KE) o
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Important Events after the Year-end Date

The Company proposes to implement the Rights Issue on the
basis of one (1) Rights Share for every one (1) existing Share held
on the Record Date at the Subscription Price of HK$0.15 per Rights
Share, to raise gross proceeds of approximately HK$54.5 million
before deducting the costs and expenses (assuming no change
in the number of Shares in issue other than the full exercise of
outstanding Share Options on or before the Record Date), by way of
the Rights Issue of up to 363,582,506 Rights Shares to the Qualifying
Shareholders. The Rights Issue is not underwritten and will not be
extended to the Excluded Shareholder(s) (if any).

The estimated net proceeds of the Rights Issue, if fully subscribed,
will be up to approximately HK$53.2 million (assuming no change
in the number of Shares in issue other than the full exercise of
outstanding Share Options on or before the Record Date). The
Company intends to apply (i) 83.1% of the net proceeds from the
Rights Issue of approximately HK$44.2 million for repayment of the
Group's bonds principal amount and accrued interests; and (i) 16.9%
of the net proceeds of approximately HK$9.0 million for general
working capitals of the Group.

Details are set out in the Company’s announcement date 25 May
2023.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The Group's principal business activities are exposed to a
variety of key risks including credit risk, interest rate risk, liquidity
risk, operational risk and market risk. Details of the aforesaid
key risks and risk mitigation measures are set out in “Financial
Risk Management Objectives and Policies” in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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ARRRBRERER  RENCHAHER
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HE - FEAKRTARE RHEBRBK (D158
TUH)RAB B B 175 % 363,582,506 IR AL A 17 (1R

REREARITEBERBEZEITESIN R
B ZAERTHRNBELEZES) TAE

BRIER > NEEMERBALBNMSEEL
T (R AR RFZA) - HERTERHAT
SRKIRRERZ (WAF) -
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Environmental Policy and Performance

We are committed to protect the environment by introducing a
green policy to enhance the awareness of environmental protection
among staff. The Group has implemented internal recycling
programme for office consumables such as toner cartridges and
paper to help protect the environment and natural resources.

The Group has also implemented energy saving practices in offices
and branch premises where applicable, such as taking initiatives to
reduce paper usage by encouraging the use of websites and online
version of corporate communications. As regards reduction of
power consumption, lighting, air-conditioners and office equipment
will be turned off when not in use.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with
regulatory requirements. The Group has been allocating resources
to ensure the Group’s ongoing compliance with the updated
applicable rules and regulations. During the year under review, the
Group has, to the best of our knowledge, complied with the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”), the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Company Law of Bermuda, the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
other relevant rules and regulations.

Relationships with Key Stakeholders
The Group's success lies also on the support from key stakeholders,
including shareholders, employees, bankers, and service providers.

Shareholders

One of the corporate goals of the Group is to enhance corporate
value to our shareholders. Description of the shareholders’
rights and our investor relations can be found in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 59 to 75 of this Annual Report.

Employees

The Group treasures our employees as the most important assets
of the Group. The objective of the Group’s human resources
management is to reward and recognise our employees by
providing a competitive remuneration package, appropriate
incentives such as share options and bonus, and opportunities
within the Group for career advancement.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Bankers

The Group has maintained excellent relationship with our bankers
and has been soliciting funds from our bankers as and when
necessary.

Service Providers

The Group's good relationships with its key service providers are
important in our provision of effective and efficient services as well
as meeting business challenges and regulatory requirements. The
key service providers provide professional services to the Group
which are key to our success.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment during the
year are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the authorised and issued share capital of the Company
are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and the
Company during the year are set out in the consolidated statement
of changes in equity on pages 86 to 87 and in note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2023, in the opinion of the Directors, the Company
had approximately HK$222,129,000 reserves available for
distribution to shareholders (2022: HK$166,301,000).

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

As the Group is engaged in investment for short to long-term
capital appreciation purposes, and investment in listed and unlisted
securities, there are no major customers and suppliers during the
year.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 188. This
summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements.

China Investment Development Limited » ff B % & [ 2 B R A A)

RO (2

EREBAT
AEBEBMOERRITHEFRENOBERF
VERBERHRMOERRTERES -

R R A
AEHEETERBIEHRPDOHRSBEL R
PIRHRURY  EEHRXKBRETES
REMS+OEE - TERBREHBA/LE
BIRHEEXRBARMKIOEESE

M - BERRE
ERAME  BERRERAFREZE
BN AT mAME -

=3

% A<
ARABZEERBETRAFBINGEAHT
R R M E27 -

(Eh]

AEBRARARAFEZHBESFED
FBNFEEFTA AR EIHREES
B RS ERR M FE28 o

A 73 K fe 8

RZE-_=ZF=ZA=+—H  EFERAE " K
AR A 9k T RR R 2 A 49222,129,0007%8 JT
T T T4 1 166,301,0008 7T) °

IEEFRHER
MARASBEZEBARENESESNERSY
AAREE URREREMRILHES
FEERAFEYEEERS RHER -

MBHE
AEERBERAEMBREREZEEUREE
HEEHMEHNF18E - BB L FTEXRE
BEREAVBHREET & -

Annual Report 4F ¥ 2023 25



China Investment Development Limited ® /1 B &% & [ 2 B R A 7]

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERE

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive Director
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee
Mr. Chan Yiu Pun Clement

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Han Zhenhai (appointed as Chairman of the Board on
7 September 2022)

Ms. Li Jiangtao (resigned on 6 April 2022)

Mr. Deng Dongping

Mr. Liu Lihan

Mr. Zhu Zhikun

Mr. Gao Yun (resigned on 7 September 2022)

Mr. Zhang Junze (appointed on 27 July 2022 and resigned on
17 November 2022)

Mr. Lyn Ping (appointed on 7 November 2022)

Ms. Mo Xiuping (re-designated on 19 April 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. Mo Li

Mr. Kan Yat Kit (resigned on é April 2022)

Mr. Lok Chiu Chan (resigned on 22 July 2022)

Mr. Shi Zhu

Mr. Yuan Wei (resigned on 22 July 2022)

Ms. Chen Shunging
(appointed on 27 July 2022)

Ms. Mo Xiuping (appointed on 23 September 2022 and ceased on
19 April 2023)

Directors respectively subject to retirement or rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company in accordance
with Bye-law 120 and Bye-law 153 of the Company’s Bye-laws and
eligible for re-election thereat will be contained in a circular to be
separately issued to the shareholders of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 11 to 17 of the
annual report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND

DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions held by
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance, the "SFO") as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code") as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules were
as follows:

Long position in shares and underlying shares of the Company

China Investment Development Limited » ff B % & [ 2 B R A A)

EEREREERERE

ARABEERAEESRERBZBEEHR
RERSNEITE °

EERIETHRAEBRKRS - HBERAD
REERzER

R-ZZB_=F=ZA=+—H  E=2RALQA
TETRAERARAREBEEZE (EER
EH LRGN (TRFEAEHRGI]) FXVER)
B HEBRHAERETHERBELARN
ARRAREBERLS MM E GO FI2GBAFELZE
Rtz e MoRkAR - SRR £ R B 810
8 LM BETAEFETESFRINBREST
A (BREFAD ERTHAERRARER
BEXZHARRAR ([BMXM]) xR
KRBT

ARABRDRBBERN TR

Number of shares/underlying shares held

FiBS/REKEGHA

Number of shares Approximate
Number of  issuable on share percentage of
Name of Director Capacity in which interests are held shares held options held ~ Total interests shareholding
fisRREL HRERY
EEpfg BEEEZHH FERGHE TRTRHOHE B i1
(Note)
(i)
Han Zhenghai & I /& Beneficial owner EX#EE A 10,068,000 882,185 10,950,185 3.04%
Deng Dongping B & ¥ Beneficial owner Ez B A 1,000,000 882,185 1,882,185 0.52%
Liu Lihan 837 % Beneficial owner B A A 1,000,000 882,185 1,882,185 052%
Zhu Zhikun 3588 Beneficial owner Ex % B A 4,890,000 4,890,000 1.36%
LyuPing 8 F Beneficial owner B A 20,956,000 20,956,000 5.81%
Mo Li B Beneficial owner & 2 88,218 88,218 0.02%
ShiZhu & 1 Beneficial owner & 100,000 100,000 0.03%

Note: Bt -

The percentage of shareholding is calculated on the basis of the Company’s
issued capital of 360,394,859 shares at 31 March 2023.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, none of the Directors or chief
executive of the Company had any interests or short positions in shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the
register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

REBSLDERARAR-_B-_=ZF=A=+-B2Z
BB 1T IR A360,394,850B R A s B 5 H ©

BEXHEBEEIN  R-_TBE-_=F=HA=+—0H &=
HARAEBITHA S BEER AN A A s E /] 485 A
B(EERBFFRBEGEAEXVE) 2ikH - HER
NREEEFR  BECLABRBES KB EKH 5352
BKAGEZECDMBARBRBESETAUNEZITTAEARA A
RE R T2 e KB o
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had any interests or
short positions in shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be
kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2023, the following persons, other than a Director
or chief executive of the Company, were interested or had short
positions in more than 5% of the shares and underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO:

EERFETHRAERKRG - HEBER®E
REEEZES (&)

BREXEEEN  RZE_=Z=F=ZR=+-—
H X EFEHARAETBTBRAEMERAEAR
A EEMAE LR (E&RLEHLHEKRD
EXVER) 2By - HEROKERET - &
BEERARRARIEEF NG 5P 535214
AGFEZECMARBREETAESTTAE
ARABMBRA 2 EmORE -

FERR

RZZEZ_=F=ZA=Z=+—HB BREFHAR
AIFETBRABRI » BREBEZESFRPE G
FERIHRAFEZECMARLE - HFELARA
PR fn RABBAIRID5%IA FRRIOKRBE Z AL
T -

Approximate

Capacity in which Number of  percentage of

Name of shareholder interests are held shares held shareholding

16 R R4

RREE B8 BFERERZEH FrsRB 8B BOl

(Note 1)

(Bt 1)

Lanzhou Wile Home Furnishing Service Co. Limited Beneficial owner 36,000,000 9.99%
HMEEREREERAA ExnlBA

Tider Holdings Limited (Note 2) Beneficial owner 29,072,000 8.07%
REBERERAR (HH2) EmlEBA

Yeung Weixu Beneficial owner 26,611,000 7.38%
Y=Y ExBEAA

Tse Yun Lam Aries Beneficial owner 25,352,200 7.03%
EiE ERAA

Lyu Ping Beneficial owner 20,956,000 5.81%
ERE ExmlEBA

Notes: Bat -

(1) The percentage of shareholding is calculated on the basis of the
Company's issued capital of 360,394,859 shares at 31 March 2023.

(2)  Tider Holdings Limited is wholly owned by Mr. Li Qingkai.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, the Company was not notified of

any persons, other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company, having
any interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, the Company was
not notified of any persons, other than the Directors or chief
executive of the Company, having any interests or short positions in
the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

At the AGM held on 28 December 2018, the terms of a new
share option scheme (the “Scheme”) were adopted by providing
incentive to eligible participants to work better for the interests
of the Group, under which the Board may, at its discretion, offer
to grant an option to any full-time or part-time employee and
directors of the Company or any of its subsidiaries and service
providers of the Group (collectively the “Grantees”).

The purposes of the grant of the Options are to retain and motivate
the Grantees to stive for future development and expansion of
the Group, give incentive to encourage the Grantees to enjoy
the results of the Group attained through their efforts and
contributions.

The old share option scheme (the “Old Scheme”) adopted by
the Company by ordinary resolution of the shareholders of the
Company on 9 April 2009 was terminated and replaced by the
Scheme at the AGM held on 28 December 2018. Details of the
Old scheme are shown in note 29 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Scheme must not in aggregate exceed 10%
of the total number of shares in issue on the date of adoption of
the Scheme. The total number of shares which may fall to be issued
upon exercise of the share options granted under the Scheme to
each Grantee in any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall
not exceed 1% of the shares in issue as at the date of grant.

Any grant of options to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company or any of their respective associates
is required to be approved by the independent non-executive
Directors. If the Board proposed to grant options to a substantial
shareholder or any independent non-executive Director or their
respective associates which will result in the number of shares to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted and to be granted to
such person in the 12-month period up to and including the date
of such grant, representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in
issue on the date of grant and having an aggregate value in excess
of HK$5 million, based on the closing price of the shares at the date
of each grant, such further grant of options will be subjected to the
shareholders’ approval in general meeting.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 21
days from the offer date or within such other period of time as may
be determined by the Board. Upon acceptance of the options, the
Grantee shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company by way of consideration
for the grant.

The subscription price of a share in respect of any option granted
under the Scheme shall be priced as the Board in its absolute
discretion shall determine, but must be at least the higher of (i) the
closing price of the Company’s shares as quoted on the SEHK on
the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the Company's
shares as quoted on the SEHK for the five consecutive business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal
value of a share of the Company.

The period during which an option may be exercise will be
determined by the Board in its absolute discretion. An option may
be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Scheme at any
time after the date upon which the option is deemed to be granted
and accepted and prior to the expiry of 10 years from that date.
The shares to be allotted upon the exercise of an option will not
carry voting rights until the completion of the registration of the
Grantee.

When the Scheme was adopted on 28 December 2018, the Scheme
Mandate Limit approved by the Shareholders was 88,218,572
Shares (after taking effect of the share consolidation (involving
consolidation of ten of the then shares of nominal value of HK$0.001
into one Share of nominal value of HK$0.01) which has taken effect
on 21 March 2019). The Scheme Mandate Limit was refreshed by
an ordinary resolution passed at the annual general meeting held
on 16 September 2021. The refreshed Scheme Mandate Limit was
19,064,785 Shares (after taking effect of the share consolidation
(involving consolidation of ten of the then shares of nominal value
of HK$0.01 into Share of nominal value of HK$0.1) which has taken
effect on 15 February 2023).

The outstanding share options at the beginning of the financial
year ended 31 March 2023 was 127,663,917 as follows:

(i) For the share options granted on 2 August 2021 (“First
Granted Options”), the outstanding share options was
66,163,917 Shares; and

(i) For the share options granted on 7 January 2022 (“Second
Granted Options”), the outstanding share options was
61,500,000 Shares.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERE

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

For the First Granted Options, during the year ended 31 March
2023: (i) 35,287,421 share options were lapsed; (ii) no option
was exercised; and (iii) as at 31 March 2023: 3,087,647 share
options (after taking effect of the share consolidation (involving
consolidation of ten of the then shares of nominal value of HK$0.01
into Share of nominal value of HK$0.1) which has taken effect on 15
February 2023) remained outstanding.

On 14 April 2022, 161,950,000 share options (including subscription
and subscription monies for 117,950,000 share options received
during the year ended 31 March 2022) of the Second Granted
Options was exercised with the exercise price of HK$0.068. The
closing share price immediately before the date of exercise was
HK$0.083.

On 17 May 2022, 13,500,000 share options of the Second Granted
Options was exercised with the exercise price of HK$0.068. The
closing share price immediately before the date of exercise was
HK$0.088.

For the Second Granted Options, during the year ended 31 March
2023: (i) 3,000,000 share options were lapsed; (ii) 175,450,000
share options (including subscription and subscription monies for
117,950,000 share options received during the year ended 31 March
2022) were exercised; and (iii) as at 31 March 2023: 100,000 share
options (after taking effect of the share consolidation (involving
consolidation of ten of the then shares of nominal value of HK$0.01
into Share of nominal value of HK$0.1) which has taken effect on 15
February 2023) remained outstanding.

In total, during the year ended 31 March 2023: (i) 38,287,421 share
options were lapsed; (ii) 175,450,000 share options (including
subscription and subscription monies for 117,950,000 share options
received during the year ended 31 March 2022) were exercised; and
(iii) as at 31 March 2023: 3,187,647 share options (after taking effect
of the share consolidation (involving consolidation of ten of the
then shares of nominal value of HK$0.01 into Share of nominal value
of HK$0.1) which has taken effect on 15 February 2023) remained
outstanding. Details of the Scheme and share options movements
are set out in note 29 to the financial statements.

As at the date of this report, a total number of 401,785 Shares
(representing approximately 0.11% of the issued share capital of
the Company as at the date of this report) were available for issue
under the share option scheme.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Apart from as disclosed under the heading “Directors’ and chief
executive's interests in shares, underlying shares and debentures”
above, at no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
or of any other body corporate granted to any Directors or their
respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were any
such rights exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors,
their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age to acquire
such rights in the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE AND CONNECTED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

No Director had a significant beneficial interest, either directly
or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance to the business of the Group to which the Company
was a party during or at the end of the year.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS
As at the date of this report, none of the Directors and their
respective associates had any interest in a business which causes or
may cause a significant competition with the business of the Group
and any other conflict of interests which any such person has or
may have with the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
was entered into or existed during the year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EERE

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws and subject to the provisions
of the statutes, every Director or other officer of the Company shall
be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities which he may sustain or incur in
or about the execution of the duties of his office or otherwise in
relation thereto, and no Director or other officer shall be liable
for any loss, damages or misfortune which may happen to or be
incurred by the Company in the execution of the duties of his office
or in relation thereto, provided that the Bye-law shall only have
effect in so far as its provisions are not avoided by the Bermuda
Companies Act. The Company has maintained Directors and
officers liability insurance during the year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Other than the share option scheme of the Company as disclosed
above, no equity-linked agreements that will or may result in the
Company issuing shares or that require the Company to enter into
any agreements that will or may result in the Company issuing
shares were entered into by the Company during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF

THE COMPANY'’S LISTED SHARES

During the year, the Company had not purchased, sold or
redeemed any of its securities.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES

There was no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries during
the year ended 31 March 2023.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had 14 (2022: 10) full time
employees (exclusive of directors). The Group's total staff costs
(including directors’ remuneration) amounted to approximately
HK$6,048,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022:
HK$17,058,000). The employees were remunerated based on their
responsibilities and performance.

The Company has adopted the model set out in Code Provision
E.1.2(c)(ii) of Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules as its remuneration
model for determining the emoluments of the Directors. This
model stipulates that the Remuneration Committee shall make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive directors and senior management. The
Remuneration Committee would take into consideration, among
other things, the duties and responsibilities of the Directors and
senior management and prevailing market conditions when
determining their remuneration.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme to provide
incentives to eligible persons, including Directors, employees,
consultants, suppliers and customers of the Group.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-laws
of the Company or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to the existing
shareholders.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float as required under the Listing
Rules during the year and up to the date of this report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has set up an Audit Committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the Listing Rules. Amongst other
duties, the principal duties of the Audit Committee are to review
and supervise the financial reporting process and internal control
of the Group. The Audit Committee comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Ms. Chen Shunging, Ms. Mo
Li, and Mr. Shi Zhu, and Ms. Chen Shunging is the Committee
Chairlady. The audited financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2023 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEWRSE

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
year ended 31 March 2023 have been audited by Fan, Chan &
Co. Limited ("FCCL"), whose term of office will expire upon the
conclusion of the AGM. A resolution to re-appoint FCCL as auditor
of the Company will be proposed to the shareholders of the
Company for approval at the AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Han Zhenghai
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2023
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RiIE #HERERRE

ABOUT THIS REPORT

China Investment Development Limited (the "Company”) is
pleased to present its report on the Environmental, Social, and
Governance (the "ESG") aspects (the “"ESG Report”) to provide
an overview of the Group's management on significant issues
affecting the operation and the performance of the Group in terms

of environmental and social aspects.

Being a listed company, apart from strictly complying with the
Code of Corporate Governance practices as set out in the Rules
(the "Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), the
Board also strives to be a responsible corporation by placing great
emphasis on the environmental protection, people oriented and
community care and to maintain a high ethical standard. The Board
believes that these sustainability objectives can align with the
company's business strategies to contribute most favourable return
for stakeholders.

PREPARATION BASIS, SCOPE AND REPORTING

PRINCIPLES

This Report is prepared to be in compliance with Appendix 27 to the
Listing Rules —" Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide” { ESG Reporting Guide”), including the overall approach,
reporting principles, the mandatory disclosure requirements, and
the” comply or explain” provisions as specified in the ESG Reporting
Guide.

The Company is an investment company and is principally engaged
in investments in a diversified portfolio of listed and unlisted
companies. As an investment company, the Company does not
directly participate in the production and operation of these
listed and unlisted companies. Hence the scope of this Report is
limited to the office space in Hong Kong. The ESG Report covers
the Group's overall performance, commitment and approaches in
workplace quality, environmental protection, operating practices
and community involvement in relation to the abovementioned
operations during the year ended 31 March 2023. All information
and data disclosed herein were based on formal documents and
internal statistics of the Group.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BRI 8K

PREPARATION BASIS,

PRINCIPLES (continued)

ERAWE

SCOPE AND REPORTING WEEXE  FENKBREERER (2

The reporting principles used throughout this Report is explained A& FAIHRANFRERABRED T -

as follows:

Reporting Principles
& R A

How it is applied to this report
AT R RARE B

Materiality

BE2NH

Quantitative

g1t

Balance

&

Consistency

— B

The ESG Report includes ESG issues that are determined by the Board of Directors,
with the assistance of the management and ESG working group that are above the
threshold at which they are sufficiently important to investors and other stakeholders
to be reported. These material ESG issues were identified through consideration and
discussion by the Board of Directors and the ESG working group, and also through the
discussions in the normal course of engagement with the different stakeholders. Further
detail of the identification process and the selection criteria are set out in the “Stakeholder
Engagement” section.
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The KPIs in respect of historical data described in the ESG Report are measured by
the Company. Targets set are either in terms of actual numerical figures, or directional
statements or forward-looking statements to reduce a particular impact related to each
of the KPIs. The effectiveness of ESG policies and management systems can hence be
evaluated and validated. Each quantitative information is accompanied by a narrative,
explaining its purpose, impacts, and comparative data are given where appropriate.
Information on the standards, methodologies, assumptions and/or calculation used, and
source of key emission and conversion factors used for both quantitative environmental
and social KPIs are disclosed in the ESG Report where appropriate. Refer to the
explanations accompanied the relevant KPlIs for further detail.
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The ESG report provides an unbiased picture of the Company’s performance during the
Reporting Period by disclosing information in an objective manner, avoiding contents that
may inappropriately influence the judgment made by report readers, i.e. bias selections,
omissions, or present in a format that deliberately misrepresentation reality.
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Methodologies used is consistent so as to allow for meaningful comparison of ESG data
over time. Any changes that could affect a meaningful comparison of the KPIs have been
disclosed accordingly.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RiIE #HERERRE

ESG GOVERNANCE

While actively seeking to optimise its investment portfolio and
maximise shareholder return, the Company lives up to its corporate
social responsibility by striking a balance between the interests of
stakeholders such as the shareholders and the community, with the
ultimate goal of achieving to be a sustainable corporation and a
giant step towards responsible investing.

ESG oversight

The Board aims to provide stakeholders with an understanding
of the overall ESG governance structure of the Company. The
Board acknowledges its role of oversight of ESG issues through
the consideration and discussion of ESG issues in board meetings.
In this section the Board will further explain its ESG management
approach and strategy, including the process used to evaluate,
prioritise, and manage material ESG-related issues (including risks
to the issuer’s businesses), and how it reviews progress made
against ESG-related goals and targets with an explanation of how
they related to the Company'’s business.

ESG management approach and strategy

To ensure cohesion with existing business strategies and processes,
the Board aligns its ESG management approach and strategy with
our existing governance (i.e. risk management and internal controls
system) framework. The ESG-related risks are therefore evaluated,
prioritise, and managed as part of the existing processes of this
governance framework, so that ESG-related risks are managed just
as effective as those which are not ESG-related.

Through an integrated, dual top-down and bottom-up approach,
risks identified at each level of defence are discussed, evaluated
and prioritise at that level as well as between the other levels.
Material risks are then communicated and considered by the Board
and the senior management regularly at board and committee
meetings.
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ESG GOVERNANCE (continued)

ESG management approach and strategy (continued)

Each of these material risks are entered into a risk register where
an appropriate level of risk appetite is set with the appropriate
risk response. Risk register and their relevant risk appetite and
risk responses are approved by the Board. These risks in the risk
register are regularly monitored to consider the change of any risk
and the necessity of change in risk response.

Hence, in formulating our sustainability we take not only the
principle of sustainability seriously, we also take into careful
consideration various risk including legal compliance, operational,
finance and also the opinions from stakeholders. We have
established and implemented various policies to manage and
monitor the risks related to the environment, employment,
operating practices and community. Details of the management
approaches to sustainable development of different areas are
illustrated in this Report.

Stakeholder Engagement

We recognise the ESG Report as an important measure to
showcase our efforts in sustainable development. In realising
sustainable development, we are devoted to strike a balance of
the interests among various stakeholders, such as investors and
shareholders, customers, employees, work partners as well as the
community. The Company is searching for every opportunity to
understand and engage our stakeholder to ensure improvement
can be implemented to our investments. We strongly believe our
stakeholders play a crucial role in sustaining the success of our
business.
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ESG GOVERNANCE (continued)

Stakeholder Engagement (continued)
The existing communication mechanism with stakeholders of the

Group is set forth as below:

Stakeholders
Flz=rEEE

Expectations and concerns

HERBIER

BRE  HERERKEE @)
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e Compliance with the Listing Rules,
publishing of announcements in a
timely and accurate manner

o EST LT AL K K B 2 HE I B A
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e Compliance with laws and regulations
e Business Sustainability

o BYARKZER
o XKAREN

e Return on investments
e Corporate governance
e Business compliance

o KREMFK

e EER

e XBAM

* Employees’ compensation and benefits

® Training and development

® Protection for the labour force and
safety in the working

o EEmM KER

o IFFIHEER

s BHARINERERE

* Involvement in communities

e Business compliance

e Environmental protection awareness
o ZHEMEBER

e XBAM

o RIFFREEH

* Meetings, trainings, seminars,
programmes, website update and

announcements
o B - I - HFE - RIE

BFHELE

e Supervision on the compliance with local

laws and regulations
e Routine reports
s HEEBYHEMZARZMERNETRER
o PIfTHE

e Regular reports and announcements
® Regular general meetings

e Company's official website

s EMHBERASE

s EHMBEKXE®

e RAIEM

e Performance reviews
® Regular meetings and trainings
e Organization of team activities

. RBNE
. EHEHEREY

o BB

* Volunteer activities
® Public welfare and community activities
e Company'’s official website
e BEIEY

o RNERA KIEIED

e RAIEM
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RiIE #HERERRE

ESG GOVERNANCE (continued)

Stakeholders’ Feedback

We welcome stakeholders’ feedback on our environmental, social
and governance approach and performance. Please share your
views with us via:

Address: Room 6303-04, 63/F,
Central Plaza, 18 Harbour Road,
Wan Chai, Hong Kong
Phone: (852) 3102 1690
Email: info@chinainvestment.com.hk
Website:  www.chinainvestment.com.hk

No formal stakeholder engagement exercise was conducted,
material ESG factors were selected based on input from ESG
working group, the management and stakeholders from existing
stakeholder engagement processes as outline above, which we
have identified to be (in the order of importance): supply chain
management, safety and quality assurance of food production,
health & safety of employees and customers, and also environment
ESG topics such as GHG emissions, waste management, energy
and water consumption.

ESG-related goals and targets progress review

Material ESG-related issues are issues that are critical to both
short-term and long-term success of the Company’s business. It is
those parts of the Company's business where these issues lie, the
ESG impact of these issues is highly relevant. The KPIs of material
ESG-related issues are regularly reviewed against goals and targets
set-up by the Management and the Board, with the assistance of
ESG working group, throughout the process of the preparing of
ESG reporting to determine progress made and made adjustment
and revisions to the original goals and targets where appropriate.

A. ENVIRONMENT

A.1. Emission and Resources Consumption

The Company is committed to reduce carbon footprints
by pursuing energy saving and other environment
protection measures in our business operation. As
the Company is engaged in investment business, only
generate indirect greenhouse gas (“GHG") emission
l[imiting to electricity and paper consumptions in
our office setting and employee business travel.
Non-hazardous wastes (commercial wastes and the
disposal of computer devices and office equipment)
produced by the Company are also at a minimum.
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During the year ended 31 March 2023, our Group had
accounted for a total of 10,497.27 kg (2022: 1,696.00
kg) carbon dioxide equivalent emissions, produced
indirectly from our electric energy consumption in the
business office.

Our Group does not own any motor vehicle, hence
produced no direct greenhouse gases during the year.

Due to the nature of the business, our Group's business
activities do not generate any hazardous waste or any
significant non-hazardous waste, and do not have any
direct and significant impacts on the environment and
natural resources in the course of its operation.

L The amount of carbon emissions per unit is 0.71 kg CO,-e
for the year 2021 as disclosed by HK Electric Investments
Limited.

Annual Report 4F ¥ 2023

ENVIRONMENT (continued) A RE (#)
A.1. Emission and Resources Consumption (continued) Al BERRYIRERERE ()
Since the year of 2022 the Company has changed to B-ZZE-_F®  AARHNAH=E
a shared office arrangement where the fees for water WRAERY: - KEBEEHZHAQ
usage are included in the shared office arrangement, ERHF  AUHEZESHEBEH
and hence relevant data cannot be obtained. The details B ARBERBEHAN -S|/ iBE
of carbon dioxide equivalent emission and resources WMEERBRBEZFBOT
consumption of the Group during the reporting period
was as follows:
Printing paper T ED 4K
Unit 2023 2022
B =—F== —ZET_
Consumption quantity HEE kg T2 40.00 62.50
Electricity BEh
Unit 2023 2022
B —¥=-= —E-=
Consumption quantity HEE kWh F F 8 14,784.89 2,389.00
Greenhouse Gas Emissions R EREHM (FE2)" Kg CO,e
(Scope 2)! Fm =& bk
HMEE 10,497.27 1,696.00
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A.

ENVIRONMENT (continued)
A.2. Use of Resources

The Company commits to protect the environment by
mainly focusing on the reduction in electricity, paper
and water consumption. To achieve this, the Company
continually applies efficient consumption strategy
to improve resources saving and reduce resources
consumption.

Resource Efficiency Management

The Company adopted a number of energy-saving and
resources usage initiatives to reduce greenhouse gas
emission and conserve resources usage.

Electricity

The Company uses LED lighting system, which saves
up to 80% energy and has a long life of more than 10
times comparing with traditional lighting. In addition,
there are no ultraviolet and infrared rays in the LED
light spectrum, and the waste can be recycled. It does
not contain mercury vapour as in traditional fluorescent
lamps. There is no gas pollution and it is a typical green
lighting.

o Set the central air-conditioning system at room
temperature of 25.5°C;

. Set the computers and printers in energy saving
mode when not in use;

o Switch off lights in meeting rooms when not in
use;

° Switch off printers when all staff have left office;

o Turn off computers and monitors overnight except
it is required for working purpose such as system
updates;

o Remove all the electronic chargers from the

sockets when not in use; and

. Join the WWF Earth Hour 2023 event.
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ENVIRONMENT (continued)

A.2.

A3.

A4.

Use of Resources (continued)

Paper
. Print in duplex;
o Use recycled paper for printing;

° Print in black and white; and
. E-storage of documents.

Water
Water consumption of the Company is minimal.
Employees are encouraged not to waste water.

The Environment and Natural Resources

Due to the nature of the business, in addition to the
above-mentioned emissions and resource usage, the
Company does not have any direct and significant
impacts on the environment and natural resources in
the course of its operation.

Staff members believe it is important to minimise the
impact on the environment and natural resources due to
by their operations. In fact, as the Company’s operations
do not directly involve the use of natural resources there
is comparatively little impact on the environment and
natural resources.

Climate Change

The Company acknowledges that climate change
poses different kinds of risks as well as opportunities
to the Group's operations. According to the
recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-Related
Financial Disclosures (TCFD), climate risks are classified
into transitional risks (the adaptation challenges
that companies may face in terms of policies, laws,
technologies and markets) and physical risks (the impact
that extreme weather events may have on companies).
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RIE HERE

BERE

A. ENVIRONMENT (continued)
A.4. Climate Change (continued)

For physical risks, examples include bad weather such
as extreme cold or heat, heavy rain, storm, typhoon,
and other extreme weather events that can disrupt
operations by damaging the power grid, communication
infrastructures, obstructing and injuring our staff on the
way or during their work, and also disastrous events
incidental to these weather such as the fire hazard from
overheated equipment in severe heat waves caused by
global warming. All these events may bring a severe
impact on the company’s operations.

For transformation risks, which means the risks faced
by the Group include the introduction of policies
related to energy conservation and emission reduction,
stricter emission reporting obligations and compliance
requirements, etc.

In response, the Group will identify these risks and
prioritise those which have a severe impact to take
precautionary measures first. The Group will also
identify, if any, opportunities where changing of the
business processes may be possible, for instance, staff
switch to using online video conference methods to
communicate in order that these severe impacts to
operations may be mitigated or avoided.

B. SOCIAL

B1.

Employment

Employees are regarded as the greatest and valuable
assets and core competitive advantage of the Company
and also provide driving force for the continuous
innovation of the Company.

The Company has set up a comprehensive human
resources management system, which was prepared in
compliance with or with reference to the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance, the PRC Labour Law ( {/ #&
ARFEFE S E) %)) |, the PRC Labour Contract Law
((PEARLMBELEERIE)) and other existing

laws and regulations.
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SOCIAL (continued)

B1.

Employment (continued)

The Company has implemented a set of human
resources policy, which clearly states the recruitment
and promotion, staff benefits and welfare,
compensation and dismissal, training and development,
codes of ethics, safety and health, working hours and
rest periods, equal employment opportunities without
any discrimination against gender, marital status, age,
race, nationality and religion etc.

Furthermore, for all our employees, we provide fair
and adequate opportunities in terms of job promotion
and salary increment in recognising and rewarding our
employees; whilst we encourage career development
within our organisation by offering on-job training.

Provision of mandatory provident fund, pension,
medical and unemployment insurance, and a range of
other welfare benefits is guaranteed in compliance with
relevant Employment laws.

As at 31 March 2023, the proportion of male and female
employees were 9:5 (2022: 6:4). The proportion of age
group of below 30, 30 to 50 and over 50 were 2:9:3 (2022:
1:8:1) respectively.

Among all employees, 7% (2022: 60%) were from Hong
Kong and 93% (2022: 40%) from China. The employee
composition (in number of employees, excluding
directors) by gender, employee category, age group
and geographical region were as follows:

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had a total number of
14 (2022: 10) employees. During the year, 5 (2022: 6)
employees left the company, of which 2 (2022: 1) was
employed in the China Mainland. The resulting turnover
rate by gender and age group were both 26% (2022:
33%).
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SOCIAL (continued)

B2.

B3.

Health and Safety

The Company is committed to providing and
maintaining a safe and healthy workplace for all
employees. Every employee has enough working space
in office and small fitness equipment is offered in office
to support health. The Company provides its staff with
mandatory provident fund (MPF) and, medical insurance
(including in-patient and out-patient). In the Year, no
work related injuries or fatalities were recorded.

The Company has developed a set of work safety
codes covering areas of environmental hygiene and
cleanliness, machine operation, smoking ban and fire
prevention, hazardous materials handling, arrangements
in times of typhoons and rainstorms, as well as response
to emergencies, etc. It also requires strict compliance
with these work safety codes by its employees.. During
the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company recorded
nil number of work-related fatalities (2022: nil, 2021: nil)
and no lost days due to work injury (2022: nil, 2021: nil).

Development and training

The Company supports its staff to develop and enhance
their professional knowledge and skills to cope with
the evolving market environment and compliance
level. On top of on-job training, the staff members are
encouraged to take external professional training to
strengthen their work-related expertise.

The Company has always encouraged staff members to
attend courses or seminars organized by professional
bodies and regularly update their knowledge on
investments, accounting standards, Listing Rules,
the Securities and Futures Ordinance and the
Companies Ordinances, and also those training
related to anti-corruption. The Company also offers
education allowance as incentive for employees to take
professional examinations.

We adopt a five-day work per week and encourage
our employees to have a good balance among health
work and social or family activities. Also we encourage
communication between employees and their
supervisors or the management of the Company. Based
on their requests and job performances, we provide
flexible career options to them to foster a better
personal development.
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SOCIAL (continued)

B3.

B4.

Development and training (continued)
As at 31 March 2023, the average training hours for all
employees was 20 hours (2022: 20).

Labour Standards

The Company is in compliance with Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance, Regulations on Labour Security
Supervision and other applicable laws as the Group
sets a high standard in protecting employees. Relevant
guidelines are set out in employment contracts, internal
notices and other forms of documents.

The Company strictly prohibits any child labour or
forced labour, or any unfair treatment to our employees
and does not employ staff who are below 18 years
of age. The Company provides such rights and
benefits to its employees which are no less than those
required statutorily. No employee is paid less than
the minimum wage specified by the Minimum Wage
Ordinance (Chapter 608 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The
Company's contributions to the defined contribution
retirement scheme we operate under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme are made by each monthly
contribution day.

We closely monitor our workplace conditions and
employees’ behaviour. In any case of misconduct, we
will launch detailed investigations over the matters and
improve our preventive measures.
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B.

SOCIAL (continued)

B7.

Anti-Corruption

The Company is committed to adhering to the highest
ethical standards and maintaining a culture of integrity
and justice for preventing, detecting and reporting all
types of fraud, including corruption.

The Company seeks to encourage strict policies that
prohibit bribery and other improper payments to
public officials consistent with the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Chapter 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
similar laws in other countries in which the Company
invests.

All staff members are to comply with provisions laid
down in the Staff Handbook, “Anti-bribery, Bribe
taking, Bribe-providing, and Conlflict of Interest”. The
Staff Handbook stipulates that if an employee breaks
the Company’s policy or any Hong Kong laws and
regulations, the Company has the right to terminate
the employment contract. In addition to an open-door
policy towards employees’ grievances, as staff members
are also important stakeholders, as mentioned in the
stakeholders’ feedback section they are regularly
engaged by the Company in meetings and team
activities, etc., to provide them with guidance and
feedback to their work, and these also provide them
with ample opportunity to voice their complaints and
whistle-blow in a constructive manner.

Among the legal cases brought against the issuer or its
employees, there was no legal case regarding corrupt
practices during the reporting period during the Year.

The Risk Management Committee was set up to
regularly evaluate and determine the nature and extent
of risks to the Company. Interest of shareholders and
stakeholders can hence be further protected.

Since the Board has recognized the importance of
corporate governance practice, it strictly complies
with the Code of Corporate Governance practices
as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. Hence
anti-corruption policy is adopted and all directors and
employees are required to sign the Code of Conduct
of the Company. Furthermore, the Company regularly
updates and informs employees which securities are
forbidden to purchase due to conflict of interests.
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SOCIAL (continued)

B8. Community Investment
As a socially responsible company, the Group is
committed to understanding the needs of the
communities in which we operate. We encourage
our employees to pursue their personal passions
and dedicate their time and skills to supporting
local communities. We strive to develop long-term
relationships with our stakeholders and bring a positive
impact on community development.

SOUND GOVERNANCE

To satisfy the expectation of shareholders, regulators and
others, the Company clearly promotes sound governance,
emphasizes on strong leadership and well management
that properly incentive appropriate behaviours. The senior
management of the Company is responsible for developing
company’s strategic direction and overseeing execution,
while the Board of Directors are in-charge of oversight of
management's performance.

The annual report contains detailed information about the
members of the Board, including the Director biographical
information and the Board’s role in risk management
oversight.

Independence of Board of Directors

Board independence is essential to effective governance. An
independent Board serves the interests of shareholders by
effectively carrying out its fundamental obligation of oversight
of management. Four of the Company’s eleven Board
members and each of the members of Audit Committee are
independent directors, and the majority of the Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee are independent
director, under the standards established by the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange and the Company'’s independence standards.

For more information, please refer to the part of corporate

governance in the annual report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE B - 4 gRERRERS
REPORTING INDEX
Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key Performance Section Pages
Indicators (KPls)
TRHER  BH - —REEKRBREERER =4} BER
A. Environmental
AR5
A1: Emissions
Al B
General Disclosure Emission and Resources 41
Consumption
— R E BER ) B B TROE #E
KPIA1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions 42
data
B AR RAL P tE 2R N AR B B I BUR
KPI A1.2 Direct and energy indirect greenhouse gas Emission and Resources 42
emissions and, where appropriate, intensity. Consumption
BRERIERAL2 EERERFAERERABAENER (WER) R RERERE
BE -
KPI' A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and, where Not applicable to the N/A
appropriate, intensity. Group's business.
R EMIERALS MELEZEEEDHEEN (WER) BE - TERRAEBER - THEA
KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and, where ~ Not applicable to the N/A
appropriate, intensity. Group's business.
A 4 AR IR A4 MELABEZEEDREEN (WER) BE - TERARAEEERK - TEH
KPI A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps ESG-related goals and 41,43
taken to achieve them. target progress review,
Use of Resources
B ERIERALS RAMATYOSERERERREINELEEN RE  HEREREH
RENEY T B - BEREREERS -
BIRE
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous ~ ESG-related goals and 41,43

BB AE IR IRALG

wastes are handled, and a description of reduction
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
MR EREREZTEEZYMNTG L - Il
RIVHRERE RN REIELBERMRMH L
B e

target progress review,
Use of Resources

RIE - L RERIERA
BEREREERS -
BIREM
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE

BERE

REPORTING INDEX (continued)

BRE -

HERERRERS (@)

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key Performance Section Pages
Indicators (KPls)
TERHE  BH - —REERBREERER 4] EED/N
A2: Use of Resources
A2 BRER
General Disclosure Use of Resources 43
— AR I 5E BRER
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by Emission and Resources 42
type in total and intensity. Consumption, Use of
Resources
B A R A2 REAEASNEER SHEEREEERT FHRURERER &
B o R AE A
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity. Not feasible for the N/A
Group to obtain water
consumption data.
B EIEIRA22 BREKEREE - ERMFEKEBHENAE TEAR
Bims AT e
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set ESG-related goals and 41,43
and steps taken to achieve them. target progress review,
Use of Resources
B A IERA2S AT NEREARZERLIREINEE BRE - HEREREH
EREITEZ: N BREEEREEES
BIRER
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in No issue on sourcing water N/A
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water fir for purpose, since
efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve water consumption is
them. not material for the
Group's business.
B A IR IRA24 G SREGEA KR R BERBE - UKEHA  REGEBKRELER TEB
VAR RERAEINELBEEMER & REALAKEAN
B - SEXBMELTE
K oo
KPI A2.5 Total packaging materials used for finished Not applicable to the N/A
products and, if applicable, with reference to per Group's business.
unit produced.
A 48 AR 1R A2.5 UXmAAEEMHNEER (WER) 88 TERRAKEEL - 1TEA
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE BE - HERERBERS @)
REPORTING INDEX (continued)

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key Performance Section Pages
Indicators (KPls)

TEHE  EEH —-REERBRENEER E=4: 0] BR

A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

A3 BRERRXRER

General Disclosure The Environment and 44
Natural Resources
— MR RRERERAER
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities ~ No significant impact N/A
on the environment and natural resources and the of activities on the
actions taken to manage them. environment and natural
resources was noted.
B 52 45 IR 1R A3 HMERETHERERRAERNEATER IBEREBIHYHE ITEH
ERDMEEBHAZENITE ° RERAEREEE

=87
A E -

A4: Climate Change

Ad: RIRE1t

General Disclosure Climate Change 44-45
—REE RIxE(E

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related Climate Change 44-45

issues which have impacted, and those which
may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to
manage them.
78 48 IR 1R A4 RECERAREEHBRTAEERENERR RIRE(L
KEBEE @ REHTH -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE R - 4 ERERRERS (@)
REPORTING INDEX (continued)
Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key Performance Section Pages
Indicators (KPls)
TEHE  EEH —-REERBRENEER E=4: 0] =P/
B. Social
B.#&
Employment and Labour Practices
BREREIER
B1: Employment
B1: &R
General Disclosure Employment 45
—RIKE B
KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age  Employment 46
group and geographical region.
7 2 48 A5 1R B 1. RER - EREL  FRANERWES SN ER
EEHRE -
KPIB1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and Employment 46
geographical region.
B4R B B 1R B1.2 BT - FiRAMNKMWEESNEEREAL (ERE
& o
B2: Health and safety
B2 REHEZE
General Disclosure Health and Safety 47
—REE BEEZE
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities Health and Safety 47
occurred in each of the past three years including
the reporting year.
78 47 48 B 1R B2, BE=F (BHEERFE) BFAITHNHA REEZSD
HRHE -
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety 47
A4 48 B 12 B2.2 HIGHEARTHEBE - fREEL S
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety Health and Safety 47
measures adopted, how they are implemented
and monitored.
A 4 45 A5 13 B2.3 BT ERAWBRRERLZ2ER - UWRiE REEZRE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE BE - HERERBERS @)
REPORTING INDEX (continued)

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key Performance Section Pages
Indicators (KPls)

TEHE  EEH —-REERBRENEER E=4: 0] BR

B3: Development and Training

B3 : R R

General Disclosure Development and Training 48
— AR I 5E TR ME
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender ~ Data on employee N/A
and employee category. demographics was not
available
7 42 48 A HE 12 B3 BERREERMNEDHXIEER DL - BEESEEAOSG TEA
2 7&
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per Development and Training 48
employee by gender and employee category.
32 45 M5 15 B3.2 BERKREERMNE D  BREETAXI  BHREKEI
B IR B o

B4: Labour Standards
B4 : T %A

General Disclosure Labour Standards 48

— MR EE 25 T A A

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment Labour Standards 48
practices to avoid child and forced labour.

A 52 45 IR 1R B4 i BMEEMNERABREE T REHIE & ITER
T o

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such Labour Standards 48
practices when discovered.

B4R 4B B 1R BA.2 MO EZRRERBARERBEBBERAMKRN &I ER
B
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE RBE - 4 gRERBERS @)
REPORTING INDEX (continued)
Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key Performance Section Pages
Indicators (KPls)
TEEHRE  EH —REERBEREREER =4} EED/N
Operating Practices
EEEN
B5: Supply Chain Management
B5 : HESEERE
General Disclosure Not identified as material ~ N/A
aspect.
—RKE THREBERERNZEE - TEA
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Not identified as material ~ N/A
aspect.
78§ 45 UK 1R B5.1 mriWES ONHEFREAE - TEEER/REAZE - TER
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging Not identified as material ~ N/A
suppliers, number of suppliers where the aspect.
practices are being implemented, how they are
implemented and monitored.
A 52 45 MK 1EB5.2 HMAOAFERERHERNED  MERTEHE ITHETE/EAZE - TER
BOINHEREE - URBEBAEBANRITR
ERTE o
Bé6: Product Responsibility
B6 : EmEE
General Disclosure Not identified as material ~ N/A
aspect.
— R E THREZERERNEE - TEA
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped Not identified as material ~ N/A
subject to recalls for safety and health reasons. aspect.
B 47 48 A HE 1R B6.T EEXRCEZXERAHPRLRHERIPAMN THEERERHEE - TERS
ARKBED L -
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related Not identified as material ~ N/A
complaints received and how they are dealt with. aspect.
B 42 4B A5 1R B6.2 EEMNEREBRBORFREUREETE - TREEREAZE - THEHA
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE R - 4 ERERRERS (@)
REPORTING INDEX (continued)
Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key Performance Section Pages
Indicators (KPls)
TEEHRE  EH —REERBEREREER =4} EED/N
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and  Not identified as material ~ N/A
protecting intellectual property rights. aspect.
B4 48 A5 12 B6.3 R g RERRENBEREBNED - THREERERZE - THEHA
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall Not identified as material ~ N/A
procedures. aspect.
B B 515 B6.4 ML EEMTEEREMBKIEF TREEREAZE - THEA
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and Not identified as material ~ N/A
privacy policies, how they are implemented and aspect.
monitored.
7 i 48 AHE 1R B6.5 WEBEEEHNRERLEBERE - UREHE THREZREXEZE - THEA

WITRERTE -

B7: Anti-corruption

B7 : RES

General Disclosure Anti-corruption 49
—RIE RES

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding Anti-corruption 49

corrupt practices brought against the Company or
its employees during the reporting period and the
outcome of the case.
A 52 45 IE 1R BT REEHAUARRSAERBERBI I EEEN RES
BEHRAERTNHHE RFDER -

KPIB7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle- Anti-corruption 49
blowing procedures, how they are implemented
and monitored.

A 32 45 W 5 1587 .2 BRI BRREF - URBEBRTR RES

ERTE -

KPI7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to  Development 49
directors and staff. and Training;
Anti-corruption
A4 4 AR RT3 LR EERE I RENRETHEI - HR MG RES
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE RBE - 4 gRERBERS @)
REPORTING INDEX (continued)
Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key Performance Section Pages
Indicators (KPls)
TEEHRE  EH —REERBEREREER =4} EED/N
Community
#HE
B8: Community Investment
B8 : HERE
General Disclosure Community Investment 50
—MRIREE HRIRE
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, Community Investment 50
environmental concerns, labour needs, health,
culture, sport)
7 47 48 45 12 B8 EIEREE (WHE  REFH HIF HRRE
koo RBE - XE - BEF)
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the  Community Investment 50
focus area.
B 4 4B A5 12 B8.2 EEIHBABAER (M EHEFHE) - HRIRE
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The Board recognises the importance of corporate governance
practice of a listed company and is committed to adopting the
standards of corporate governance. The board is responsible for
performing the corporate governance duties. It is in the interest
of the shareholders and stakeholders for a listed company to
operate in a transparent manner with the adoptions of various self-
regulatory policies, procedures and monitoring mechanisms with
a clear definition of accountability of directors and management.
The Company and the Directors confirm, to the best of their
knowledge, that the Company has complied with the Corporate
Governance Code (the "CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 March 2023, except for
the following deviations:

()  The code provision C.1.6 of the CG Code requires that
the independent non-executive directors and other non-
executive directors, as equal board members, should attend
general meetings and develop a balanced understanding
of the views of shareholders. Some directors were unable to
attend the annual general meeting of the Company held on 7
September 2022 due to other important engagement.

(i)  The code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code requires that the
roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. The division
of responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive
should be clearly established and set out in writing.

Since Ms. Lin Yudan resigned as the Chief Executive
Officer of the Company on 12 July 2021, nobody has been
appointed. The executive Board which includes all executive
directors, investment manager and senior management
have been delegated with the authority and responsibility by
the Board for the day-to-day operations of the Group while
reserving certain key matters for the approval by the Board.
After evaluation of the current situation of the Company
and considering of the board composition, the Board is of
the opinion that it is appropriate and in the best interests
of the Company at the present stage for such arrangement
as it helps to maintain the continuity of the policies and the
stability of the operations of the Company.

EZ@RPLTRARACEERERZIERN -
T—ERNREMEEXEREE - EFTEAR
BITIEXRERBE - LWARZEELEH

B RS EBTHRERR  BFALEE
> WERRTEFHEEERESR - T4

BREEZFBEAZNE - AR RESRE
RRRERA  ARARBE_ZT_=F
ZA=Zt-BLEFER—BEETLETHAM
B14prE X EIATR ([RERERTA)
HE AT s B 1S L BR S

iy DEBRTRIZTREHEXECILERT -
BUIRTEEREMIERTEEIES
HHMEBEEFEERSHWU 2 EEEKE -
FEHFERRERRE  THREZEREA
EZ2TH  BHEBAEHMEEEH
KB FEARAR - BE-_-_FAA+H
BOMWBERBEFRE -

(i) EEEARTAZTRMEXEC2UERE -
TFEETREARcABRAERY © X T
EEB—ARRRE - FHEETHRERZ
BESDTEEWAETLASEHT -

EMEALXETR T -_—F+A+=-8
BIARNRARTHREH®E  EAEZT -
NITEETS (REE2BEATES) « &
EEBELeREEEBEEETERERS
RBEREAESEBBEER  EET
TZFHANEEEZTSER - LFTEAR
ARBRAMRYEEESSHK  BF
CREBENBEBRZEBRERFTAALAR
AIREND  REAARTHEHEFS A
ARABREEEREEEBE -
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(i)  The code provision F.2.2 of the CG Code requires that the
chairman of the board should attend the annual general
meeting. The chairman of the board should also invite the
chairmen of the audit, remuneration, nomination and any
other committees (as appropriate) to attend. In their absence,
the chairman should invite another member of the committee
or failing this their duly appointed delegate, to attend. These
persons should be available to answer questions at the
annual general meeting. Some of the committee chairmen
were unable to attend the annual general meeting of the
Company held on 7 September 2022 due to other important
engagement.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

The Board comprises two executive Directors, namely, Mr. Chan
Cheong Yee and Mr. Chan Yiu Pun Clement; six non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. Han Zhenghai (Chairman of the Board), Mr.
Deng Dongping, Mr. Liu Lihan, Mr. Zhu Zhikun, Mr. Lyu Ping and
Ms. Mo Xiuping; and three independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Ms. Mo Li, Mr. Shi Zhu and Ms. Chen Shunging.

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company, is collectively responsible for promoting its success
by directing and supervising its affairs and oversees the Group's
businesses, investment and strategic decisions and performance.
Directors take decisions objectively in the best interests of
the Company. The executive Board, investment manager and
senior management have been delegated with the authority
and responsibility by the Board for the day-to-day operations of
the Group while reserving certain key matters for the approval
by the Board. In addition, the Board has also delegated various
responsibilities to the Board committees. Further details of these
Board committees are set out in this Corporate Governance Report.

The Board members have no financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationships with each other. Such balanced
board composition is formed to ensure strong independence exists
across the Board. The biographical information of the existing
Directors is set out on pages 11 to 17 under the section headed
"Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management”.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Composition (continued)

Newly appointed directors of the Company would receive a
comprehensive and formal induction on appointment. Subsequently
they would receive briefing and professional development
necessary to ensure that they have a proper understanding of the
Company'’s operations and business and are fully aware of their
responsibilities under statute and common law, the Exchange
Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements and the
issuer’s business and governance policies.

Chairman

The Chairman of the Company takes the lead in formulating
overall strategies and policies of the Group; ensures the effective
performance by the Board of its functions, including compliance
with good corporate governance practices and encourages and
facilitates active contribution of Directors in Board activities. The
Chairmen also ensures that all Directors are properly briefed on
issues arising at Board meetings and have received adequate,
complete and reliable information in a timely manner with the
assistance of the company secretary.

The respective roles and responsibilities of Mr. Han Zhenghai
(“Mr. Han") as Chairman of the Company (“Chairman”) under
the memorandum of continuance and bye-laws of the Company
(the "Bye-laws”) and the Listing Rules (including the Corporate
Governance Code). Bye-law 95 of the Bye-laws stipulates for the
chairman of the Company to preside as the chairman at every
general meeting of the Company. Paragraph C.2 of the Corporate
Governance Code sets out certain roles and responsibilities of the
chairman of the Company with respect to the Company’s corporate
governance matters.

Executive Directors

The executive Directors are responsible for running the Group
and executing the strategies adopted by the Board. They lead the
Group’s management team in accordance with the directions set
by the Board and are responsible for ensuring that proper internal
control system is in place and the Group's business conforms to
applicable laws and regulations.
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RE (&

AR EAMESEBRZEABEREE
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Non-executive Directors and Independent Non-executive
Directors

The non-executive Directors and the independent non-executive
Directors serve the important function of ensuring and monitoring
the basis for an effective corporate governance framework. Their
participations provide adequate checks and balances to safeguard
the interests of the Group and its shareholders. The Board consists
of four independent non-executive Directors and each of them has
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise. All independent non-executive
Directors are financially independent from the Company. The
Company confirmed with all independent non-executive Directors
as to their independence with reference to the factors as set out in
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

As one of the main pillars of good corporate governance, boards
are expected to have a suitable number of non-executive directors
("NEDs") including independent non-executive directors, and with
the right skills. The term of appointment of NED includes:

(i) The process by which any new director, including a NED, can
be appointed will be governed by the Company's articles
of association. The board may be able to appoint a NED,
this need shareholder approval at the next annual general
meeting.

(i) The letter of appointment confirms the initial term of the
NED’s appointment, considering that the articles require
directors to retire by rotation and stand for re-election. The
letter also makes it clear that either the company or the NED
may terminate the appointment early by giving the other
party one (1) month notice in advance or payment of one (1)
month’s remuneration in lieu of such notice.

(i) A NED is subject to the same general legal duties as an
executive director.

(iv)  Conflicts provisions in the appointment letter was balanced
carefully with the company’s articles. The NED is required to
be absented from board discussions which present, or may
present, a conflict of interest. Alternatively, the NED can
attend the meeting and only be prevented from voting.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Board Meetings

EEE ()
EEE2gR

The attendance of each Director at Board meetings duringtheyear BEZZ-_=-"F="A=+—H1LtFE r §&F

ended 31 March 2023 was as follows:

EREFEERZ 2HFCENT ¢

Number of meetings

attended/held
Name of Director BEpE R/ BTERME
Executive Directors BITES
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee BREEXAE 13/27
Mr. Chan Yiu Pun Clement FRIEH 5 £ 25/27
Non-executive Directors EHTES
Mr. Han Zhenghai (Chairman) (appointed as chairman BREBEE(FE)(R=F-—FENA+HEZ 22/27
of the board on 7 September 2022) EREFELSE)
Mr. Gao Yun BEEE 6/11
(resigned on 7 September 2022) (RZBE-ZZFNA+HFT)
Mr. Deng Dongping HRETEE 25/27
Mr. Liu Lihan AERAE 22/27
Mr. Zhu Zhikun KAkt 8/26
Mr. Zhang Junze (appointed on 27 July 2022 and RERBEE(R-FE-—F+A-F+HEZHF 2/6
resigned on 17 November 2022) RRZE-Z—F+—HF+HFF)
Mr. Lyu Ping (appointed on 7 November 2022) BVPEE(RZE-—F+—HA+HEZHF) 3/11
Ms. Mo Xiuping (re-designated on 19 April 2023) RENRL (R-ZFE-_=ZFHA+NHAE) -/-
Independent non-Executive Directors BUFHTES
Mr. Lok Chiu Chan (resigned on 22 July 2022) BRBELE(R-_F-_—F+H-+-HFE) 9/9
Mr. Yuan Wei (resigned on 22 July 2022) RREE(R-ZE-—F+A-FTZHEFF) 7/9
Ms. Mo Li RH&+ 19/27
Mr. Kan Yat Kit (resigned on 6 April 2022) BRGErAE (RZE-Z—FMANAET) -/-
Mr. Shi Zhu RELE 23/2
Ms. Chen Shunging BRIESZ+ 8/17
(appointed on 27 July 2022) (RZB-__F+H-++HEZE)
Ms. Xiuping (appointed on 23 September 2022 RER LT (RZE-Z—FNA-ZF=HEZHF 3/7

and ceased on 19 April 2022)

RR-F-—FMA+AHEIF)

Annual Report £ 5 2023 63



China Investment Development Limited ® /1 B &% & [ 2 B R A 7]

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TREBRSE

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

As part of an ongoing process of directors’ training, the company
secretary continuously updates all Directors on latest developments
regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements to ensure compliance of the same by all Directors.
All Directors are encouraged to attend external forum or training
courses on relevant topics which may count towards continuous
professional development training.

Pursuant to Code C.1.4 of the “Corporate Governance Code”,
Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. For the period from 1 April 2022 to 31
March 2023, all Directors participated in appropriate continuous
professional development activities either by attending training
courses or by reading materials relevant to the Company’s business
or to the Directors’ duties and responsibilities.

COMPANY SECRETARIES

The company secretaries Ms. Ho Wing Yan and Mr. Wong Shiu Wah
Williamson are service providers. They fulfill the requirement under
rules 3.28 and 3.29 of the Listing Rules. The company secretaries
report to the Chairman and support the Board, ensure good
information flow within the Board and Board policy and procedures
are followed; advise the Board on governance matters, facilitate
induction and, monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors. Each of them has attained not less than
15 hours of relevant professional training during the review period.

INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance, with
coverage being reviewed annually, to indemnify the Directors and
officers from their risk exposure arising from corporate activities.

SUPPLY OF AND ACCESS TO INFORMATION

In respect of regular board meetings, an agenda and accompanying
board papers of the meeting are sent in full to all directors in
advance before the intended date of a meeting. The management
has the obligation to supply the Board and the various Board
committees with adequate information in a timely manner to
enable the members to make informed decisions. Each Director
has separate and independent access to the Group's senior
management to acquire more information than is volunteered by
management and to make further enquiries if necessary.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Ms. Mo Li, Mr. Shi Zhu and Ms. Chen Shunging,
and is chaired by Ms. Chen Shunging. The Audit Committee meets
at least twice a year. The Audit Committee is mainly responsible
for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting system and
internal control procedures; making recommendations to the
Board in the appointment and removal of the external auditors
and to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditors; and any questions of resignation or dismissal of
such auditors; and reviewing the interim and annual reports and
the financial statements of the Group. The terms of reference are
available on the Company’s website.

The attendance of each member at Audit Committee meetings
during the year ended 31 March 2023 was as follows:

EREEE
ERZEER-RBUFATES (RARL
AESERRIEFLZ L) AR - LAHKRIES
LEIHEEEF - BERZEEGEFRIBITM
REH - ERZBEEXIRRABEEARAZ
MHERRERRABEZERF  REERE
RN BAD A E F g 1R E A RSN
BEBMcHFEMEREGESR  RAAERK
iz Bt ESK BB B EMER  REHAE
BARBAMFEREARTBHRER - BESE
MRARBHEUEATHER -

HE-T-

E_E_=F=ZA=+—HILFE X
BEHFEERZEEE@RCHUT ¢

Number of meetings

attended/held
Name of Directors EEng HE/BITEREA
Mr. Lok Chiu Chan (resigned on 22 July 2022) SRELE (R-_F-—F+H -+ -HEFT) 11
Mr. Yuan Wei RELE 171

(resigned on 22 July 2022) (RZFZ—F+H -1 = HFF)

Ms. Mo Li Bz L 2/2
Mr. Kan Yat Kit (resigned on 6 April 2022) BaErTE(RZE-ZFMHANAHFF) -/-
Mr. Shi Zhu AEEE 2/2

Ms. Chen Shunging (Chairladly)

RIBE 22+ (£ /)

11

(RZF-ZZF+HA=-++H
BZHABLZECLRE)

(appointed as Committee Chairlady on 27 July 2022)
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee consists of one non-executive
Director and three independent non-executive Directors, namely,
Mr. Han Zhenghai, Ms. Mo Li, Mr. Shi Zhu and Ms. Chen Shunging,
and is chaired by Ms. Mo Li. The Remuneration Committee is
mainly responsible for making recommendations to the Board
on the Company’s remuneration policy for Directors and senior
management, and overseeing the remuneration packages of
the executive Directors and senior management. The terms of
reference are available on the Company’s website.

The Remuneration Committee has considered and approved
the Group’s policy for the remuneration of Directors and senior
management. The Remuneration Committee has assessed the
performance of the executive Directors and considered the
remuneration package of executive Directors by reference to the
prevailing packages with companies listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. Details of the Directors’ remuneration are
disclosed on an individual basis in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements. The Group adopts a competitive remuneration
package for its employees. Promotion and salary increments are
assessed based on a performance related basis.

The attendance of each member at Remuneration Committee
meetings during the year ended 31 March 2023 was as follows:

FHMEES

FHNZBE e R2FATESM=2BIUF
WITES (BLBLLE  BENXL - AER
ERRIBEBLZ L) K - YREFMZLEE
TR -FMEESEIZRARARAESER
BREEBCFMBRRAESTRMHAER -
VEERTEENSREEEZFMEE -
HEESEN AR B HER -

FHNZEEEZRERERAEBEESTRER
EEEBHHER - FHZESCHEHTE
BE2RE - ALBEMIAERLETAFZ
BUIRBMEEATESZZHMEE - @5
EZFHARBREAMBRRME14EE -
AEBRERERMABRI N ZHFMESE -
TR MEFEEARBRRASEELITHME

BHE-_Z_-_=F
8

ZEZASH—BLFER &R
ELFFMEEES

SHEMT

Number of meetings

attended/held
Name of Directors EEpE HE/BTEEAE
Mr. Lok Chiu Chan (resigned on 22 July 2022) REBLG (R-FE__—F+H -+ _HEFT) 0/1
Mr. Yuan Wei (resigned on 22 July 2022) REAE(RZF_Z_F+H-+-HFT) 0/1
Mr. Han Zhenghai BEIEgRE 1/2
Ms. Mo Li (Chairladly) BN (FE) 2/2
Mr. Kan Yat Kit (resigned on 6 April 2022) R EE (R-ZFE-—FMHANHEE) -/-
Mr. Shi Zhu AEEE 2/2
Ms. Chen Shunging BRIEE 2+ 0/1

(appointed on 27 July 2022)
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

REEES

The Nomination Committee consists of three independent non- REZZEEH=-ZBEIUIIFERTES (EFNL L -

executive Directors, namely, Ms. Mo Li, Mr. Shi Zhu and Ms. Chen
Shunging as well as the Chairman of the Board and non-executive
Director Mr. Han Zhenghai, and is chaired by Mr. Han Zhenghai.

AERERRIBEEL L) DREEEEFEHRFE
MITESFHEBLELMAK - YHBIEBLEAE
BEXTRE  REZESTERELAEFRA

The primary function of the Nomination Committee is to review =ZZ&4&HE - A RANX  THEFS2 2T

the structure, size and composition of the Board annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board

to complement the Group's corporate strategy. The terms of

reference are available on the Company’s website.

The attendance of each member at Nomination Committee &2 _-ZF =

=F=A
meetings during the year ended 31 March 2023 was as follows: EHERAEZEE®TH

F

i

MEFAHREER  UREGAEBEER
B o ERESENRARBBUAIHER -

=+—BLEFE  BK
cEan T

Number of meetings

attended/held
Name of Directors BB HE/BTEEEAE
Mr. Lok Chiu Chan (resigned on 22 July 2022) SRBEAE (RZF-_—_F+H -+ ZHFHF) A
Mr. Yuan Wei (resigned on 22 July 2022) REAE(RZF_Z_F+H-+_HFT) 0/1
Mr. Han Zhenghai (Chairman) BIEBSEE (£E) 2/3
Ms. Mo Li R+ 3/3
Mr. Kan Yat Kit (resigned on é April 2022) MRGLE (R-F-_—FHHHEE) /-
Mr. Shi Zhu RiERHE 3/3
Ms. Chen Shunging BRIEE 2+ 0/1

(appointed on 27 July 2022)

(RZE_—_F+H_++HAEZEF)
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DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY EERBEE

The Company endeavours to ensure that the Board has the ARARBIBREZFTSHFEHEE TEHNER
appropriate balance of skills, experience and diversity of #K&BMEZT(LEE @ FHENTEARF 2%
perspectives that are required to support the execution of its HHRBREEZ 26 BEE -

business strategy and in order for the Board to be effective.

The Nomination Committee shall consider, among others, the ZHEFEMBIFESHERAN @ RZLE8CE

following criteria in evaluating and selecting candidates for & &

directorships:
o Character and integrity; °

o Personal attributes including professional qualifications, skills, — ®
knowledge, experience and expertise that are relevant to the
Company’s business and corporate strategy, and the ability
to provide insights and practical wisdom based on those
attributes;

o Willingness to devote adequate time to discharge dutiesasa  ®
Board member, other directorships, memberships of various
committees and significant commitments;

o For independent non-executive directors to be appointed in ®
accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the candidates
would be considered independent with reference to the
independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules;

J Ability to develop a good working relationship with other e
Board members and contribute to the Board's working
relationship with senior management of the Company;

o Board Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives ®
adopted by the Committee for achieving diversity on the

Board; and

o Any other perspectives appropriate to the Company’'s
business.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company aims to build and maintain a Board with a diversity
of Directors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, or professional experience.

A truly diverse Board will include and make good use of differences
in the skills, regional and industry experience, background, race,
gender and other qualities of Directors. These differences will be
taken into account in determining the optimum composition of the
Board. All Board appointments will be based on merit while taking
into account diversity (including gender diversity).

The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree annually
measurable objectives for implementing diversity on the Board
and recommend them to the Board for adoption. The Nomination
Committee will report annually, in the corporate governance report,
on the Board's composition under diversified perspectives, and
monitor the implementation of this policy.

The following tables further illustrate the diversity of the Board
members as of the date of this annual report:

EEEHESTILBE
ARRIEERBUREFESTEABSZ TN
Ex BRETRR) R - F& - X1t
RHBEESREELER -

—EEEZANEESEREBRLEZAES
Rikge - HMERTEER  BF - Bk
MR REMBERESFI T HMER - RAEHE
ExeEnNREASR  BERLANE
2 -MBAEFEREZED  HUARAKES

RRA - XEEZ T (BFEMERIZ TE) -
REZESEFEIHRAAEREHRETES

EZLIEMAGEER  YERFAEFER
MZEAERR - RB2ZEEHKEBEFNDE
XEARBRENERESTERN S TLERNA
Ko ARERABRZHIT -

TRE-FPHBEEAFHEAHEETENXE
M % AL

Gender Age Group Area
1% 3l FieA R B
China
Male Female 20to 50 50to 70 HKSAR Mainland
EBE5
Name of Director EEHE B4 ZM 20F508% 50E70m% THE HEAi
Chan Cheong Yee RE & v/ v/ v/
Chan Yiu Pun Clement BRI M 4 v v
Han Zhenghai (Chairman) BILE(EE) v v v
Deng Dongping R T 4 v v
Liu Lihan 25708 v v v
Zhu Zhikun KGR v v v
Lyu Ping = v v v
Mo Li R v v v
Shi Zhu At v v/ v
Chen Shunging B JIE v v v
Mo Xiuping EEF v v v
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RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

EREEEZEES

The Risk Management Committee consists of the executive Director BB ERBZEEHNTESTHREETEER=
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee and three independent non-executive HBIYFRNTES (EF LT  AFEER
Directors, namely, Ms. Mo Li, Mr. Shi Zhu and Ms. Chen Shunging, FRIB)EZ+) AKX @+ WY HRE R L EEEE
and is chaired by Mr. Chan Cheong Yee. The primary function of & - BBREEZESFEHE AR BT
the Risk Management Committee is to review, monitor, manage BIERIZEHIEFERE @ UHFTEERRARE
and control the existing investments, developing and reviewingthe EHZELKEZREREEMNEREE

risk management policy and monitoring the effective running of the

risk management.

The attendance of each member at Risk Management Committee #HEZEZZ-_=-"F=A=+—HIEFE + &K
meetings during the year ended 31 March 2023 was as follows: BEHFRAREBZESEERCHOT :
Number of meetings
attended/held
Name of Directors EEnA HEBRITEEEAE
Mr. Lok Chiu Chan SEEREE ST 1/1
(resigned on 22 July 2022) (RZFZZF+H -+ ZHEFFT)
Mr. Yuan Wei RETE 1/1
(resigned on 22 July 2022) (RZFZZF+LH -+ ZHFHT)
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee (Chairman) REBLRE (FE) 11
Ms. Mo Li RFi2Z+ 11
Mr. Kan Yat Kit Pk s -/-
(resigned on 6 April 2022) (R=ZFZZF/ANHEFE)
Mr. Shi Zhu AERE 1/1
Ms. Chen Shunging PR IEE 22 £ -/-
(appointed on 27 July 2022) (R=ZFZ—F+A-++HE
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for each financial period
and to ensure that the consolidated financial statements are in
accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. The Board also ensures the timely publication of the
consolidated financial statements. The Directors, having made
appropriate enquiries, confirm that they are not aware of any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern. The statements of the auditor of the Group regarding
their responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set
out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages 76 to 83 of this
Annual Report.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT
The Board, recognising its overall responsibility in ensuring the
system of internal controls of the Group and for reviewing its
effectiveness, is committed to implementing an effective and sound
internal control system to safeguard the interests of shareholders
and the assets of the Group. Procedures have been designed
to safeguard assets against unauthorised use or disposition, to
ensure the sufficient allocation of resources and manpower and
the maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision of
reliable financial information for internal use or for publication, and
to ensure compliance with applicable law, rules and regulations.
The procedures provide a reasonable but not absolute assurance
and prevention of material untrue statements or losses, as well
as management on the interruption of the Group’s management
system and risks existing in the course of arriving at the Group's
objectives.

The management of the Group has conducted a review on the
Group's internal control and risk management system for the
year ended 31 March 2023 with no material weakness found. The
management will continue to improve and strengthen its control
in order to enhance the corporate governance and safeguard the
interest of its shareholders.

The Company conducted an annual review for the need of setting
up an internal audit department. Given the Company’s simple
operating structure, it was decided by the Board that the Board be
directly responsible for the internal control system of the Company
and for reviewing its effectiveness.

EERMBHR2EME

EEeRAEAAIREAEESHHENE
ZEHEEVBRR  AUBREGEAUBHRRTE
AEBRRBERHEER - EFENERS
EUMBHRRERTI® EFTNFLHEELEH
BRER  RELTANBECAAESHEAEER
FERKZRENENERRBEZEHHBRL
EXTHENR - AEAKSEZBMELES
MBHRERZEERHA  HRAFRET6ES3
HZBIYZBMBEEA -

WEEE K mR EE
EEeNTERBERASEANEZHE R
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EARKEEE - AEBCHITERERF - UL
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BRADNDBEARFREBEE @5k ARRHA
FUBERERNRERRTE - ARERE
STHEAER  ABRARKRE REBRFAARE
(BYFBH) RELRBLETEHAETEAKLE
RilsiBx - NERAEBZERRARER
TEZBEANARERASEERBRETAF
EZRR -
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ERHEMK -
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

(continued)

The Company is committed to maintaining good corporate
governance, emphasizing accountability and high degree of
transparency which enable our stakeholder to have trust and faith
in the Company to take care of their needs and to fulfill its social
responsibility. The Company has devised a Whistleblowing Policy
(the "Policy”) so that employees of the Company as well as relevant
third parties (e.g. customers, suppliers, etc., who deal with the
Company (“Third Parties”)) can raise concerns, in confidence, about
misconduct, malpractice or irregularities in any matters related to
the Company The Company also ensures that proper arrangements
are in place for the fair and independent investigation of such
matters and for appropriate follow-up action.

Whistleblowing matters may include but are not confined to: (i)
Breach of legal or regulatory requirements; (ii) Criminal offenses,
breach of civil law and miscarriage of justice; (iii) Malpractice,
impropriety or fraud relating to internal controls, accounting,
auditing and financial matters; (iv) Violation of rules of conducts
applicable within the Company or those of the Group; (v) Bribery or
corruption; and/or (vi) Deliberate concealment of any of the above.

The Company will make every effort to keep all whistleblowing
reports and identities of employees and/or Third Parties who have
made reports confidential.

In addition, having discovered any suspicious behavior, employees
could report to the relevant business department, or the executive
directors or management of the Company. The Company provides
anonymous reporting channels in case of corruption or deception.

In general, the whistle-blower should made their reports to the
chairman of the board of directors ("Board”) of the Company in
writing by post in a sealed envelope clearly marked “To be opened
by addressee only” at

Chairman of the board of directors

China Investment Development Limited

Suites 6303, 63/F, Central Plaza, 18 Harbour Road, Wan Chai, Hong
Kong

A report may also be submitted to the chairman of the Board via
the following email address: chairman@chinainvestment.com.hk, or
directly to the chairman of the Audit Committee of the Company via
the following email address: whistleblower@chinainvestment.com.hk
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year, the remuneration paid and payable to the
Company’s auditor, Fan, Chan & Co. Limited, for audit service of
the year ended 31 March 2023 is HK$470,000 and there is no non-
audit service provided during the year ended 31 March 2023.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct
regarding securities transactions by the directors. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company confirmed that all the
Directors have complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code throughout the year.

The Company also has established written guidelines on no less
exacting terms than the Model Code for securities transactions by
employees who are likely to be in possession of any unpublished
inside information of the Company or its securities.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT

Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for
election as a director

Subject to the Bye-laws and applicable laws, rules and regulations,
the Company may in a general meeting by ordinary resolution elect
any person to be a director of the Company either to fill a casual
vacancy on the Board, or as an addition to the existing Board.

A shareholder who is entitled to attend and vote at the meeting
may propose a person (the “Candidate”) other than a Director
of the Company for election as a director at a general meeting
by lodging the following documents at the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong (Suites 6303, 63/F, Central Plaza,
18 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong) for the attention of the
company secretary:

1. A written notice signed by the shareholder concerned which
is given of his/her intention to propose the Candidate for
election;

2. A written notice signed by the Candidate indicating his/
her willingness to be elected, together with the Candidate’s
biographical details as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing
Rules; and

3. The Candidate’s written consent to the publication of his/her
personal data.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT (continued)

Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for
election as a director (continued)

The period for lodgment of the above documents shall have
given to the company secretary of the Company during a period
commencing no earlier than the day after the despatch of the
notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and
ending no later than 7 days prior to the date of such meeting.

Procedures for shareholders to convene a special general
meeting

Special general meetings shall be convened on the written
requisition of any two or more registered members of the Company
deposited at the registered office in Bermuda specifying the
objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists, provided
that such requisitionists held as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company. General meetings may also be convened on the
written requisition of any one member of the Company which is
a recognised clearing house (or its nominee) deposited at the
principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the event the
Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered
office specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the
requisitionist, provided that such requisitionist held as at the date
of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company which carries the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company. If the Board does not within
21 days from the date of deposit of the requisition proceed duly
to convene the meeting, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of
them representing more than one-half of the total voting rights of
all of them, may convene the general meeting in the same manner
as nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened
by the Board provided that any meeting so convened shall not
be held after the expiration of three months from the date of
deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to them by the Company.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The annual general meetings provide a useful forum for
shareholders to exchange views with the Board. The chairman
of the Company as well as the chairman and members of various
Board committees are pleased to answer shareholders’ questions.
Separate resolutions are proposed at general meetings on each
substantially separate issue, including the election of individual
Directors. Details of poll voting procedures and the rights of
shareholders to demand a poll are included in the circular to
shareholders despatched together with the annual report. The
circular also includes relevant details of proposed resolutions,
including biographies of each candidates standing for re-election.
The results of the poll are published on the Company’s website,
www.chinainvestment.com.hk, and on the website of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, (http://www.hkex.com.hk).

INVESTOR RELATIONS

During the year under review, the Group has proactively
enhanced its corporate transparency and communications with
its shareholders and the investment community through the
announcement of its mandatory interim and final reports. Through
the timely distribution of other announcements, the Group has also
kept the public abreast of its latest developments.

BERRXR

BERBFARERHEERASMHBREESES
XRER - ARREEMEEETZEEGZE
FREBHELBEOEZRRER - EXERE
H(ERECENES) AUBIRERE
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SLIR G 3T ERAT A MR 3]
Fan, Chan & Co. Limited

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA INVESTMENT

DEVELOPMENT LIMITED

FERERZERLA

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda
with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Investment Development Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 84 to 187, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2023, the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTER (“KAM")

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Key audit matter
AREXRER

RRNAEE
HMERREBSIMASEMO BT EREAE
AIETEZIE - RFARBZFEANELD
E— B HARARE [ZBEEREEVH R
ROEME] 8 - RRBBSFAMAGNER
gt (T7R)) - RAMBIR &
£H  BRMAERBETAETHEMERET -
ZFAE - RMHERNFZZEBT D MNE
O REREHETER -

REERSEHR
RELFEERERMANERHAE - £R
MEAMEASREVBEERNEZTREZN
EH - ZFFRERMYUGEVBRRET
BEEECRHEERTARREE - RMALT
UL RMEHER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEMELNMEEBERERSEE

Valuation of unlisted financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (“FVTPL") and unlisted financial assets
at fair value through other comprehensive income
("FVTOCI"):
BAFEFAEBGERENI M BEEMRRFER
AHEEMEHEBERENIFE ETHEEENGE

We identified the valuation of unlisted financial assets e
at FVTPL and FVTOCI as a key audit matter due to the
inherent level of complex and subjective judgements
required and estimation uncertainty involved in
determining their fair values. o
BB D FEFAEBRRE MEAFEFAEEMD
2EREREMNIFETHBEEENGEERBRESZEZR -
REARBERFEMSRANGHNEREEANTOIER o
HI B R fhET T REE M -

Our procedures in relation to the valuation of
unlisted investments in financial assets at FVTPL and
unlisted financial assets at FVTOCI included:
HZMEZEAFEFATEBERENMBEEIFLTERE
RiEAFEGFATAMEENREENIE LMY BEE
HHEETHRFEE

Evaluating the competence, capabilities, and
objectivity of the valuer and obtaining an
understanding of the valuer’s scope of work and
their terms of engagement;
AL EEMEEL BN REEM - T REE
B TIEEEE R ER R

Evaluating the appropriateness of the valuer’s
valuation approaches to assess if they meet the
requirements of the HKFRSs and industry norms;
AEEEMZEESAREEE  UFHHERED
HEBEEVBREEANRITEENRE
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (“KAM") (continued)

Key audit matter
HRERER

HRELER (&)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMELNMEEBERERSEE

The Group's unlisted investments in convertible bonds
classified as FVTPL and unlisted equity securities
classified as FVTOCI are stated at their fair values
of approximately HK$15 million and HK$48 million
respectively at 31 March 2023, with a fair value loss on
FVTPL and fair value loss on FVTOCI of approximately
HK$1,100,000 and HK$9,166,000 respectively, recognised
in the consolidated profit or loss and consolidated
other comprehensive income respectively for the year
then ended as disclosed in note 21 and note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements. The fair values were
assessed by the management based on valuations
performed by an independent valuer engaged by the
Group.
BEEERYBERRATEA AN EERREN A BRESIE
EHRERDBERRA T EF AEE M2 e IE R IF
FTRABHFR-_Z_=F=ZA=+T—H2RRAFELD
SEBETRSEEBLIE  BEZRLFERATE
AAERERENATFEBEREATEFAEEMEE
Yas pE 22 B9 A SF{E BB 0 Bl 491,100,000/ 7T K.9,166,0007%
TARREEBRE RGNS K ARER s a M
BHRRME2IRMF20MKE - AFEHERER S
BRENB L GEMETNEEETHME
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Challenging the reasonableness of the
key assumptions and inputs adopted and
appropriateness of valuation models applied
based on available market data and our
knowledge of the investees and their industry
and whether the assumptions inputs and
methodologies are consistent with those used in
prior year;
BREMSTSEHRBERRMATREHRKEEITEDN
RB - KBARANTIERRNBABENAE
MEFAERGEERENEENE  ARERRESR
ABBERTAREHBEFEMBERT

Reviewing supporting documentation and
evidence for the significant judgements and
estimates of the valuations and the key inputs
used in the valuations; and
ERHENERAGTREAARGEMAEEEH
AN BHE B S M OB

Checking the mathematical accuracy of the
valuation.
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KEY AUDIT MATTER (“"KAM") (continued)

Key audit matter
ARERER

HRELER (&)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMELNMEEERERSEE

Impairment assessment of financial assets at amortised
cost:

R A B Z W IEEERERE

We identified impairment assessment of financial assets as
a key audit matter because the Group has deposits paid,
promissory notes and a secured bond with the net carrying
amounts of approximately HK$122 million, HK$78 million
and HK$23 million, respectively, as at 31 March 2023 which
accounted for 37%, 24% and 7% of the Group's total assets
respectively.

HMABANMBEERETFEREAREZETER  RE
2 BEER-ZTE-=F=ZA=+—HEMESE - &L
EREMCHERESFREFED NN /IZ2EEET - 78
BEELRBESET  h BEEEEEEDRINY%
24% N 7% °

The assessment of impairment of financial assets at
amortised cost under the expected credit loss (“ECL")
model is considered to be a key audit matter as it requires
the application of judgement to reflect information about
past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
conditions, and use of subjective assumptions by the
management.
EHEEEREATREBEHEKAFEZCHBEERE
FEERAEREZFE  RESHEFTREEERER
HABRRIREBBEEEFN - B AR & ARK MR AR
MERURERETBRRR °

The ECL was assessed by the management with reference
to valuations performed by an independent valuer engaged
by the Group and other information of the assets.
BHEERERERESZ2E EEEZRENBIGERM
ETNEEREENEMERETHMG -

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment
of financial assets at amortised cost included:
BMHREEK AT EZVBEERBENHETH
BrFeE:

J Understanding the key controls on how the
impairment assessment of financial assets at
amortised cost is estimated by the management;
THREEBMMMAZBEENAHEZHBE
B R E AT {4 B BE B2 4% I

o Reviewing and assessing the application of the
Group's policy for calculating ECLs to consider
consistency of application;

EH kL EEEAEENEESRBEREN
JERAEERR—3E

o Evaluating the independence, objectivity,
competence and capabilities of the valuer;

AP EMEELE - BB - EeE Rkt

o Evaluating the techniques and methodologies
in the ECLs model against the requirements of
HKFRS 9;
TEBRBEEENBRELENFEIRRTNED
EEEBEERA BRI R AE

J Assessing the reasonableness of the basis and
judgement of the management in determining
credit loss allowance on financial assets at
amortised cost;

AT EETHREBERAA BB EE
MEEBRERBZEERAGHN SN

o Testing the key data sources applied in the ECLs
computation on a sample basis by checking to the
supporting information and external data sources,
as applicable; and
FRMEXHEN RINBEERIR (WMER) -
mEAHEREEERFETERN T ZRUE
R R

o Checking the mathematical accuracy of the ECLs.

BERREEBR G EERKE -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

J Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,

among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit

and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies

in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement

that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships

and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguards applied.

82

Annual Report 4F ¥ 2023

BREETRAR S MR BRRARENEE (2

s HEERAFAKLESHERNREMN
fEHEm - REMEDRNEZERE @
ErREFEHEZERFBFTRAAENEKRD
BEM KmAUkEHE EEENRF
BREEDNEEEARE - MRRMA
REEEXTHEENE  AALEERR
MREPRBEAEIZGAVBERE
THHRERE  BREBEOBRETE
AMERTHRMMER - BfMEREER
RHEBRER LRGN ERER - R
- ARREBEXBERAAELEH EEE

sk 4k 43 g MK
TREFERLE -

e FHESKAMBEERNWERIGKIA - &
BNAR  BEEE  ULKESHBER®R
EEPERREBEBEXSMNER -

e i ERBRNERBIAXBKEINYHKE
HEDRTE  BENEZRE @ UEYH

FAMBBRERERERL - RMAR &
SEEZNTR  EEEHT - BAR
ERERAEZNEE -

BREMERSS > RMEREERRT (¥
B ENEREERERTHARERSE
ZHRE - BRERBMIEEZETHER RS
EREERERRK -

BPERGEEBRRER  HSHARMETAE
ERABUMNHERERERER - LEMBM
BEAAEAEMKRARETERMBILM
MATBRBEMEMEER  UREEBRNEBER
T RERBEEMEBNTHRCERNG
gEEE -



China Investment Development Limited » ff B % & [ 2 B R A A)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF BB REES M ERRARENSE (&)
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with HERAEEERMNBIEF  HMETWHLE
governance, we determine those matters that were of most HEH ANHBGAUBRENELZEZAEE -
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements MBKEAREZER - HPERBRMBE
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. HFIFMELETE » BRIEERERT AT LM
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or W EEELE1E @ KEHIHFELHNER T - W
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, RAEEBBHAERMBFEFPBEBREETHEKK
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter BEHBRBBEANARMEmE » HMRED
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse JEfEREFFBZEFIE ©

consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to

outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Fan, Chan & Co. Limited EREHMITERDA

Certified Public Accountants HESEE

Leung Kwong Kin RN

Practising Certificate Number P03702 HMEFEERT - P0O3702

Hong Kong, 29 June 2023 BEF T =F~A=+NhA8
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GmERmakEtEZERSER

Forthe yearended 31 March2023 B ZE T —_=F=A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—EBECZ=f —E-
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt aE FTHER FHET
Revenue g 7 - =
Other income H g A 7 10,331 10,100
Net gain/(loss) on financial assets BRAFEFACEBZREZ
at fair value through profit or loss B EEz NE (BE)FE 2,518 (15,268)
Impairment losses under the expected RHEEEREA TREER
credit loss model, net of reversal Mk 8 (6,687) 24,422
Administrative and other expenses THEEMAS (26,132) (36,992)
Finance costs B RS AR 9 (2,832) (2,272)
Share of result of an associate DEBENE  EE - -
Loss before income tax expense BrETS R S AT ES 1R 1 (22,802) (20,010)
Income tax expense TSR 10 - =
Loss for the year attributable AARBEEARERFEEER
to owners of the Company (22,802) (20,010)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income ~ Ht2HE (%) /#
[tem that will not be reclassified TEEMHNEEEZ AL
to profit or loss:
— Change in fair value of financial assets — RAFEFATEMEE
at fair value through other WRRB s HBEEZ
comprehensive income NEEEE (9,166) (5,069)
ltem that may be reclassified subsequently H#E A EMHEEBR 2
to profit or loss: BH
— Exchange differences on translation — BREREME AR M BE®RK
of financial statements of PRC EXvERZSE
subsidiaries (2,189) (1,213)
— Release of reserves upon disposal of ~ — HEM B A A K EREE
subsidiaries 90 -
Other comprehensive expense AFEEHEMEPEMX  MKRHE
for the year, net of tax (11,265) (6,282)
Total comprehensive expense for the year RFEEFHMZ B (34,067) (26,292)
(Restated)
(f=&5)
Loss per share BRES 13
— Basic (HK cent per share) — ER(FREI) (8.13) (10.74)
— Diluted (HK cent per share) — B (BRBW) (8.13) (10.74)

84 Annual Report 4F ¥ 2023



China Investment Development Limited » f B % & [ 2 B R A A)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e AR R &

Asat31March2023 R — B - ==HA=+—H

2023 2022
—EB-=F —E-=
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt 3 FERT FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ER S 15 26 =
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17 - =
Other financial assets at amortised cost REEN AT EC EMMEEE 18 - 64,200
Interest in an associate N NIV 3 19 = =
Financial assets at fair value through other AV (Bt AEH 2 U IE
comprehensive income CHBEE 20 48,304 4,297
48,330 68,497
Current assets RBEE
Financial assets at fair value through ZRTEFAEESRREZ
profit or loss Eﬁf%éfi_% 21 49,922 34,038
Other receivables, deposits paid and HE R RIE ke Rk
prepayments %EH%KIE 22 121,640 39,355
Other financial assets at amortised cost Tﬁfiﬁiﬁﬁjizﬁﬁiz,ﬁ\@ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁé 18 100,809 41,249
Amount due from a shareholder JRE LA i 3R 3R 23 949 949
Cash and cash equivalents ﬁﬁ&ﬁé#ﬁ% 24 3,997 51,574
277,317 167,165
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables and accrued charges HiprHRERETER 25 50,474 8,082
Lease liabilities HEAE 26 1,497 2,037
51,971 10,119
Net current assets RBEEREE 225,346 157,046
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRDAE 273,676 225,543
Non-current liability ERBEE
Lease liabilities HEGE 26 = 1,527
Net assets EERE 273,676 224,016
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to owners of ARAREAABEER
the Company
Share capital LN 27 36,039 22,856
Reserves G 237,637 201,160
Total equity BEEE 273,676 224,016
On behalf of the directors REESS

Han Zhenghai
BIEE
Director

EF

CHAN Yiu Pun Clement

R B A
Director

EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN

mERBEHR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

E_T—

=F=RA=+—HLFE

EQUITY

Investment Share
Share Share  Shareholders'  revaluation option Exchange  Accumulated
capital premium  contribution reserve reserve reserve osses Total
e RihiaE BEiE REBHEE BRERR EXER 23 ER Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tt Tn Fitn Tt Titn T Tt Tk
(Note 27) (Note 28) (Note 28) (Note 28) (Note 28) (Note 28)
(k) (mae)  (We)  (Woe) (MEm) (&)
At 1 April 2021 RZBZ-£MA-R 12,698 391,054 10,934 (7,530) - (322) (357,503) 49,331
Loss for the year TEEEE - - - - - - (20,010) (20,010)
Other comprehensive income A2EkE
Exchange difference on translation of financial statements of 2 EHBA 7
PRC subsidiaries HBRRELZENEE - - - - - (1213 - (1213
Change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through ~ BATFEF AR 2EREREL
other comprehensive income BREEZLTEED - - - (5,069) - - - (5,069)
Total comprehensive expense for the year TERRAANAE - - - (5,069) s (1,213) (20010) (26,29)
Transfer of accumulated fair value loss to accumulated HERATEHAELNRE
losses upon disposal of financial assets at fair value BERE HBEERBREN
through other comprehensive income AYEEBEZAER - - - 506 = S (508) 5
Rights ssue note 27) R (E270) 39 12049 . - - . S T
Rights issuance expenses (note 27(i) (ARR = (R 3E270) - (3.051) S S - S = (3,051)
Placing of new shares (note 27(ji) REMR (M3E276)) 3,809 53,326 S S = S = 57,135
New shares placement expenses (note 27 HREER T (M) = (918) S = = S S 919)
Recognition of equity-settled share based payment ERNEREEZ RO - - - - 12,812 - - 12,812
Lapse of vested share options BERRERELN - - - = (1,246) = 1,26 =
Subscriptions received from share option holders REEREREAZAE - = S S 8,021 S = 8,021
At 31 March 2022 R-8==§=A=t-8 nEs WM 0% (2099 15 (08 @67 200
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
RERERSBR

Forthe yearended 31 March2023 B ZE T —_=F=A=+—HILFE

Investment Share
Share Share  Shareholders’  revaluation option Exchange  Accumulated
capital premium  contribution reserve reserve reserve losses Total
R RBEE  RREE REEMEE  BRERE  EXGE  ZHER ait

HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
TR T FER ThR T T TER T

(Note 27) (Note 28) (Note 28) (Note 28) (Note 28) (Note 28)

(HriE27) (3t28) (H¥iE28) (RyiE2s) (3t28) (3t28)

At 1 April 2022 RZBZZEMA-R 22,856 561,040 10,934 (12,093) 19,587 (1,535) (376,773) 224,016
Loss for the year TEEER - - - - - - (22,802) (22,802)
Other comprehensive income Eh2ENE

Exchange difference on translation of financial statements of REHEINEL

PRC subsidaries BRRREL EREE - - - - - (2,189) - (2,189)
Release of reserves upon disposal of subsidiaries HEMBARKENER - - - - - 90 - 90
Change in fair value of financial assets at fair value through AT BT AEEM2EREREL

other comprehensive income HREEZNTEEY - - - 9,166) - - S 9,166)
Total comprehensive expense for the year TEE2ERYAR - - - 9,166) - (2,099) (22,802) (34,067)
Transfer of accumulated fair value loss to accumulated HERATEHAEEBZE

losses upon disposal of financial assets at fair value BERE HHEEGRREH

through other comprehensive income APEBBERGEER - - - 16,338 - S (16,338) s
Placing of new shares (note 27(iv) REFRD (M) 4922 2977 - - - - 5 37,899
New shares placement expenses (note 27(iv) TREERT (MEam) S (379) S = = = = (379)
Issue of consideration shares (note 27(v) BRERR (H27) 6,507 35,790 - - - - 5 42,097
Lapse of vested share options BEBERELN - - - - (2,130) - 2,130 S
Exercise of share options (note 27ii) 1,754 10177 - - (8,021) - - 3910
At 31 March 2023 RZBZZ£ZR=1-A 36,039 639,605 10,934 (4,921) 9,436 (3,634) (413,783) 213,676

Annual Report F i 2023 87



China Investment Development Limited ® /1 B % & [ % B R A 7]

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HEBREREBR

Forthe yearended 31 March2023 B ZE T —_=F=A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—E-= =S
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
liE THET TAET
Cash flows from operating activities RELEXBHERE
Loss before income tax expense BRATIG BRI X A& 1R (22,802) (20,010)
Adjustments for: BT EEELRE
Depreciation of property, Mm% BERREFE
plant and equipment 1 89 15
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREBENE 11 - 707
Impairment loss on property, plant and ME  BERZEREER
equipment 60 314
Impairment loss on right-of-use assets EREEEREESR - 3,537
Share based payment & 1n 2 - 12,812
Net realised loss on disposals of HERATFEFALER
fair value of financial assets BEZHBEEATEZE
at fair value through profit or loss IR EIE R 273 16,125
Bank interest income WRITHEHA 7 = 3)
Interest income from other financial REHENARGT B 2 B
assets at amortised cost BEZHMERA (9,519) (4,999)
Interest expense on lease liabilities MEEBZHERX 9 263 97
Interest expense on bonds BHZMBERY 2,569 2,175
Change in fair value of financial assets BATEFARBRZREZ
at fair value through profit or loss BEEZ ATEEH (2,791) (857)
Reversal of impairment loss on interest & W) SR (B S 48 & [
receivable 8 - (2,400
Gain on disposal of interest in an HEBEARER W&
associate (20) =
Impairment loss, net of reversal on other  HIBR I SHAN A FT & 2 E MBI 7%
financial assets at amortised cost BERDZREER 7,564 3,670
Reversal of impairment loss on deposit BN EEREREED
paid 8 (877) (25,692
Exchange realignment BE 3,2 6,365 -
Operating loss before working EELESHDAI2REFRE
capital changes (18,826) (14,509
Purchase of financial assets BERATESACERERE
at fair value through profit or loss L BEE (22,063) (130,343)
Proceeds from disposals of financial HERATFEF AT BRERE
assets as fair value through profit or L BEE ZFEHIE
loss 8,697 109,490
Decrease/(increase) in other receivables,  EfbEUFTE « X4 RIER
deposits and prepayments FERD,/ (Em) 1,595 (2,415)
Increase in other payables and HiveS AR B ER
accrued charges Z 301 810
Cash used in operations REFMERS (30,296) (36,967)
Interest received BUFE 7,288 2,403
Net cash used in operating activities REXLBMEBRETFE (23,008) (34,564)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

GREBREREBR

Forthe yearended 31 March2023 B ZE T —_=F=A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—E-= —F_C
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET
Cash flows from investing activities RERETHRERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment FEE % - BiFE k& (175) =
Purchase of other financial asset at BERBHARTE 2 HME %
amortised cost BE (116,656) (316)
Proceed from disposal of other financial HERE AR 8 2 E B 75
assets at amortised cost AEMEHIA 133,542 (104,120)
Deposits paid for acquisition of B ERENEN RS
investments (123,105) (167,707)
Deposits refunded for acquisition of RUERENCRERS
investments 5,230 156,605
Proceeds from disposal of interest in an HERB S QAR 2T RIE
associate 20 -
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at i & & A FEFF AL E M2 EKE
fair value through other comprehensive Fiﬁzﬁﬁfxﬁﬁz
income GIEEE 8! 52 50
Net cash used in investing activities RETBERESTFE (101,092) (115,488)
Cash flows from financing activities REWETH2RERE
Proceeds from shareholder contribution WE & 2 Fris 508 - 7,028
Subscription received from share option R & ﬁﬁﬂi%%ﬁ/\ﬁ’] R
holders - 8,021
Proceeds from bonds BEH TS HRIE 70,270 63,225
Repayment of principal portion of bonds B & %Zﬁfﬁ\%gﬁ (30,000) (61,225)
Net proceeds from issuance of shares R BETRG 2
upon placement of shares P8 SRIE %5 37,520 56,217
Net proceeds from rights issue of shares  ftf% 2 FT{3 38 558 - 123,927
Proceeds from exercise of share options ~ {T{F B & 4E 2 FT{5 5B 3,910 =
Repayment of principal portion of BEHEEEE Z$$*B
lease liabilities (2,067) (680)
Interest paid on bonds BHZEMNFE (748) (2,081)
Interest paid on lease liabilities HEGE Zaﬁﬂ (263) 97)
Net cash generated from financing MEETHREREFR
activities 78,622 194,335
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash BHERBEZEY RYL)
equivalents EmFEE (45,478) 44,283
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EZ#E T & (2,099) (1,213)
Cash and cash equivalents FYRESRASEEY
at beginning of year 51,574 8,504
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year EFRBERBEEEY 3,997 51,574
Analysis of the balance of cash and cash BE&RBRELEENEHI T
equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBEFEYD 3,997 51,574
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2023 B ZE T —_=F=A=+—HILFE

90

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Investment Development Limited (the "Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability on 25 March 1998 and was de-registered
on 11 March 2011 and was registered by way of continuation
as an exempted company in Bermuda on 2 March 2011. The
Company'’s shares have been listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) with effect
from 12 December 2000. Its registered office is located at
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda
and its principal office in Hong Kong is located at Suites 6303,
63/F, Central Plaza, 18 Harbour Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong.

The Company is principally engaged in investment holding
for short to long-term capital appreciation purposes, and
investment in listed and unlisted securities. The principal
activities of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 16
to the consolidated financial statements.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
Amendments to HKFRSs that are initially applied in
the current year

In the current year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the "Group”) has applied the
following amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective for
the current accounting period of the Group:

o Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

° Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and
Equipment — Proceeds before Intended Use
° Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of

Fulfilling a Contract

° Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020
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—RER
FREEERZEER AR (IARA) B
R—hAWNAWNF=ZA-_+HHEHEREHS
A2 ERRBER AR - HERZ
T——F=A+—HEHEIEM BER=
TE-—FZA-_HUBGFZFEAREER
EdRMAeERERR - ARaRMHAZ
TEEEF+_A+T_HEETEBHAX
SHERRAR ([BXRA)) £« HiF
i 3% = B i 7 Clarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda @ £ &
BRPBEMNE B BT B EBISHKF
IRE 5 63186303%E ©

ARRZEBEBIHARENESE
HERPELREE  URRERETR
FLEMES - ARAETHERAZE
EXBHENGEMBRERME 16 -

RABBUBREER

REFEEDNSEAZEBHBREE
25T

RAEE  KAFREWER A (KB
[AEE]) BEAN TR EEAS
e O £ T
7 -

o EBMISEEERBIN 2 ETH
SHERZ 10

e ZBESEAFISRZETYE
55 R &R s — IRMEREE 28 Bl AT
- ex]

s BARGIHEREIRZEFTFES
H—BITER A

o EBEYBREEINZBIBZEYH
HREEA —F—NFRE-F -FF
ZFE



China Investment Development Limited ® f B % & [ 2 B R A A)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2023 B ZE T —_=F=A=+—HILFE

2.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)
Amendments to HKFRSs that are initially applied in

the current year (continued)

The application of the amendments to the standards listed

above in the current year has had no material effect on

the Group's financial performance and positions for the

current and prior year and on the disclosures set out in these

consolidated financial statements.

The Group has not applied the following new and

amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not

yet effective for the current accounting period. The Group

has already commenced an assessment of the impact of these

new and amendments to HKFRSs but is not yet in a position

to state whether these new and amendments to HKFRSs

would have a material impact on its results of operations and

financial position:

e HKFRS 17, Insurance Contracts
(including the October 2020 and
February 2022 Amendments to
HKFRS17)

e Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS
28, Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its Associate
or Joint Venture

e Amendments to HKFRS 16, Lease
Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

o Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification
of Liabilities as Current or Non-
Current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

e Amendments to HKAS 1, Non-current
Liabilities with Covenants

Effective for
accounting

periods beginning

on or after

1 January 2023

To be
determined

1 January 2024

1 January 2024

1 January 2024

2.

RMBRBMBREER (8)

RAFEALSEACERMBREER
Z1EEIE)

RAFEERRERER ZETHAEE
RE R FEEF R & BRI MR A
RZERAMBBRERMBINELEE

By 48R
A2 -

AEERABBATRAGMEE R
fEERER BBV B RS ER
REAVBHRESEAZERT - AEEE
MATEZENTEEMBREER R
BREMBRERNZEBIZFE  BH
AEAZEHATBTAYBREENULRE
AHMBREENZEITEETEHEKE
RERMBARELERTE

RUT B8
BrEBRBZ
SHHEEN
s ARAMBWMSERRY —ZFTZ=F
W REAA (BF= —HA—H
E-FFFAR T -
FZHz BB BREE
RIE 1758 (165TA))
o BAEUMBHELERFEI05R FE
REBGETEAZE28% 2
B8] REZHRE &
NAlg B EL R A E
EMHE LKA
o BEUBHEEAFE 165 T _UF
2185 - E# AL HE —A—H
EEBE
e BB ERFEIEIE —E_ME
o BT EEE —A—H
DR BB S EESY
(ZE=ZFF) ZHEE
il
o EHEHEAEIF B —E_ME
5] WERZEZIETE —A—H

BR&
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M ERRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2023 B ZE T —_=F=A=+—HILFE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)
New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (continued)

Effective for
accounting
periods beginning
on or after

e Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS 1 January 2023
Practice Statement 2, Disclosure of
Accounting Policies

e Amendments to HKAS 8, Definition of 1 January 2023
Accounting Estimates

e Amendments to HKAS 12, Deferred 1 January 2023

Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction

Q2 Annual Report 4F ¥ 2023
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2023 B ZE T —_=F=A=+—HILFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a)

(c)

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“"HKASs"”) and
Interpretations and the disclosure requirements of
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange (“Listing Rules”).

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost basis except
for financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI") and financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"), which are
measured at fair values as explained in the accounting
policies set out in note 4 below.

Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars ("HK$"). Each entity in the Group
maintains its books and record in its own functional
currency. The functional currency of the Company is
HK$.

3.

mAREE

(a)

BREH
RAMBRRTDEZBAEEREE
MBmERER - FEGHEARR
BUARBERRIGH 2B ERER
oo WH o REMBHRER B AR
XrESFEMAN(TERARA])
MEZEREE -

HEEE

BT SCH EEART B 3 BB AL -
B B R YR BRI S O
2 WEATEIAER R E K
R Y R R R AT E A
EREREUHAE RDERA
FE ) B o

DEEREIEH

HAEMBHRRABTZY - XEE
BEERBNEAG 2R EBIIRK
Rk - ARBZYEEHERET -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2023 B ZE T —_=F=A=+—HILFE

4.

94

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

(a)

Business combination and basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries.
Inter-company transactions and balances between
group companies together with unrealised profits are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of impairment on the
asset transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income from the dates of acquisition or up to the
dates of disposal, as appropriate. Where necessary,
adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line
with those used by other members of the Group.

The Group accounts for business combinations using
the acquisition method when the acquired set of
activities and assets meets the definition of a business
and control is transferred to the Group. In determining
whether a particular set of activities and assets is a
business, the Group assesses whether the set of assets
and activities acquired includes, at a minimum, an input
and substantive processes and whether the acquired set
has the ability to produce outputs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2023 B ZE T —_=F=A=+—HILFE

4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(a)

Business combination and basis of consolidation
(continued)

The cost of an acquisition is measured at the aggregate
of the acquisition-date fair value of assets transferred,
liabilities incurred and equity interests issued by the
Group, as the acquirer. The identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed are principally measured at
acquisition-date fair value. The Group’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured
at acquisition-date fair value and the resulting gains
or losses are recognised in profit or loss. The Group
may elect, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, to
measure the non-controlling interests that represent
present ownership interests in the subsidiary either at
fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other non-controlling interests
are measured at fair value unless another measurement
basis is required by HKFRSs. Acquisition-related costs
incurred are expensed unless they are incurred in
issuing equity instruments in which case the costs are
deducted from equity.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by
the acquirer is recognised at acquisition-date fair
value. Subsequent adjustments to consideration are
recognised against goodwill only to the extent that
they arise from new information obtained within the
measurement period (a maximum of 12 months from the
acquisition date) about the fair value at the acquisition
date. All other subsequent adjustments to contingent
consideration classified as an asset or a liability are
recognised in profit or loss.

4.

EXRSHBERE )

(a)

EBREHRGERE (&)

WERATNIZMEBREE - MEL
BERAEE (ERWET) BT
ZBRAEGZARBRBZ 2 FER
BAtE - MKBRERNEENAA
AEARBEFEREBEHZAFE
AFE - ARBERAMBREEES
ZBAEANE BBz R EEHA
B MAEEZKamzERAINE
HHER AEEAIRERRFE
BARTFEXEEREED 2 #
PIEEFEL GG EIERER (A
BERERNMBAR A RER) -
ROFR AV BHREEANREERHE
fort EEE - TRIMAHMIFER
BEBBAFETE - FEEZHK
BHBRAE TAKE  BRIEXF
RATDRBETRATAREL - &
ZBERT - BEKATB#mET N
B o

WS KEEZEMNRAREBZK
BRAHZAFERR  HREKE
ZHBENHABRRERFTESR (K
EABKREBEHEF T -MEA) R
FMESAEBERKEAHRHZAFEZ
MERE  HUABE®RR - A
Hth D BREEXABBZHAKRE
ZHEABORBZTER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Forthe yearended 31 March2023 B ZE T —_=F=A=+—HILFE

4.

96

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(a)

Business combination and basis of consolidation
(continued)

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-
controlling interests that represent present ownership
interests in the subsidiary is the amount of those
interests at initial recognition plus such non-controlling
interest’s share of subsequent changes in equity. Non-
controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity,
separately from equity attributable to owners of the
Company. Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners
of the Company and to the non-controlling interests.
Total comprehensive income is attributed to such non-
controlling interests even if this results in those non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Group's interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control of the subsidiary are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying
amount of the Group's interests and the non-controlling
interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference
between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in
equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
gain or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the
subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. Amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for on the
same basis as would be required if the relevant assets
or liabilities were disposed of.
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4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company
is able to exercise control. The Company controls
an investee if all three of the following elements are
present: (i) power over the investee, (ii) exposure, or
rights, to variable returns from the investee, and (iii) the
ability to use its power to affect those variable returns.
Control is reassessed whenever facts and circumstances
indicate that there may be a change in any of these
elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries are
accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend
received and receivable.

Associates

The associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary
nor a joint venture. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but not control or joint control
over those policies.

Associates are accounted for using the equity method
whereby they are initially recognised at cost and
thereafter, their carrying amount are adjusted for the
Group's share of the post-acquisition change in the
associates’ net assets except that losses in excess of
the Group's interest in the associate are not recognised
unless there is an obligation to make good those losses.
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4.

98

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(c)

Associates (continued)

Profits and losses arising on transactions between the
Group and its associates are recognised only to the
extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate.
The investor's share in the associate’s profits and losses
resulting from these transactions is eliminated against
the carrying value of the associate.

Any premium paid for the associate above the fair value
of the Group's share of the identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities acquired is capitalised and
included in the carrying amount of the associate and the
entire carrying amount of the investment is subject to
impairment test, by comparing the carrying amount with
its recoverable amount, which is higher of value in use
and fair value less costs to sell.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in associates are carried at cost less
impairment losses, if any. The results of associates
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividends received and receivable during the year.
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4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(d)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its
purchase price and the costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset'’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as to
write off their cost net of expected residual value over
their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The
useful lives, residual value and depreciation method
are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period. The useful lives are as follows:

Over the shorter of the
lease term or 4 years

Leasehold improvements
Furniture and equipment 5 years

Computer equipment 5 years

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if its carrying amount is higher than the asset’s
estimated recoverable amount.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant
and equipment is the difference between the net sale
proceeds and its carrying amount, and is recognised in
profit or loss on disposal.
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4.

100

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(e)

Government grant

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will
be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets (including property, plant and
equipment) are recognised as deferred income in the
statement of financial position and transferred to profit
or loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful
lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation
for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable and are recognised as other revenue, rather
than reducing the related expense.
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4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Lease

The Group as a lessee

All leases are required to be capitalised in the
statement of financial position as right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities, but accounting policy choices
exist for an entity to choose not to capitalise (i) leases
which are short-term leases and/or (ii) leases for which
the underlying asset is of low-value. The Group has
elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for low-value assets and leases for which at
the commencement date have a lease term of less than
12 months. The lease payments associated with those
leases have been expensed on straight-line basis over
the lease term.

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset is recognised at cost, which
comprise: (i) the amount of the initial measurement of
the lease liability (see below for the accounting policy
to account for lease liability); (ii) any lease payments
made at or before the commencement date, less any
lease incentives received; (iii) any initial direct costs
incurred by the lessee; and (iv) an estimate of costs to
be incurred by the lessee in dismantling and removing
the underlying asset to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are
incurred to produce inventories. The Group measures
the right-of-use assets applying a cost model. Under the
cost model, the Group measures the right-of-use assets
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liability. Right-of-use assets are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.
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4.

102

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(f)

Lease (continued)

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid at the date of
commencement of the lease. The lease payments are
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if
that rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot
be readily determined, the Group uses the Group’s
incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right-to-use the
underlying asset during the lease term that is not paid
at the commencement date of the lease are considered
to be lease payments: (i) fixed payments less any lease
incentives receivable; (ii) variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using
the index or rate as at the commencement date; (iii)
amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees; (iv) the exercise price of a
purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain to
exercise that option; and (v) payments of penalties
for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the
lessee exercising an option to terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group
measures the lease liability by: (i) increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease
liability; (ii) reducing the carrying amount to reflect
the lease payments made; and (iii) remeasuring the
carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease
modifications, e.g., a change in future lease payments
arising from change in an index or rate, a change in the
lease term, a change in the in-substance fixed lease
payments or a change in assessment to purchase the
underlying asset.
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4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(9)

Financial instruments

(i)

Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable
without a significant financing component)
is initially measured at fair value plus, for an
item not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are
directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A
trade receivable without a significant financing
component is initially measured at the transaction
price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade date, that is,
the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirely when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group's business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets
at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest rate method. Interest
income, foreign exchange gains and losses and
impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any
gain on derecognition is recognised in profit or
loss.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
(9) Financial instruments (continued)
(i) Financial assets (continued)
Debt instruments (continued)

FVTOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest, are
measured at FVTOCI. Debt investments at FVTOCI
are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest
income calculated using the effective interest rate
method, foreign exchange gains and losses and
impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Other
net gains and losses are recognised in OCI. On
derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in

OCl are reclassified to profit or loss.

FVTPL: Financial assets at FVTPL include financial
assets held for trading, financial assets designated
upon initial recognition at FVTPL, or financial
assets mandatorily required to be measured at
fair value. Financial assets are classified as held
for trading if they are acquired for the purpose
of selling or repurchasing in the near term.
Derivatives, including separated embedded
derivatives, are also classified as held for trading
unless they are designated as effective hedging

instruments.
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4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(9)

Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

Financial assets (continued)

Debt instruments (continued)

Financial assets with cash flows that are not solely
payments of principal and interest are classified
and measured at FVTPL, irrespective of the
business model. Notwithstanding the criteria for
debt instruments to be classified at amortised
cost or at FVTOCI, as described above, debt
instruments may be designated at FVTPL on initial
recognition if doing so eliminates, or significantly
reduces, an accounting mismatch.

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment
that is not held for trading, the Company could
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes
in the investment's fair value in OCI. This election
is made on an investment-by-investment basis.
Equity investments at FVTOCI are measured at fair
value. Dividend income are recognised in profit or
loss unless the dividend income clearly represents
a recovery of part of the cost of the investments.
Other net gains and losses are recognised in
OCI and are not reclassified to profit or loss. All
other equity instruments are classified as FVTPL,
whereby changes in fair value, dividends and
interest income are recognised in profit or loss.
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4.

106

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(9)

Financial instruments (continued)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for
expected credit loss (“"ECL") on other receivables
and other financial assets measured at amortised
cost. The ECLs are measured on either of the
following bases: (1) 12 months ECLs: these are
the ECLs that result from possible default events
within the 12 months after the reporting date; and
(2) lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from
all possible default events over the expected life
of a financial instrument. The maximum period
considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum
contractual period over which the Company is
exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the
difference between all contractual cash flows
that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive. The shortfall is then discounted
at an approximation to the assets’ original
effective interest rate.

Loss allowances for other receivables and other
financial assets measured at amortised cost are
measured using HKFRS 9 general approach and
the ECLs are based on the 12-months ECLs.
However, when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since origination, the
allowance will be based on the lifetime ECLs.
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4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(9)

Financial instruments (continued)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)
When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial asset has increased significantly since
initial recognition and when estimating ECL, the
Group considers reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available
without undue cost or effort. This includes both
quantitative and qualitative information analysis,
based on the Group’s historical experience and
informed credit assessment and including forward-
looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a
financial asset has increased significantly if it is
more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be credit-
impaired when: (1) the borrower is unlikely to pay
its credit obligations to the Group in full, without
recourse by the Group to actions such as realising
security (if any is held): or (2) the financial asset is
more than 90 days past due.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets
is calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the
gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the
financial asset. For non credit-impaired financial
assets interest income is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(9) Financial instruments (continued)
(ili)  Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities,
depending on the purpose for which the liabilities
were incurred. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are
initially measured at fair value and financial
liabilities at amortised cost are initially measured
at fair value, net of directly attributable costs

incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including
other payables and accrued charges is
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method. The related interest
expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as

through the amortisation process.

(iv) Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset
or financial liability and of allocating interest
income or interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
or payments through the expected life of the
financial asset or liability, or where appropriate, a

shorter period.
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4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(9)

(h)

Financial instruments (continued)

(v)

(vi)

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct

issue costs.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when
the contractual rights to the future cash flows
in relation to the financial asset expire or when
the financial asset has been transferred and the
transfer meets the criteria for derecognition in
accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.

Where the Group issues its own equity instruments
to a creditor to settle a financial liability in whole
or in part as a result of renegotiating the terms
of that liability, the equity instruments issued
are the consideration paid and are recognised
initially and measured at their fair value on
the date the financial liability or part thereof
is extinguished. If the fair value of the equity
instruments issued cannot be reliably measured,
the equity instruments are measured to reflect the
fair value of the financial liability extinguished. The
difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability or part thereof extinguished and
the consideration paid is recognised in profit or
loss for the year.

Revenue recognition

Interest income is accrued on a timely basis on the

principal outstanding at the applicable interest rate.
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4.

110

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i)

Income taxes
Income taxes for the year comprise current tax and
deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary
activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable or
disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. Except
for goodwill and recognised assets and liabilities that
affect neither accounting nor taxable profits, deferred
tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Deferred tax is measured
at the tax rates appropriate to the expected manner
in which the carrying amount of the asset or liability
is realised or settled and that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of reporting period.

An exception to the general requirement on
determining the appropriate tax rate used in measuring
deferred tax amount is when an investment property
is carried at fair value under HKAS 40 "Investment
Property”. Unless the presumption is rebutted, the
deferred tax amounts on these investment properties
are measured using the tax rates that would apply on
sale of these investment properties at their carrying
amounts at the reporting date. The presumption is
rebutted when the investment property is depreciable
and is held within a business model whose objective
is to consume substantially all the economic benefits
embodied in the property over time, rather than
through sale.
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4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(i)

Income taxes (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled entities,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal
of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except
when they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income ("OCI") in which case the taxes
are also recognised in OCI.

Share-based payments

Where share options are awarded to employees and
others providing similar services that are vested at
the date of grant, the fair value of the share options
granted is expensed immediately to profit or loss with
a corresponding increase in the share option reserve
within equity.

When the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred
to accumulated profit or loss.
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4.

112

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

(k)

Impairment of other assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of the following assets
to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss or an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists
or may have decreased:

o Property, plant and equipment;
° Right-of-use assets; and
. Investment in subsidiaries and the associate

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair
value less costs to sell and value in use) of an asset
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised

as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, to the extent that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income immediately.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, which will probably result in an outflow of
economic benefits that can be reasonably estimated.
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4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
(m) Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Short term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are employee
benefits (other than termination benefits) that
are expected to be settled wholly before twelve
months after the end of the annual reporting
period in which the employees render the
related service. Short term employee benefits
are recognised in the year when the employees
render the related service.

Defined contribution retirement plans
Contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans are recognised as an expense in profit
or loss when the services are rendered by the
employees.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised on the
earlier of when the Group can no longer withdraw
the offer of those benefits and when the Group
recognises restructuring costs involving the
payment of termination benefits.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances

and short-term deposits and highly liquid investments

with maturities of three months or less from the date

of acquisition that are subject to an insignificant risk of

changes in their fair value, and are used by the Group in

the management of its short-term commitments. For the

purpose of the statement of cash flows, bank overdrafts

that are repayable on demand and that form an integral

part of the Group's cash management are included in

cash and cash equivalents.
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4.

114

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(o)

Foreign currency translation

(i)

(ii)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of
each of the Group’s entities are measured
using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
("HK$"), which is the Company ‘s functional and
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated
into the functional currency on initial recognition
using the exchange rates prevailing on the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in
foreign currencies are translated at the exchange
rates at the end of each reporting period. Gains
and losses resulting from this translation policy are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. The
transaction date is the date on which the entity
initially recognises such non-monetary assets or
liabilities. Non-monetary items that are measured
at fair value in foreign currencies are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates when the
fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item
is recognised in other comprehensive income,
any exchange component of that gain or loss
is recognised in other comprehensive income.
When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item
is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange
component of that gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.
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4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(o)

Foreign currency translation (continued)

(iii)

Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different
from the Company’s presentation currency are
translated into the Company’s presentation
currency as follows:

— Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement
of financial position;

— Income and expenses are translated at
average exchange rates for the period
(unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses
are translated at the exchange rates on the
transaction dates); and

— All resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in the exchange reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of monetary items that form
part of the net investment in foreign entities are
recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the exchange reserve. When
a foreign operation is sold, such exchange
differences are reclassified to consolidated profit
or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal.
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4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
(p) Related parties

(@) A person or a close member of that person’s
family is related to the Group if that person:

() has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of key management personnel
of the Group or the Company's parent.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions apply:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

(i) One entity is the associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or the associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

(i)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.
(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity

and the other entity is the associate of the
third entity.
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4.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

(p)

Related parties (continued)

(b)

(continued))

(v)

(viii)

The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of the employees of the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
key management personnel of the entity (or
of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group's parent.

Close members of the family of a person are

those family members who may be expected to

influence, or be influenced by, that person in their

dealings with the entity and include:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

that person’s children and spouse or
domestic partner;

children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

dependents of that person or that person’s
spouse or domestic partner.
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5.

118

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future and other sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of reporting period that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year are discussed below.

Estimation of impairment loss recognised in respect
of other receivables and other financial assets at
amortised cost

The Group individually assesses the ECL for other receivables
and other financial assets at amortised cost. The impairment
allowances are based on assumptions about risk of default
and ECL rates. The Group makes its estimates based on
the ageing of its loan balances, debtors’ creditworthiness,
historical write-off experience and existing market condition
including forward-looking estimates as at the reporting date.
If the financial condition of its debtors was to deteriorate
so that the actual impairment loss might be higher than
expected, the Group would be required to revise the basis of
making the allowance and its future results would be affected.
The information about the ECL and the Group’s other
receivables and other financial assets at amortised cost are
disclosed in notes 37, 22 and 18 to the consolidated financial
statements respectively.

Fair value of financial assets at FVTOCI| and FVTPL

As at 31 March 2023, the Group's unlisted investments in
convertible bonds classified as financial assets at FVTPL
and unlisted equity securities classified as financial assets at
FVTOCI, amounting to approximately HK$15,180,000 (2022:
HK$16,280,000) and HK$48,304,000 (2022: HK$4,297,000)
respectively, are measured at fair value which cannot be
derived from active markets. In the absence of an active
market, the directors use their judgement in selecting
an appropriate valuation technique for those financial
instruments not quoted in an active market. The fair value
measurement valuation methodologies require the adoption
of some assumptions not supported by observable market
prices and rates. Changes in assumptions about these factors
could affect the reported fair value of financial instruments.
Further disclosures are set out in notes 20, 21(b) and 37 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Annual Report 4F ¥ 2023

5.

BT Z TS ERREERR
RESWRE - ABEARBTERE
ERBEREGEE T —EMRFELR
RBBEZAMAKRZ EBHEI KM
TEEAREMIORTRMT -

MEBBERATTE 2 HMBYRREARSE
ftb Bt 35 B E R AR E B R A5

AEEERFERBERANGTEZE M
EWHRAMEMMBEERREESE -
HEBRGBREEBEORRIALBEBRE
EEBREMRRE - AEERBER
EHNKREK BEBAGEE - BEME
REBLEBTRELHES (BREREBE
BEm A IEERET) - MEHSAPBR
RBLEUABRERREEREXIESRE
B AEBESHERTIREBEBEE - H
ARXEBRITE - ERABEHEES
BRASBZBHEKAFTEZHEMBRER
REREMHBEENER D RES
AR MAR M RE37 - 2R18HKEE -

BEATEFAEHMEEZAKERIZAF
Bt \EBEEEEBEC K EEN QI TE
R-ZE-_=ZF=ZA=Z+—H A&EH
RoBRZEAFHEHFATEZEE M
BEEMIURRESNIIELTERERD
HAEREAFEFTATCTEMA A KT EIE
CHBEENELETRABSFD N A
15,180,000 7T (=& = — 4F : 16,280,000
7 JT) 148,304,000 7t (— T = —
42970008 L) » EAFEE L8 ER
MHEWME - WEETRME @ EFERY
B AZEWEITRMBERENT B TR
hBEEMGHERMN - R FEFTEHE
FAEBERBUYENERMBERREE
EMTEFENETERR - BEZZEEREW
BREEH ey ELRIAEZEHRAF
B - #E—PHEBRHERGE T BRERMT
20 ~ 21(b) }237 °
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6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION 6.

An operating segment is a component of the Group that is
engaged in business activities from which the Group may
earn revenue and incur expenses, and is identified on the
basis of the internal management reporting information that
is provided to and regularly reviewed by the Group’s chief
operating decision maker in order to allocate resources
and assess performance of the segment. For the years
ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, the information reported
to the executive directors, who are the chief operating
decision makers, for the purpose of resource allocation and
assessment of performance do not contain profit or loss
information of each business line or geographical area and
the executive directors reviewed the financial results of the
Group as a whole reported under HKFRSs. Therefore, the
executive directors have determined that the Group has only
one single operating and reportable segment as the Group is
only engaged in investment holding. The executive directors
allocate resources and assess performance on an aggregated
basis. Accordingly, no operating segment information is
presented.

The following table provides an analysis of the Group's
revenue and non-current assets including property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and interest in the associate
(i.e. "specified non-current assets”) by geographical locations,
determined based on physical location of the assets or
location of operations in case of interest in the associate, as
follows:

REDER/AEEM = AU A R E
ERXZEB RS 2ERED - THRE
AEBIBZLZERRERRUALENE
BILNEL RS BEREFHRE AR
BEEEWEHB - BE_T_=ZFL
"R _FZRA=+—HLEFE  ®E
BOEMRKRBAFEMS - ARTES (A
TBLEBRRE) REZERTEBES
EBRIIMBR ZENRERER - M
HITEFCEHNASERET BN KM
SEANERZBEUBKES - At - 4
TEFCLETASEER BE—KZ
EA#ELR  REASAEEERER
BER - ATESFHAHEENRER
REHERE - At - HE2KEHE
B o

TERREAREEERUEXEBKLEM
i (NBRBERR 2 ER) MET
BUEBSD 2 AKBERENFRDEE
(BREME  BELRE ERREEE
AERBERRz#Em (B HEHFRE
BE])) zofa® :

Revenue from Specified
external customers non-current assets
RENAREE 2 W& BEXRBEE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-=E —ET--F ZBZ=ZE <—T--F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET TERT TET
Hong Kong (place of domicile) BB (2EHE) - S 26 -
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7. REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME 7. WaEkHMWA
2023 2022
—E-= —_E-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAET
Revenue W &= = =
Other income: H A -
Bank interest income H|ITHE WA - 3
Government subsidy (note) B 48 Bh (B 5E) 111 =
Interest income from other financial assets IZ# $#55k A5t & 2 H b 8 7%
at amortised cost BAEA B KA 9,519 4,999
Exchange gain B 5 U &5 - 4,696
Waiver of amount due to a former director #®EN — B ATE F 2 3K E 600 =
Others H ity 101 402
10,331 10,100
Total revenue and other income W w B H b U A 42 58 10,331 10,100
No other source of income contributed to the Group's HEZZ-_=-"FR-ZZT-__FItFE -
revenue for the years ended 2023 and 2022. WM EMBARIRAARERFERLE o
Note: M &
Government subsidy under the employment support scheme was granted EEFEBRFRCOVID-19 MM ERIBE M %
from HKSAR Government in relation to the employment during COVID-19 TR EERBTME MY ERSRELT
without unfulfilled conditions or other contingencies attaching to the MRS M R EIE o
subsidies.

8. IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER THE ECL MODEL, 8. FAHEEEEEXTREEE 5

NET OF REVERSAL BRIBEI
2023 2022
—EC-=E —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Impairment losses, (net of reversal) on: DTE&EZBEEIE
(MBRER)
Interest receivable & UL F) B - (2,400)
Other financial assets at amortised cost HEEKAGTEZHEHMTHB
BE 7,564 3,670
Deposits paid ENES (877) (25,692)
6,687 (24,422)
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9.

10.

FINANCE COSTS

§t % B AN

2023 2022

—E-=F B F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET TAT

Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEAGENMNERX 263 97
Interest expenses on bonds BHFEHNFERX 2,569 2,175
2,832 2,272

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Pursuant to the Inland Revenue (Amendment) Bill 2017,
profits tax rate for the first HK$2 million of assessable
profits of corporations is lowered to 8.25% with the excess
assessable profits continue to be taxed at 16.5%. Overseas
tax is calculated at the rates applicable in the respective
jurisdictions. No provision for income tax expense is required
since the Group has no assessable profits either arising from
Hong Kong or other jurisdictions during the year (2022: Nil).

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the
loss before income tax expense per consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

10. FRIEBIMAX

BRE_FT—EFEHRB (BF]) GUESR -
CEERBEN EB2A BB TR NEHRHK
TG HIEE825% » BBHMERDEN
Al 4 1B 1216.5% B R TR IR » B IMBR
FHREBRAERBERREAE - AR
AEENAFREYERAEF B L EMA
B ZERB OGN - WBAFELHAE
MAXEE (ZF=_—_F: 8®) -

AEERERETREABERBR
HlaEAB A EHREAERAYE
m -

2023 2022
—EC-= T

HK$'000 HK$'000

THERT FHET

Loss before income tax expense bR FT15 B X Al B 1B (22,802) (20,010)
Tax calculated at the applicable statutory 1REAEEH Rt & 2 B 1A

tax rates (3,762) (3,302)

Tax effect of income not taxable BERBVBRA B G ZE (2,004) -

Tax effect of expenses not deductible TAMBEREZ 2 BT E 2,564 825

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AERBTEEBE G E 2,540 -
Tax effect of deductible temporary RERUTENERZHB M

differences not recognised B & 662 2,477

Income tax expense

T 18 B X

At the end of reporting period, the Group had unused tax
losses of approximately HK$240,921,000 (2022: approximately
HK$225,520,000) available for offset against future profits
that may be carried forward indefinitely. The tax losses are
subject to the final assessment of Hong Kong Inland Revenue
Department. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
respect of the unused tax losses due to unpredictability of
future profit streams.

RB|EBMAR AEEBERDAREBS
18 49240,921,0008 T (Z & = = F : &
225,520,000/ 7t) - ALK H R RO A
BrRAIERELEE - HIEBEEEREBH
BRETHRETME - AR EFARK
wm AR E - B R B A A A B iR T
RIELEFIBEE °
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 10. FrS®iBE< (4
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible REmERR  XEBETENEREZFLY
temporary differences of approximately HK$8,184,000 (2022: 48,184,000/ ot (— & — — % 4,173,000
HK$4,173,000). No deferred tax asset has been recognised BIT) o BRI KA BEES AT A 2R IK 88
in relation to such deductible temporary as it is not probable AEMEREZFENERTESN - Bt
that taxable profit will be available against which the MRS EERRAREEMIES
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. E e
11. LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE 1. BRFAEBAXAIER
Loss before income tax expense is stated after charging the BRETEBAIAEELENEG T SIEE
following: 5 B -
2023 2022
—E-= —_F-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FAT
Staff costs 8 TR
Salaries e 4,220 4,139
Provident fund contributions BEEHK 105 108
Share based payment expenses - X N3 - 2,762
Total staff costs excluding directors’ B TR AR
remunerations (TEEEEMHS) 4,325 7,009
Auditor’s remuneration % E A B & 470 420
Depreciation e
Property, plant and equipment WM - BELRERBE 89 15
Right-of-use assets CREEE S 707
Directors’ remuneration (note 14) EEMe (MHE14)
— fees — s 1,723 1,685
— Share based payment expenses — i EAMEX = 8,364
Investment manager's fee REKEER 480 160
Short-term leases CEEE 1,154 5,473
Share based payment expenses excluding WM XX (FBEF A
those included in staff costs and directors’ B TKANRE=MEE)
remunerations - 1,686
Net exchange losses fEREEFRE 11,364 -
Impairment of property, WME - HEKERERE
plant and equipment” 60 314
Impairment of right-of-use assets’ EREEERE" 5 3,537

o These items are included in “administrative and other expenses”

in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.
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12.

13.

DIVIDENDS
The directors do not recommend the payment of any
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company is
based on the following data:

12.

13.

R B

EEfEENRBE_T_=F=A
St+t-BLEFERNEMERE (ZF

TZF E) o

FRER
ARAEBEHEBBEAREEREAR
BEERDRAT RSN E

2023 2022
—F=-= —ZT—_—
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET THET
(Restated)
(r2&751)
Loss & B
Loss for the year attributable to owners of HARFTEERERREFEE
the Company for the purposes of basic B2AREIHEBAEER
and diluted loss per share FEEE (22,802) (20,010)
Number of shares KR4 & A
Weighted average number of ordinary ARAESREAREEE
shares for the purposes of basic and BzEBRMETHEH
diluted loss per share 280,437,533 186,378,612

Note:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue and basic and
diluted loss per share were stated after taking into account the effect
of the share consolidation in February 2023, whereby every 10 ordinary
shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company were being
consolidated into 1 consolidated share of HK$0.10 each. Comparative
figures have been retrospectively adjusted on the assumption that the
above share consolidation had been effective in prior year.

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the year ended 31
March 2022 for the purposes of basic and diluted loss per share have also
been retrospectively adjusted for the bonus element of the rights issue of
shares during the year ended 31 March 2022 which was completed on 20
July 2021, as detailed in note 27.

The computation of diluted loss per share for both years did not assume
the exercise of the Company’s outstanding share options since it would
result in a decrease in loss per share. Therefore, the diluted loss per share
is the same as the basic loss per share for both years.

GEE

ERETEARNEFLFHEREREARESHE
TEtRZE=F - ANRMDAHNFERIIR -
ARARBRAFFIORETRONBTHNEBRES
HAEIKRERIOGETHAHKND - LEHEFE
EBRELABRGEHRBEFEAROBRT
ETEHAE -

REREARESEENS  HEZ-ZT=-=-F
A=+t ALFENLTBERMEFTHEITEH
Tt A-tHERHNEE_T=-_—

A=+ BULFEERRAFNIESETEPFE
R EE27

AEMBFENERETERY RBRRTER
REHARITENOBERE - THRESERER
EEREL - Bt MEFESREEHEES
REAREERMER -
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14. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS' EMOLUMENTS

124

(a)

Directors’ emoluments
Directors’ emoluments for the year, disclosed
pursuant to Section 383 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, (Cap. 622) and the Companies (Disclosure
of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation
(Cap. 622@) are as follows:

14. EERLEBREHFALTZHES

(a)

EEMS

BEEBRBIEG (F622F) F383
EERAT (WEEEFNFER) R
Bl (F622GE) TUBBEZ KNFE
BT

2023 2022
—E-= —EF--
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Fees ZiaRc A

Executive directors WITES 715 360
Non-executive directors FEMITES 560 836
Independent non-executive directors B FEHITE S 448 489
1,723 1,685
Basic salaries and other benefits EAXFH e & EMEF = S

Contributions to retirement R R TR B &8 K
benefit scheme - =
Share based payment i 13 & 1~F - 8,364
1,723 10,049

No directors had waived any emoluments and no
emoluments were paid to the directors as inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation
for loss of office during the year (2022: Nil).

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were mainly for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the
Group. The non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were mainly for their services as directors of the
Company or its subsidiaries. The independent non-
executive directors’ emoluments shown above were

mainly for their services as directors of the Company.
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Forthe yearended 31 March2023 B ZE T —_=F=A=+—HILFE

14. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS' EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a)

Directors’ emoluments (continued)

14. EERAEREHFALTZME ©)

(a) EE=M< (£

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 17 (2022: ERNHEMNTRE (ZEZZ2F 17
17) directors are as follows: H)ESZHEeWT ¢
2023 —BI=HF
Employer's
contribution Share
Salaries and  to pension based
Fees other benefit scheme payment Total
Hek EBiRedd
he  HMRA 0 BEIHE RexA @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER FER
Executive directors: HITES .
Chan Cheong Yee REE 360 - - - 360
Chan Yiu Pun Clement (note (xviii) BRIBH (B & (wvii)) 355 - - - 355
Non-executive directors: FHTES:
Deng Dongping (note (xv)) HRT (M) 120 - - - 120
Gao Yun (note (i) BE (M) 30 = = = 30
Han Zhenghai Efﬁﬂi}i 120 - - - 120
Li Jiangtao (note (ii)) TEE (M) 2 - - - 2
Liu Lihan (note (i) %\u/% (W i) 120 - - - 120
Zhu Zhikun (note (vii) Kol (Mt (i) 120 - - - 120
Lyu Ping (note (xix)) B (B xix) 48 = = S 48
Zhang Junze (note (xx)) REERE (F5Exx) - S = = -
Independent non-executive directors: BUFHMES:
Kan Yat Kit (note (viii)) a5 (viii)) 2 = = = 2
Chen Shunging (note (xvi)) BIEE (B aE (xvi) 70 - - - 70
Lok Chiu Chan (note (xi) SBRE () 36 - - - 36
Mo Li (note (xii) B (M & (xii) 120 - - - 120
Shi Zhu (note (xiii)) A (B (xiii) 120 - - - 120
Yuan Wei (note (xiv)) 5 (M5 (aiv) 37 - - - 37
Mo Xiuping (note (xvi)) BH (M2 (xvii) 63 - - - 63
Total @it 1,723 - - - 1,723

Annual Report F i 2023

125



China Investment Development Limited ® /1 B % & [ 2 B R A 7]

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2023 B ZE T —_=F=A=+—HILFE

14. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS' EMOLUMENTS (continued)

14. EERAEREHFALTZHME ©)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued) (a) EE=M< (£
2022 —ECCF
Employer's
contribution Share
Salaries and ~ to pension based
Fees other benefit scheme payment Total
ek RAKeiE
we  EtEN  BIHX  ROHXA @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TATL TATL TAT TATL TAT

Executive director: HTES !
Chan Cheong Yee REE 360 - - - 360
Non-executive directors: FHTEE:
Deng Dongping (note (xv)) BT (3 x) 120 - - 1,161 1,281
Gao Yun (note (i) BE (M) 78 = = 674 752
Han Zhenghai E&E}t 120 = = 1,252 1,372
Li Jiangtao (note (ii) ZEE (M) % - - 1,268 1,362
Liu Lihan (note (i) 23 % (M) 120 = = 1,161 1,281
Yan Peng (note (iv)) EF AGEID) 90 - - 855 945
Yang Xiao Qiu (note (v)) BB () 104 = = 855 959
Zeng Xiaohui (note (vi)) DERE (M) 32 = = = kY,
Zhu Zhikun (note (vii) §R 8 (F3E i) 78 = = 674 752
Independent non-executive directors: BUFYTES:
Kan Yat Kit (note (viii) AR (0 2 (viii) 86 = = 116 202
Lai Yuen Piu (note (ix)) RER (WiEx) 55 = = 85 140
Leung Mei Hing Carrie (note (x)) 2 (M) 25 = = = 25
Lok Chiu Chan (note (xi)) SRAE (Fitat(xi) 86 = = 116 202
Mo Li (note (xii) B (W5 (xil) 9 = = 85 180
Shi Zhu (note (xiii)) A (B & (xiii) 78 - - 31 109
Yuan Wei (note (xiv)) R& (3t (iv) 64 = = 3 95
Total &5t 1,685 = = 8,364 10,049
The number of directors whose remuneration fell within MENFIUNTHEE yEEAHNOT
the following band is as follows:
2023 2022
—E-=HE —E %
Nil — HK$1,000,000 = 21,000,000/ JT 17 13
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ Tt &
1,500,0003% 7T - 4
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For the year ended 31

March2023 HE-—FE-_=F=A=+—HILtFEE

14. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS' EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a)

Notes:

0]

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vii)

(vii)

(ix)

(xi)

(xii)
(xiii)

(xiv)

(xvii)

(xviii)

(xix)

Directors’ emoluments (continued)

Mr. Gao Yun has been appointed as a non-executive
director of the board on 6 August 2021 and resigned on 7
September 2022.

Ms. Li Jiangtao has been appointed as a non-executive
director of the board on 17 June 2021 and resigned on 6
April 2022.

Mr. Liu Lihan has been re-designated as a non-executive
director of the board on 12 July 2021.

Mr. Yan Peng has appointed as a non-executive director
of the board on 13 November 2020 and resigned on 30
December 2021.

Ms. Yang Xiao Qiu resigned as a non-executive director of
the board on 13 February 2022.

Mr. Zeng Xiaohui has been appointed as a non-executive
director of the board on 20 September 2021 and resigned
on 20 December 2021.

Mr. Zhu Zhikun has been appointed as a non-executive
director of the board on 6 August 2021.

Mr. Kan Yat Kit has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the board on 12 July 2021 and resigned
on 6 April 2022.

Mr. Lai Yuen Piu retired as an independent non-executive
director of the board on 16 September 2021.

Ms. Leung Mei Hing Carrie resigned as an independent non-
executive director of the board on 17 June 2021.

Mr. Lok Chiu Chan has been appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the board on 12 July 2021 and
resigned on 22 July 2022.

Ms. Mo Li has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the board on 17 June 2021.

Mr. Shi Zhu has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the board on 6 August 2021.

Mr. Yuan Wei has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the board on 20 September 2021 and
resigned on 22 July 2022.

Mr. Deng Dongping has been re-designated as a non-
executive director of the board on 12 July 2021.

Ms. Chen Shunging has been appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the board on 27 July 2022.

Mr. Mo Xiuping has been appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the board on 19 April 2022 and has
been re-designated as non-executive director of the board
on 19 April 2023.

Mr. Chan Yiu Pun Clement has been appointed as executive
director of the board on 6 April 2022.

Mr. Lyu Ping has been appointed as non-executive director
of the board on 7 November 2022.

Mr. Zhang Junze has been appointed as non-executive
director of the board on 27 July 2022 and resigned on 17
November 2022.

14. EERAEREHFALTZME ©)

(a) EZBE (@)
3 -

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vii)

(vii)

(ix)

(xi)

(xii)

(xiii)

(xiv)

(xvii)

(xviii)

(xix)

SELXHER-_T-_—ENASAE
ZEREFGHFNTES - R
TZFNAELBBET -
TEELTIN -_ZE-_—FEXA++
AEZAAESSHNTES - I
RZZEZ__FMHANRNBEIE -
By B AN —_E-_—F LA+
AAERESGHNTES -
BEEER _ZE_TF+—A+=
AEZAARESSHENTES © I
RZE-_—F+-_F=1+BBIE -
BBREMLIR T -—F-A+=
AREESTSINTES o
EEBEER _T=—FNAZ=F
AEZAARESTSHENTES - I
RZBEZ—F+ZAZ+TBEE -
RABBEAEN -_ZT-_—F/\A KA
BETRESSHNITES
MR EERN _—_T-_—&Ft/+=
ARZEREETEBEIINTES
IR _ZT__FMANBBT -
REFEENR_T-_—FNLAB+~
ARTESTEBIUFNTES -
2EBLETR_ZT=-_—F~A+t
ARTESEBIUFNTES -
BEEETER_T-_—FtA+=
AEZARESEBIUIENTES
WRZZEZZFEtAZ+ZBHT -
BHutN_BE-_—FEXXA++tH
BRETRESTEBIIFNTES -
EREER-_TS-_—ENABE
ZERESEBLIFENTES -
EREEN_ZE-_—FALA=-1H
EZITAESEBIFRNTES -
WRZZTZZFLtAZ+ZBHTE -
BREEER_TE=Z—FLA+=
AATARESEESHENTES -
BEEZXTR -_ZET-__F+ A8
Z+LtHEZAREEEBIEHR
TESE -
EXENLTRN_TE_—_FMAB+H
AEZEREZEBE TFNTES -
WYWR_ZFE-_=FMWA+ILBHAER
BEEQHPTES -
BREWEER _T=-__FMANAH
BEZETARESTEWITES -
BERENR—_ZBE-_—F+—H+H
BEETRESLINTES -
REEZEEAEN_T -+ A
—t+ttHEZARESCENTE
§éﬁ%:§::¢+_ﬂ+ta
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Forthe yearended 31 March2023 B ZE T —_=F=A=+—HILFE

14. DIRECTORS’ AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 14, EERABBEFALIZHME (&)

INDIVIDUALS" EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals’ emoluments
The emoluments of the five highest paid individuals
(which include none of directors (2022: 4)) were as

(b)

TEBREHFALZHE
hEEeHAL (EPEETE (=
F__F4R)EF)2HEm

follows: N

2023 2022
—E=-= —EF -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
Basic salaries and other benefits HEA#H 2 K EMEF 2,504 1,502
Contributions to retirement ROKE FEH 8 R

benefit scheme 6 12
Share based payment g 13 & 14 - 4,842
2,510 6,356

The number of the five highest paid individuals whose
remuneration fell within the following bands is as

MeENFUTEEZAERSHA
THBWT :

follows:
2023 2022
—E-=F —EFE-=
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = %=1,000,0007% 7T 5 -
HK$1,000,001 to 1,000,001 7T =
HK$1,500,000 1,500,0007% JT - 5

There was no arrangement under which any of the
five (2022: five) highest paid employees had waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to any of the directors or the highest paid
employees as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group, or as compensation for loss of office.
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China Investment Development Limited ® f B % & [ 2 B R A A)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2023 B ZE T —_=F=A=+—HILFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. MI% - BERRE
Leasehold  Furniture and Computer
improvements equipment equipment Total
HENXEE  BARRE S st
HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
TEL TR THT TR
At 1 April 2021 R-B--FHA-H
Cost A - 76 106 182
Accumulated depreciation ZiE - (72) 97) (169)
Net carrying amount REFE = 4 9 13
Year ended 31 March 2022 BE-2-C-F
ZR=t-AL%E
Opening net carrying amount HRERE = 4 9 13
Addition nE 216 65 35 316
Depreciation il = ) (1) (15)
Impairment RE (216) (65) (33) (314
Closing net carrying amount HREEFE . = - -
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 R-B-ZF=A=+1-H
kR-2--%MA-AH
Cost AR - - - -
Accumulated depreciation 2t E = = = =
Net carrying amount RmFE - S = 2
Year ended 31 March 2023 BE-2-=fF
ZA=t-HLEE
Opening net carrying amount BRI E - - S =
Addition RE 149 26 - 175
Depreciation e (89) S = (89)
Impairment HE (60) = = (60)
Closing net carrying amount BREETE - 26 - 26
At 31 March 2023 R-BZ=ZF=A=t1-H
Cost A 149 26 - 175
Accurnulated depreciation 2itHE (89) - - (89)
Accumulated impairment ZERME (60) S = (60)
Net carrying amount REFE - 26 - 26
Note: Impairment assessment is disclosed in note 17 to the consolidated MisE : RET GRS M IEIRE M 178, E -

financial statements.
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16.

130

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 16. AMBARIZIRE

Particulars of Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March RZE_=Z=F=ZA=+—Bk=-ZT=-_=

2023 and 31 March 2022 are as follows: FZA=Z=+—BARAETENB QA F
BT

Attributable equity interests held

by the Company
RAFMEEGERE
2023 2022
Place of incorporation/  Issued and fully —BC=E —ZC-z

Name operation paid share capital ~ Direct Indirect  Direct Indirect ~ Principal activities
i1 EMRL/EEEE CRORBZRE B [k Bk g TEXE
China Equity Assets Holdings Limited” Hong Kong HK$1 - - 100% - Investment holding
PEREEEREERAR &b 1B REZRK
Master Smooth Investment Hong Kong HKS1 - 100% - 100%  Investment holding

Development Limited
ERREZRARLA &R 1A REAR
Eternal Fame Industrial Limited? Hong Kong HK$10,000 - - - 100%  Investment holding
KEEEXBRARD BB 10,0007 T REZR
Able Surplus Corporation Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100% - 100%  Investment holding
ERAXARDA BB 10,0007 ¢ REZRK
Smart Access Capital Limited British Virgin Islands US$100  100% - 100% - Investment holding

("BVI")/Hong Kong

Smart Access Capital Limited ERERBE /BB 100%7T RERR
Urban Thrive Limited? BVI/Hong Kong US$50,000 - - 100% - Investment holding
Urban Thrive Limited? RBREREE/EA 50,000% T REER
Moonglory International Properties  BVI/Hong Kong US$50,000  100% - 100% - Investment holding

Limited
Moonglory International Properties ~ RB#FEE /&% 50,000% 7T REHR

Limited
Giant Treasure Global Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% - 100% - Dormant
Giant Treasure Global Limited ERERBE /BB (E3 TEXH
Ray Wealth Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100% - 100%  Dormant
ERERAA &R iy TEXH
Global Oasis Corporation Limited Hong Kong HK$1 100% - 100% - Dormant
BREXRARAH &b 12T TEXH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2023 B ZE T —_=F=A=+—HILFE
16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 16. RBRATIZRE (&)

Attributable equity interests held

by the Company
RAFMEEERE
2023 2022
Place of incorporation/  Issued and fully —BC=E “EoF
Name operation paid share capital ~ Direct Indirect ~ Direct Indirect  Principal activities
i1 EfEY/ EEHE BROIRAZRE B [k Bk fE TEXR
Fu Hao Investment Consulting The Republic of China Nil - 100% - 100%  Dormant
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd."¢ ("PRC")
BERABA (RY) BRRAY  HEARLANE z LEXH
(rE])
China Zhongzi Zhiyuan Technology ~ BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% - 100% - Dormant
Co., Ltd.
PERERENRBERAT REARRE/EE 1% LEXH
China Tianzhi Market Management ~ BVI/Hong Kong US$1 - - 100% - Dormant
Co., Ltd:*
TEXETSEEERERAR EBARER/ER (E3 TEXHK
China Dingrun Supply Chain Co., Ltd.  BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% - 100% - Dormant
PERBMEEERAA ABRRER/FH (Ee LEXH
Beijing China Zhiyuan Technology Hong Kong HK$100 - 100% - 100%  Dormant
Co., Ltd.
EIRPEHEMRERAA &b 1008 7T TEXH
Guangzhou Dingrun Supply Chain Hong Kong HK$100 - 100% - 100%  Dormant
Co., Ltd.
ENTSERERERAA &R 10078 7T TEXH
China Investment Limited® Anguilla US$1 - - 100% - Dormant
PEREBRAAS REH 1% LEXH
China Investment Assets Co., Limited  Hong Kong HK$100 - 100% - 100%  Dormant
PERAEEARAA B 100787 TEXH
China Investment Finance Co., Ltd>  Hong Kong HK$100 - - - 100%  Dormant
PEREAERNERAAS &b 10087 LEXH
Guangzhou Tianzhi Market Hong Kong HK$100 - - - 100%  Dormant
Management Co., Ltd.*
EMNXBTREEERARAT FA 1008 7T TEXH
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Forthe yearended 31 March2023 B ZE T —_=F=A=+—HILFE
16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 16. RBRATIZRE (&)

Attributable equity interests held

by the Company
RAFMEEERE
2023 2022
Place of incorporation/  Issued and fully —BC=E “EoF
Name operation paid share capital ~ Direct Indirect ~ Direct Indirect  Principal activities
i1 EfEY/ EEHE BROIRAZRE B [k Bk fE TEXR
China Emergency Rescue Investment ~ BVI US$1 100% - 100% - Dormant
Group Co., Ltd.
TERSHEREEEERLA  ABARES B TEXH
Global Listing Alliance Co., Limited,  Hong Kong HK$100 - 100% - 100%  Dormant
(formerly know as “Dingrunze Co.,
Limited”)
PR ETHEAERAA ) 100 7T EEXH
(FIBARERARAF)
China Zhongzhixie Emergency Rescue  BVI US$1 100% - 100% - Dormant
Development Co., Ltd.
PERSHESHERRARLA REBARES 1% TEXH
China Creation Investment Group Hong Kong HK$100 - 100% = 100%  Dormant
Holdings Limited (formerly know as
"Hong Gaocheng Co., Limited”)
TRAZREREARRERLA  FB 1007 TEXH
(FRAERAERAR)
Jiang Su Hao Lie Guang Dian Ke Ji  PRC Nil - - = 100%  Dormant
Co., Ltd.1s7
LEEEERRARA RS PE Z TEXH
Shengshi Venture Capital Holding PRC Nil - 100% N/A N/A~ Dormant
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd."8
BHRIRER (RI) BRAA:  HE z TER  TER EBEXH
Zhanjiang Shengshi Venture Home ~ PRC Nil - 100% N/A N/A~ Dormant
Appliances Co., Ltd."?
RIRUARKERRAA PE g TER  TER EBEXH
Ruijie Consulting Services (Shenzhen) ~ PRC Nil - 100% N/A N/A Dormant
Co., Ltd."0
ERBARSE (RI) BRAA  HE z TER TER LEXH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2023 B ZE T —_=F=A=+—HILFE
16. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 16. RBRATIZRE (&)

Attributable equity interests held

by the Company
KRRMGELRE
2023 2022
Place of incorporation/  Issued and fully —BC=E “EoF

Name operation paid share capital ~ Direct Indirect ~ Direct Indirect  Principal activities

8 MR/ EEHYE CRORMEIRA EE Gk B# Ak TEER

Fuhao Technology (Guangzhou) Co.,  PRC RMB50,000 - 100% N/A N/A Dormant

Ltd."

EERBEMERAA t AR 50,0007 @R TER EEXER

Notes: P&t -

1. Registered as a wholly foreign-owned enterprise under PRC law. 1. BREPEEEZMAINEBEELE -

2. On 31 October 2022, the Group disposed of 100% equity interest 2. RZEFEZZF+A=+—8 " X&EEMN
in the subsidiary at cash consideration of HK$20,000. 200008 TR @ RE L& /H it B A A

100% A% 7

3. On 31 October 2022, the Group disposed of 100% equity interest 3. RZE-_—_F+A=+—8 "  A£BEIHN

in the subsidiaries at cash consideration of HK$35,000. BB TR ERELEHLWE R F
100% A% 7

4. On 17 June 2022, the Group disposed of 100% equity interest in 4. E@ T ZFRA+EH - AEEBI00

the subsidiaries at cash consideration of approximately HK$100. BLHRERELSEENRE D F100% K&
e

5. On 21 April 2022, the Group disposed of 100% equity interest in 5. RZE-_—_FWA=-+—H8  AEBEIKN

the subsidiaries at cash consideration of HK$1. 1ETTHRERE LS HNE QR F100% R
-

6. The authorised share capital of the subsidiary as at 31 March 2023 6. ZHMBRARAR-_ZTE_=F=A=+—H E’J
was RMB200,000,000 (2022: RMB200,000,000). There was no paid YR TE R AN A A R #5200,000,000T (ZE = —
up share capital as at 31 March 2023 (2022: nil). £ AR #200,000000T) c RZE ==

FZRA=1+-HYBEHKA (T
Fom) o

7. The authorised share capital of the subsidiary as at 31 March 2022 7. ZHMBRARIR-_ZE-__F=A=+—HHK
was USD50,000,000. There was no paid up share capital as at 31 % TE B AN £50,000,000% 7T (ZF = =4 -
March 2022. 10,000,000) - R—ZE-_—_F=A=+—H

WEmEHERA -

8. The authorised share capital of the subsidiary as at 31 March 2023 8. ZHBARR_ZTE_=F=A=+—HH
was USD50,000,000. There was no paid up share capital as at 31 A TE MR 78 50,000,000 7T c RZE = =
March 2023. FZRA=+T—BULEEHRAK -

9. The authorised share capital of the subsidiary as at 31 March 2023 9. ZHBRARIR _-_ZE_=F=A=+—-HH
was USD55,000,000. There was no paid up share capital as at 31 A& TE MR 78 A&55,000,000% 7T - R=ZF = =
March 2023. FZR=+T—BUEEHRAK -

10.  The authorised share capital of the subsidiary as at 31 March 2023 0. ZMBARARZ-ZZEZ_=Z=F=ZA=1+—HBHH
was RMB50,000,000. There was no paid up share capital as at 31 A& TE AR 78 50,000,000 78 - R=ZE = =
March 2023. FZA=+—HUEEEHRKAX -

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding Z % B A AR F R S A A A B [ T

at the end of the year or at any time during the year. BEEMABEEHES -
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Forthe yearended 31 March2023 B ZE T —_=F=A=+—HILFE

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

17. EREESE

Leased

property

HEME

HK$'000

FHET

Carrying amounts as at 1 April 2021 RZE-_-—FOA-BNEREA -

Addition NE 4,244

Depreciation e (707)

Impairment VR E] (3,537)
Carrying amounts as at 1 April 2022 and R-E-_—_FWA—BR-ZT-_=F

31 March 2023 —A=Z+—BMNEEE =

2023 2022

—BgB-= —_EF_—

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHExT FHET

Expenses related to short-term leases EREEHEENREX 1,154 5,473

Total cash outflow for leases HEMBERLERE 3,484 6,250

The Group leases office for its operations. Lease agreements
are typically made for fixed period of 2 years. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range
of different terms and conditions. In determining the lease
term and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period,
the Group applies the definition of a contract and determines
the period for which the contract is enforceable. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants and the leased
assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.
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China Investment Development Limited ® f B % & [ 2 B R A A)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2023 B ZE T —_=F=A=+—HILFE

17.

18.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)

Impairment testing of right-of-use assets

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the impairment charges
related to right-of-use assets amounting to nil (2022:
HK$3,537,000) have been recorded in administrative and
other expenses. The Group has one cash-generating unit.
The impairment loss attributable to the cash-generating unit
was then allocated to write down the right-of-use assets and
property, plant and equipment to their recoverable amount
for both years.

Recoverable amount of the cash generating unit has been
determined by value-in-use calculation based on the
present value of expected future cash flows. Management
determined the compound annual growth rate of revenue in
the remaining lease period based on past performance and
its budget of market development. The discount rate used
reflected specific risks relating to this cash-generating unit.

Key assumptions adopted in value-in-use calculation were as
follows:

17.

EHEEE ©)
FEREEERENR

BE T _=F=A=+—HILtFE
HEAREEEABNREBERYS (=%
— 4 : 3,537,000 T) EFFATHEE
Y - AEEE—FAREELEN -
ReEABUEHRREBERMESEE
BB E S RAMBEREEERDE
BELREEZTRE£5HE -

AeELBEMUNA OB NEREAS
AXRRERERENEREEFEEE ©
EEEBRBAERALATSLEREEE
ENAREEROMaESFERER -
EAMERERREZREELEMNA
B E R e

EREEFEMRANIZ/RKROT

2023 2022
—E-= —F=-=
Growth rate within 2-year period in the EREHAENTKEE2F
financial budgets approved by the A IE K =
management 3.46% 3.00%
Discount rate AL IR X 12.50% 12.50%

OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED
COST

At 31 March 2023, the other financial assets at amortised cost
included promissory notes held by the Group, amounted
to approximately HK$77,437,000 (2022: HK$105,449,000)
which are unsecured, interest bearing, non-transferrable, non
trading related in nature and issued by private entities.

At 31 March 2023, the other financial assets at amortised cost
also included a secured bond held by the Group, amounted
to approximately HK$23,372,000 (2022: HK$Nil) which is
secured, interest bearing, non-transferrable, non trading
related in nature and issued by a private entity.

18.

BBERASTECHBUBEE

MRZE-_=FE=ZA=+—H ' RE#H
KAGFEZHMWYBEERERAESEF
BEWENZERE - 4977,437,0008 7 (= F
: 105,449,000 7C) @ AEEHE -
PR TAEE - EEZEEMEELH

REBEBET -

RZTEZ=F=ZA=+—H ' REHEK
AFEZEMUMBEENEERAKRERF
EMBEHEMES - #23,3720008 T (=
T__F:FTAERL) KBEM - F
B TAHEE  FEZHMBEL Y HAL

PO -
EERET o
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Forthe yearended 31 March2023 B ZE T —_=F=A=+—HILFE

18. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED 18. BMBER AT EBZHMMBEE (&)
COST (continued)
2023 2022
—E=-= —_EFE_-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FAETT
At amortised cost big: i AN 112,043 109,119
Less: ECL allowance B FEHEEEEEE (11,234) (3,670)
100,809 105,449
Ageing analysis AR 2 M
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of HEREHKR  ALEBRRBEHES
promissory notes and a secured bond, net of allowance for (MBREEEERE BEEEIHAN
credit losses, based on the maturity date is as follows: BREROMMOT :
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FHET
Mature within 1 year 145 A 2 5 100,809 41,249
Mature 1 to 2 years 1224 5| Hf = 64,200
100,809 105,449
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 & &= =% =

=F=RA=+—HLFE

18. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED

COST (continued)

Particulars of the promissory notes and a secured bond
classified as at other financial assets at amortised cost held by
the Group as at March 2023 disclosed pursuant to chapter 21

of listing rules are as follows:

18. RBHEMATE2HMEHBEE (&)

RELTRAFNERENLAEER -
T —F-ARBREBHEKAGFEZH
MM BEESRZALERENDENE
FeHBAOT

2023 —E-=
Percentage
Place of Net Interest  of the total
incorporation/ Amortised carrying Interest  received/ assets of the
Name of issuer operation Cost cost ECL amount rate  receivable Grou
HRAY/ ROER 2l FEBER
BOAER EENE BA  BERA BE REFE BEHE EYRAR Bk
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 2023
FET THT FET THT TiEr ZB-=f
1. Guangdong Juhong Technology PRC 41,035 45,422 5,752 39,670 12% 4,387 12.18%
Industrial Park Co., Ltd.*
("Juhong Technology”) (note i
1. ERBEEREEZEERAA HE
(TEBRE]) (M)
2. Guangdong Yijushang Information PRC 41,035 43,249 5,482 37,767 12% 2,214 11.60%
Technology Co., Ltd.*
("Yijushang Information”) (note ii)
2. ERSBRLEEMBBRAR HE
(IBFEELE]) (MEi)
3. Water Wood Limited (note iii) PRC 22,797 23,372 - 23,372 6% 575 7.18%
3. Water Wood Limited (Fff 5% iii) &
104,867 112,043 11,234 100,809

* for identification purpose only

Notes:

Business of issuers and terms of promissory notes and a secured bond

(i) Juhong Technology is a comprehensive investment enterprise that
focuses on property leasing, property management, parking lot
operation, and consulting services, covering commodity information
consulting services, hotel management, catering management, large-
scale event organization planning services, corporate image planning
services, conference and exhibition services, logistics transportation,
professional alcohol trading market investment, supply chain financing,

market services, and more.

The promissory note is unsecured, interest bearing at 12% per
annum, and repayable with maturity terms of within 1 year of end of

the reporting period.

(if) Yijushang Information is based on high-end IT technology
services and focuses on building a high-tech, efficient, and high-
quality professional technical team. The company is committed to
integrating the entire IT resources and wholeheartedly building
the most professional IT service team in Guangdon
providing scientific, accurate, and user-friendly professional IT

technical services.

Province,

The promissory note is unsecured, interest bearing at 12% per
annum, and repayable with maturity terms of within 1 year of end of

the reporting period.

(i)  Water Wood Limited is committed to providing investors with
excellent returns through cutting-edge technology, proprietary
quantification algorithms, and excellent risk control modules.

The secured bond is secured by a private fund, Mozi Currency Fund
SP, held by a related party of Water Wood Limited. The secured
bond is interest bearing at 6% per annum, and repayable with
maturity terms of within 1 year of end of the reporting period.

* EHRBEARR

et -

BITANERRFAKEZHEOER

0] FEHEMRE-—FIAEERSE - WEERE -
FESEYE  HBARBAERLEDR @ &
EEmEERARYE - BHEEE - EHK
B2 REDEBEBREIRY - 0EW
FRERYE  SEREBERE  DRE
W O EBREXTHIMSERE - HEER
g MERBENESUERELE -
AL ER AW - FERE 2% 0 2
EBEARBSKEARIFA -

(i) ZBRLEBIRSHKITRWRE » xR
JE—Ymkill > 88X sEENE
FRMELK - 228 HRNERIT ERE
BE 2L NEERERIENT R
BEK  REMBHEE - AGEOERET
AR -

AR AEEE  ERRB12% 0 BH
EBEARSKEARIFA -

(i) Water Wood Limited 2 77 5 48 8 25 bifs 452 1l
EENELEENEHNRZEERRKE
ERME WA E R
£ & 7 {8 % B Water Wood Limited 8 B 75
#58 K9 AL 5 & & Mozi Currency Fund SP{E #&
R BEERMESFENE[S% - BIHEE
HRAMEPRIFA -
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18. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED 18. RBERATTE2HMMBEE (&)
COST (continued)
2022 —E—=
Percentage
Place of Net Interest of total
incorporation/ Amortised carrying Interest  received/  assets of
Name of issuer operation Cost cost ECL amount rate  receivable the Group
AWmEEL/ AHEE g/ FEEE
BTAER EENY BA  B#EK FE EREFE BAE  EKAE EEBSL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 2022
THx THx THT FET TEr —B-=F
1. Zhongneng Jiahe Industrial Co., Ltd.* PRC 33,232 35,456 1,247 34,209 15% 2,224 14.52%
(note i)
1. PREMEEERAF (M) HE
2. Lanzhou Wole Home Furnishing Service  PRC 32,734 34917 518 34,399 15% 2,183 14.60%
Co. Ltd.* ("Lanzhou Wole") (note ii)
2 BMEEZEERBEERELLA HE
(TEMEL]) (i)
3. Jiarun China Investment (Guangzhou) PRC 6,154 6,372 80 6,292 15% 218 2.67%
Industrial Investment Co., Ltd*
("Jiarun") (note iii)
3. BRYR (EN) BXREERAR  HE
(&A1) (M)
4. Hunan Honggaocheng Technology PRC 32,000 32,374 1,825 30,549 15% 374 12.96%
Investment Co., Ltd* (note iv)
4. RERSHNEREERAR (Miv) +E
104,120 109,119 3,670 105,449
*  for identification purpose only * EEFABR
Notes: MR
Business of issuers and terms of promissory notes AT AR E FOA G RIRVIER
(i) Investment management; warehousing services (except hazardous (i) KREERE: BRERS (TREEHRK R
chemicals and refined oil products); loading and unloading VRERAN)  RERE  HEREME - 1

138

services; sales of construction materials, chemical products
(excluding hazardous chemicals), coal (do not carry out physical
coal trading, storage and transportation activities in Beijing),
metal materials, building materials, iron ore, hardware products,
electronic products, daily necessities, textiles, clothing, machinery
and equipment, jewelry; import and export of goods, technology
import and export; product design.

The promissory note is unsecured, interest bearing at 15% per
annum, and repayable with maturity terms of 1-2 years. Subsequent
to the reporting date the promissory note was early terminated
by mutual agreement between the Group and the note issuer and
the outstanding of promissory note and interests were fully settled
prior to the issue date of the Company’s annual report for the year
ended 31 March 2022.

Annual Report 4F ¥ 2023

TER (TaRlcEm) - KK (TE
REFAREVENRS - BEZD) -
CEBMH  BEME - BEA - ISE
mcBEFER - BRAM - #HO8R R
£ OBWRME  KEES BWELRD
BT O ERAEE -

ARAEBEAEEF - FHXB15% - FH
BEBERAIZE2F - RIFEBBHE - &
REBEASERZREHTALRBER
AIARIE » REERLZERFERAR R
BE_T- " F=A=+—BLEEzF
HAEAHAMEHLEE -



China Investment Development Limited ® f B % & [ 2 B R A A)
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18. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED
COST (continued)
2022 (continued)

Notes: (continued)

Business of issuers and teams of promissory notes (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Wholesale and retail of cabinets, cupboards, wardrobes, furniture,
office furniture, daily necessities, building materials, decorative

materials, Wujinjiaodian; maintenance of ceramic products;
cleaning and cleaning services.

The promissory note is unsecured, interest bearing at 15% per
annum, and repayable with maturity terms of 1-2 years. Subsequent
to the reporting date the promissory note was early terminated
by mutual agreement between the Group and the note issuer and
the outstanding of promissory note and interests were fully settled
prior to the issue date of the Company’s annual report for the year
ended 31 March 2022.

Sales of synthetic materials; supply chain management services;
sales of building waterproofing membrane products; sales of
gold and silver products; procurement agency services; sales of
construction machinery; information technology consulting services;
graphic design and production; sales of metal materials; sales of
lamps and lanterns; technical services, technology development,
technology consultation, technology exchange, technology
transfer, technology promotion; sales of rare earth functional
materials; sales of household appliances; wholesale of clothing
and apparel; wholesale of kitchen utensils and daily necessities;
landscaping engineering construction.

The promissory note is unsecured, interest bearing at 15% per
annum, and repayable with maturity terms of within 1 year.

Food sales; motor vehicle inspection and testing services; online
taxi booking service; tourism business; bonded logistics center
operation.

The promissory note is unsecured, interest bearing at 15% per
annum, and repayable with maturity terms of 1 year. Subsequent
to the reporting date the promissory note was early terminated
by mutual agreement between the Group and the note issuer and
the outstanding of promissory note and interests were fully settled
prior to the issue date of the Company’s annual report for the year
ended 31 March 2022.

18.

BMERATTECHMMBEE (&)

—R--F(#/)
G

AR RERBEITANER (&)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

BWiE - HA - KE - KA BRLKRE -
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TENHBTE  BEHREE  BER -
RER -

EARBEREER - FRERI5% - 3H
EREBRABIZ2F - RREBHE - &
REBEASHERRETARLBRBHER
BIASIE - REEALEBEMNERADTA
HE-_T_-_—_F=-A=+—BLEEZHE
BTZEAHMEHEE -

ERMBEE  HEREERY  2EH
KEMEMBE  SRERHEE - KER
BIR : RETEAKWKEES - F8 &M
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2023 B ZE T —_=F=A=+—HILFE

19. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 19. RBEE DTz =
2023 2022
—EC-=F T
HK$’'000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
Share of net assets of the associate SIEEE AR EERE - -
(@) During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group (@) BEZZE-_=F=ZA=+—HLHF
has disposed of its 49% interest in an associate to an B AEBR-ZBBIFEEER
independent party. The Group has recognised a gain BEE RNR249% Bm o AEEER
on disposal of the associate of approximate HK$20,000. o B R B 2 U5 £920,00058 7T e
(b) For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group shared by BEZT-=F=A=+—HLHF
result of an associate of HK$ nil. B AEBSGBE QR ZER
BEEIT -
() Details of the Group's associate at 31 March 2022 was (0 AREBZHMERAAR_ZT__F=
as follows: A=+—BZz&HBOT :
Place of Issued and fully  Percentage of
incorporation/ paid registered  equity held by~ Proportion of
Name of associate operation capital the Group ~ voting power  Principal activity
AmAL/ BRTRAR rEE
BeNRER EENY dRER  BREEIL REBLHA TEXH
Bonicast Construction Material PRC Registered 49% 20%  Trading of construction
(Beﬁng) Co., Ltd. ("Bonicast") RMB10,000,000 (note) materials
EREREMNH (LR BRAR #HE R} 49% 0% ENES
( [edExl) AR 10,000,007 (M)
Notes: BT
(i) The Group was able to exercise significant influence over (i) AEBRAHSERETEE
Bonicast because it had the power to appoint one out of five 27 RARFAESEEEREZA
directors of that company under the articles of association of AIAKERAREZEEZAR AN Z
that company. —HEZE
(i)  The management reviewed the carrying amount of the (i) EBRBEEENRBEQRFTNMARRK
associate by considering the value-in-use based on RReRENEREESEHBEZ A
discounted future cash flows of the associate. The interest AIZEREME - ARBME AR EEE
in an associate was fully impaired as at 31 March 2020 as the BEsE  AUR_Z_ZF=A
associate was inactive for over 4 years. S+t-BERBERAZRSEREEY
A e
(d)  Summarised financial information as at 31 March d YEEINR=-_Z=_—_F=A=+—
2022 in respect of the associate was not presented as HEBBERARZ MM BER -
the Group's share of the result and net assets of the THRAEE(hEE AR ZFEE
associate was insignificant to the Group. REEFEHAEBMZLTER o

140  Annual Report 4F 4 2023



China Investment Development Limited ® f B % & [ 2 B R A A)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2023 B ZE T —_=F=A=+—HILFE

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH  20. AR Bt A AEEM 2 EHKSEE

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME ZHBEE
2023 2022
—¥C-= T
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TAT
Unlisted equity securities in PRC, at cost A EBIIE ETRAZSH + HHK K 53,225 16,390
Fair value adjustment N EFAE (4,921) (12,093)
48,304 4,297
Particulars of investments in unlisted equity securities held by BEELETHNFNERBE2AEBR =
the Group as at 31 March 2023 and 2022 disclosed pursuant TR =ZA=+—HF
to Chapter 21 of Listing Rules are as follows: FIELFMREAEBSREFBOT :
Percentage Dividend ~ Percentage of Dividend ~ Percentage of
Place of of effective Accumulated far value receivable/ totalassetsof  receivable/  totel asset of
Name of investee companies incorporation  interest held at At cost adjustment Carrying value received  the Group received the Group
F&ER B/ rEEsEE Bh/ re3gEE
HRELAEE iREIEE  REEAM A& EiATEE FRE Bhke Aatt LT a0kt
03 03 m 03 b/ 03 am 03 03 m m
C§-zE C§zE C§ocF C§osE C§ocF 0 CosE CEooF 0 C§IsE C§Isf CEoC i ket 3
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK§ 000 HKS'000 HKS000 HKS'000 HKS000
Tn TEL THR TEnL TERL TER T#n TR
Qingzhou Jizjafu Modem Agricultural Group Co,, PRC i3 9825 - (1439) - 28,386 - - 87%  NATEE  NATER
Ltd* ("Viajiafu’)
(note (i)
P
Lanzhou Wole (note (i) PRC 30% 23400 - (3482 - 19918 - - 612%  NATEE  NATER
EREEIUE) P8
GuangZhou D Jian Company Management PRC 11.59% - 9800 - (9789) - 1 - NATER - 0.00%

Consultation Limited® (B €A B2
BB ) (DaJian”) (note i)
ERZHARLA ([2R]) 9@

Tianjin Bao Xin Ying Precious Metals PRC 12% - 6590 - 2308 - 428 - NATER - 182%
Management Limited* ("Bao Xin')
(note (i)

RRRAERLRERARAT 8

(1R&]) (i)

33225 16,390 (4921) (12,09) 48,304 491

*  For identification purpose only * EHEG
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2023 B ZE T —_=F=A=+—HILFE

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

142

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued)

Notes:

(i) Jiajiafu is a modern agricultural development enterprise that
integrates green and organic fruit and vegetable cultivation,
processing, and sales, poultry breeding, processing, and sales,
agricultural technology services, farmer credit mutual assistance,
agricultural material distribution and supply, and international

trade.

The investment in Jiajiafu is measured at fair value and classified
as Level 3 fair value measurement. The fair values of Jiajiafu is
determined by reference to the valuation carried out by an external
independent valuer by using Guideline Public Company method
with reference to similar listed companies and adjusted to reflect
the specific circumstance of the investments. The significant

unobservable inputs were as follows:

The fair value of underlying share is derived from market multiple
— enterprise value to earnings before interest, tax, depreciation
and amortisation (“EV/EBITDA") valuation methodology using
key inputs of 6.0 and further adjusted for discount for lack of

marketability of 20.5%.

If the market multiple of Jiajiafu was 5% higher/lower while all
other variables were held constant, the carrying amount of the
investments in Jiajiafu would increase/decrease by approximately

HK$1,415,000.

(ii) Lanzhou Wole's business focuses on the manufacturing of
integrated cabinets and full house customization, continuously
upgrading the design and improving the intelligent chemical
factory that combines “industrialization” and “informatization”,
providing consumers with beautifully designed, exquisite

craftsmanship, and reliable quality customized home products.

The Group has no significant influence as the Group have no
power to participate in the operating and financial policy decisions
of Lanzhou Wole. The directors have elected to designate this
investment in equity instruments as at FVTOCI as they believe that
this investment is not held for trading and not expected to be sold

in foreseeable future.

The investment in Lanzhou Wole is measured at fair value and
classified as Level 3 fair value measurement. The fair values of
Lanzhou Wole is determined by reference to the valuation carried
out by an external independent valuer by using Guideline Public
Company method with reference to similar listed companies and
adjusted to reflect the specific circumstance of the investments.

The significant unobservable inputs were as follows:

The fair value of underlying share is derived from market multiple-
enterprise value to earnings before interest, tax, depreciation
and amortisation (“EV/EBITDA") valuation methodology using
key inputs of 3.8 and further adjusted for discount for lack of

marketability of 20.5%.

If the market multiple of Lanzhou Wole was 5% higher/lower
while all other variables were held constant, the carrying amount
of the investments in Lanzhou Wole would increase/decrease by

approximately HK$698,000.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2023 B ZE T —_=F=A=+—HILFE

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

The investment in Da Jian is measured at fair value and classified
as Level 3 fair value measurement. The fair values of Da Jian is
determined by reference to the valuation carried out by an external
independent valuer by using Asset Base Approach. The underlying
assets of Da Jian as at 31 Mach 2022 are cash and cash equivalents.

Da Jian is a PRC established company and principally engaged in
providing enterprise management and consulting services in the
PRC.

The shares of Da Jian were disposed by the Group on 31 October
2022 to an independent third party with a fair value at disposal date
and accumulated loss on disposal of HK$35,000 and HK$9,765,000
respectively.

The investment in Bao Xin is measured at fair value and classified
as Level 3 fair value measurement. The fair values of Bao Xin is
determined by reference to the valuation carried out by an external
independent valuer by using Asset Base Approach.

Bao Xin is a PRC established company and principally engaged in
the trading of precious metals and gold products and investment
advisory in Tianjin, the PRC.

The shares of Bao Xin were disposed by the Group on 24 March
2023 to an independent third party with a fair value at disposal date
and accumulated loss on disposal of HK$17,000 and HK$6,573,000
respectively.

The equity investments are not held for trading, the Company

has made an irrecoverable election upon initial recognition

of the investments to present subsequent changes in the

investment'’s fair value in other comprehensive income.

20. BMAFEFTAEH

ftb 2 TE] R 55 B T2

ZHBEE (&)

B aE

(iii)

(iv)

BREREL FFHIELE

(%)

RERZBBENUNRAFEFZE - XHEARS
BMAFETE - ERZAFEDIESEH
BBy GEMEREEEM AR 2 HE
BF M-E-_—_#=fF=+—RzEHE>
HBEEEARSRBESEED -

ERA-MEPBEKRINAR  TERSE
ERBERERCEEREREARY -

AEBR-_TE-=-F+A=+—HHE—%
BYE=FHEEERD REEBHA
FE R E R EE S 5 A35000% T &
9,765,000/ T °

REBZREURATFENE  ADERS
BATEFE - BEBZRAFEDL2EH)
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mEMBRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2023 B ZE T —_=F=A=+—HILFE

20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH  20. AR Bt A AEEM 2 EHKEEE

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (continued) ZHBREE ()

The following is the analysis of fair value change of financial NTREATFEFAZEMEZEHKEE

assets at FVTOCI for the years ended 31 March 2023 and BZMBEERBE_T_=FK_F

2022: TZHFZR=+—HLFEZAFEE
oA

Change in fair value
during the year ended 31 March
BE=A=1t-HLEEZ

ATEES

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHER TAET
Unlisted equity securities issued by: HAATARBITZIELITRAES
- Bao Xin -EZ 24 156
- Da Jian —ER (4,269) (5,275)
- Jiajiafu - RXRE (1,439) =
— Lanzhou Wole o DR (3,482) =
- Huge Leader Investment — Huge Leader Investment

Development Limited Development Limited - 50
(9,166) (5,069)

21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 21. AT Et A EEBRZEB 2 HMKE

PROFIT OR LOSS =3
2023 2022
—EZZ=F —T==
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Hong Kong listed equity securities, BRELTTRAZS
at market value (note a) WA (fzEa) 24,662 17,758
Investments in convertible bonds, RENABMRES -
at fair value (note b) BT E (HiEb) 15,180 16,280
Equity interests in private equity funds RILEREES 2 RE (M)
(note ¢) 10,080 -
49,922 34,038
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e M EmRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &

21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

E_T—

PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(a)

=F=RA=+—HLFE

21. BAVEFAEREREZMEE

E (#)
BEFTRNENERBEZAEE

Particulars of the Group’s major investments of listed (a)
equity securities held by the Group as at 31 March 2023
and 2022 disclosed pursuant to Chapter 21 of Listing

Rules are as follows:

RZEZ=FR_FT__F=AH
=+ —HEBEEZEELTRAES
EFHBOT -

2023 —EC=HF
Accumulated Percentage
Percentage unrealised gain/ Dividend  of the total
Number of ~ of interest (loss) arising on ~~ Changein  received/ ~assets of the
Name of investee companies Notes shares held held Cost  Market value revaluation  fairvalue  receivable Group
EffELY
R RER
gy 5 Wi/ AV BY/  AREE
RRENAAR i frisRB#A At Ak [l (G#) 28  EUWRE HERAM
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn T iR T TR
Worldgate Global Logistics Ltd (i 7,500,000 1.1800% 6,015 1613 (4,402) (4,402) - 0.50%
("Worldgate") ordinary shares
REEk
BRORERARA ([ER]) ()
International Genius Company (il 9,564,000 1.7802% 13,781 23,049 9,268 8,225 - 7.08%
("Intl Genius") (formerly known as ordinary shares
" Amber Hill Financial Holdings REBR
Limited")
(HBAZULBRABRAA) i
Target Insurance (Holdings) Limited (il 4,228,000 0.8109% 4298 = 4,298) = = =
("Target") ordinary shares
REEk
ZMRE (BR) ERAA ([RM]) ]
24,662
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mEMBRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2023 B ZE T —_=F=A=+—HILFE

21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 21. BRAF B A EESZEEB2HKE

PROFIT OR LOSS (continued) E (&)
(@)  (continued) @@ (#&)
2022 B F

Accumulated

unrealised Percentage

Percentage gain/(loss) Dividend  of the total

of interest Market arisingon  Changein  received/ assets of

Name of investee companies Notes  Number of shares held held Cost value  revaluation  fairvalue receivable the Group
EffELL

KRR 558

frik k#/  ATE BN/ @ HEE

HRELALE (i3 FERBER Bk A [ (B#8) 28 ERRE  BAR

HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000
T TEx Tin TR TER

Kidztech Holdings Limited ("Kidztech”)
STEERBERAR ([31E])
Asia Television Holdings Limited ("Asia

Television”) (v) 80,510,000 ordinary shares  0.8111% 3,059 966 (2,093 (2,093) - 041%
SHERERBERAT ([THER]) W 80,510,000 &8 A

Feiyang Interational Holdings Group

\}

1,686,000 ordinary shares ~ 0.3237% 1753 1,450 (303) (303) - 0.62%
1,686,000 & &R

\)

Limited (“Feiyang") (vi) 492,000 ordinary shares 0.0820% 499 443 (56) (56) = 0.19%
REERER (R8) GRAF

(I#5)) (vi) 492,000 &8k
Future Bright Mining Holdings Limited

("Future Bright") (vii) 20,000 ordinary shares 0.0005% 1 1 = = = 0.00%
REEXERERAR ([RHE]) (vl 20,000 % B %
Morris Home Holdings Limited

("Morris") (viii) 200,000 ordinary shares 0.0200% 17 27 10 10 = 0.01%
RERFRERBRAR ([RA]) (v 200000% &8k
RMH Holdings Limited ("RMH") (ix) 344,000 ordinary shares  0.0398% 35 47 12 12 - 0.02%
EHERERAR ([EH]) (ix) 344,000f &8k

International Genius Company ("Intl

Genius") (formerly known as

"Amber Hill Financial Holdings

Limited") (i) 9,564,000 ordinary shares  1.7802% 13,781 14,824 1,043 1,043 - 6.29%
(MBARUEERNERAR) 9,564,000 E B
Target Insurance (Holdings) Limited

("Target") (iii) 4,228,000 ordinary shares 0.8109% 4,298 = (4.298) (4.298) = =
ZMER (BR) BRAR (1ZM]) i) 4,228 000 & B}

17,758
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Forthe yearended 31 March2023 B ZE T —_=F=A=+—HILFE

21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH . BAFEFACEREBcUKE

PROFIT OR LOSS (continued) = (&)
(@) (continued) @@ (&)
Notes: B 5 -

i)

(ii)

(iii)

Worldgate was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as
an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and its shares were
listed on the GEM Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (stock code: 8292). Its principal activities
are (i) international freight services, (ii) transportation
services and (iii) warehousing services. For the financial
year ended 31 December 2022, the audited consolidated
loss attributable to equity holders of Worldgate was
approximately RM12,551,000 with basic and diluted loss per
share of RM1.98 sen. As at 31 December 2022, its audited
consolidated net assets attributable to owners of the
company was approximately RM53,133,000. No dividend
was received by the Group during the period ended 31
December 2022.

Intl Genius was incorporated in the Cayman lIslands as
an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and its shares were
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (stock code: 33). Its principal activities are
(i) trading of party products and metals and minerals, (ii)
securities brokerage and assets management, advancing
business, credit guarantee and (iii) investment business and
trading of commodities. For the financial year ended 30 June
2022, the audited consolidated profit attributable to equity
holders of Intl Genius was approximately HK$41,375,000
with basic and diluted earnings per share of HK$7.70 cents.
As at 30 June 2022, its audited consolidated net assets
attributable to owners of the company was approximately
HK$188,336,000. No dividend was received by the Group
during the period ended 30 June 2022.

At 31 March 2023, investments in Intl Genius held by the
Group with market value of HK$23,049,000 were pledged
to secure the bonds payable amounted to HK$22,000,000.
(Note 25)

Target was incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability
on 28 August 2014 and its shares were listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(stock code: 6161). Its principal activities are (i) writing of
general insurance business and (ii) property investment. For
the financial year ended 31 December 2020, the audited
consolidated profit attributable to equity holders of Target
was approximately HK$62,026,000 with basic and diluted
earnings per share of HK$11.9 cents. As at 31 December
2020, its audited consolidated net assets attributable to
owners of the company was approximately HK$338,660,000.
No dividend was received by the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2020. Trading in the shares of the
Target on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited has
been halted with effect from 9:00 a.m. on Wednesday, 5
January 2022.

(i)

(i)

(iii)

BRRAE—HEBERASHESQRARER
HEHETMRAINEREHR D
T HBROGREBBRERDIMABAR
ﬂGEMiﬁ(fo R - 8292) °
EFXZEKAR® ‘“@%%
Eﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ%&lllﬁﬁ%% HEZ
::¢+:HE+*H¢Mﬁ¢E'
BREGHAAELKEERESB
B4 £12551,0008 F © EREXR
MEEEEBAISESEN R o=
—=Zf+=-B=+—8 ' %ZARE
ﬁA&EEN%Vﬁ BEFED
/53,133,0006 F - AEEREE =
f::¢+—ﬁ5+—5¢¢§ﬁ
UL E

Intl Genius & — MR IEHEESHE R

RIERAEHEEMAIHNER R
ERRARF  ERGOREABEERS
FTBRARER LM (BRH AR :
33) c HEBEHK AR EMMN
ReBREEES  WBFHFLELER
BEETHE  EBEEY - EHER:
iR EEBEARES - HEZ
E-__FXA=Z1THLUKREE -

Intl Genius## 2= ¥ B A FB (5 £ T4
B R 4 B41,37500008 T 0 B K
EARBEBERF A7708M - R=
T-_—FXNA=1+8 - mRAEE
ANEEHEKERRGEEFENA
188,336,000 7L - AEBERH E =
E-—F+-_A=+—BILFEH
UK E o

\ZZFE-_=F=ZA=+—H" &
£ B8 U A P Intl Genius T &
23,049,000/ LK) R B E B E & H
22,000,000 st A9 HE LR o (Bt 5£25)

st

EMAE-—BR_ZT—-—mWENA
Z+N\BEEEFMAZOBERA
Al HBRORBEEBRERIMAR
NElER LT (RGO RS - 6161) °
HFZEBAO) MRARBEARE
% &u%%&é Eﬁzi—gf?
E+-_A=+—BLUHHBEE  F
MEZFEAELEEZREEETN
mMM%m%ﬁ~ghg$&

BERMNBNIGEMN RZ=ZT=ZZF
E+-_A=+—8: Z2EEAE
ANELMERERRGEEFENA
338,660,000/ 7C > AE B R EE =
T-ZTFF+-_A=ZF+—RALEFEH
BB E - ZMBHE-_ZT==
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21.

148

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(a)

(continued))
Notes: (continued)

(iv)

Kidztech was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as
an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and its shares were
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (stock code: 6918) on 18 March 2020. Its
principal activities are manufacturing and sales of toys. For
the financial year ended 31 December 2021, the audited
consolidated profit attributable to equity holders of Kidztech
was approximately RMB26,086,000 with basic and diluted
earnings per share of RMB5.0 cents. As at 31 December
2021, its audited consolidated net assets attributable to
owners of the company was approximately RMB441,763,000.
No dividend was received by the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2021.

The shares of Kidztech were disposed during the year ended
31 March 2023.

Asia Television was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and its shares are listed on Main Board of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange (stock code: 707). Asia Television acts as
an investment holding company. For the financial year
ended 31 December 2021, the audited consolidated
loss attributable to equity holders of Asia Television was
approximately RMB260,665,000 with basic and diluted loss
per share of RMB0.0263. As at 31 December 2021,its audited
consolidated net liabilities attributable to the owners of the
company was approximately RMB128,798,000. No dividend
was received by the Group during the year ended 31
December 2021.

The shares of Asia Television were disposed during the year
ended 31 March 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2023 B ZE T —_=F=A=+—HILFE

21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 21. BRAFE A GEESZEEB2HKE

PROFIT OR LOSS (continued) = (&)

(@) (continued) @@ (&)
Notes: (continued) It - (2)

(vi)

(vii)

Feiyang was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as
an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and its shares were
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (stock code: 1901) on 28 June 2019. Its principal
activities are (i) design, development and sale of outbound
travel package tours; (ii) the design, development and sale
of free independent traveller products; (iii) the provision of
other ancillary travel-related products and services; and (iv)
the provision of information system development services.
For the financial year ended 31 December 2021, the audited
consolidated loss attributable to equity holders of Feiyang
was approximately RMB137,477,000 with basic and diluted
loss per share of RMB27.07 cents. As at 31 December 2021,
its audited consolidated net assets attributable to owners
of the company was approximately RMB24,159,000. No
dividend was received by the Group during the year ended
31 December 2021.

The shares of Feiyang were disposed during the year ended
31 March 2023.

Future Bright was incorporated in the Cayman Islands
as an exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and its shares were
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (stock code: 2212). Its principal activities are
(i) excavation and sale of marble blocks; (ii) production
and sale of marble related products; and (iii) trading of
mineral commodities. For the financial year ended 31
December2021, the audited consolidated loss attributable
to equity holders of Future Bright was approximately
RMB2,491,000 with basic and diluted loss per share of
RMBO0.06 cents. As at 31 December 2021, its audited
consolidated net assets attributable to owners of the
company was approximately RMB59,590,000. No dividend
was received by the Group during the year ended 31
December 2021

The shares of Future Bright were disposed during the year
ended 31 March 2023.

(vi)

(vii)

REBREHAESHERARNERMASE
Sk AEREFER AR @ &
BHOR-—_TE—hE~NA=-F+NBE
EEBMARSGHMMBRARERLED
(BDARSE - 1901) - EXBEKA
()Ve%at >~ AERHESHBRBEE
(st MEREEEHBE LK
RER: (VRHEMKEREER
ER%: RiVREEERZFAFER
o BE_F-_—F+-_A=1+—
BIEMBEE  REZEXZEH
ANELEBRERGABBOBARE
137,477,000 © B R E X K #E 5
BAARE2707H - RZTE=—F
+ZA=1+—8  ZREBEEARE
HEECERRAEAETFENAAR
#24159000C - BE-_T = — F
T A=+t BLEEAEEHE
W BT AR B, o

REBROREBEE_ZFT_=F
=+—HLEFEAEDLLEE -

A

i

SBERERASEEQREARMAE
EaFMuIAEEREFER AR @ &
BOEBTBEBRAERSHERDRAE
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ZEREAABEROKEZREESEE
495 N R 12,491,000 © F R E K
M#EEBEEAARKIWGS - R
E-—F+-A=+—H ZAF
BEABGELCERRAEEFE
45 AR 59,590,000 - HE_-F
T+ A=+-—BLEFEEXRE
B B W TR B o
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A
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21.

150

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(a)

(continued))
Notes: (continued)

(viii)

(ix)

Morris was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and its shares were
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (stock code: 1575). Its principal activities
are manufacture and sale of sofas, sofa covers and other
furniture products. For the financial year ended 31 December
2021, the audited consolidated loss attributable to equity
holders of Morris was approximately RMB121,508,000 with
basic and diluted loss per share of RMB13.15 cents. As at
31 December 2021, its audited consolidated net liabilities
attributable to owners of the company was approximately
RMB49,541,000. No dividend was received by the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2021.

The shares of Morris were disposed during the year ended
31 March 2023.

RMH was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and its shares were
listed on the GEM Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (stock code: 8437). Its principal activities are
(i) provision of all-round dermatology treatment solutions,
specialised in skin cancer, skin diseases and aesthetic
procedures, (i) provision of community dermatology
services for less complicated dermatological conditions and
non-invasive medical aesthetic treatments, (iii) Specialised
Medical Services (Including Day Surgical Centers) and (iv)
Trading of health supplement and skin care products. For
the financial year ended 31 December 2021, the audited
consolidated loss attributable to equity holders of RMH was
approximately $$8,785,000 with basic and diluted loss per
share of S$1.18 cents. As at 31 December 2021, its audited
consolidated net assets attributable to owners of the
company was approximately $$4,567,000. No dividend was
received by the Group during the year ended 31 December
2021.

The shares of RMH were disposed during the year ended 31
March 2023.

The fair values of the Group's investments in listed equity securities
are based on quoted market price, except for the investments in
shares of Target. The fair value as at 31 March 2023 and 2022 of the
shares of Target held by the Group was estimated by the directors
of the Company to be insignificant value, taking into consideration
of the circumstances leading to the suspension of trading since
January 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2023 B ZE T —_=F=A=+—HILFE

21.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(a)

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

The proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss during the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022 were
HK$8,697,000 and HK$109,490,000 respectively.

21. BAVEFAEREREZMEE

E (&)
@@ (&
It - (2)

BE-_T-_=FRZF-_=ZF=A=+—
ALFEHERATEFAEBRSREY
BY 75 & E 0 FT 15 3 TE & Bl 48,697,000 JT
1%109,490,0003% 7T ©

Particulars of investments in convertible bonds held b) RELTRAINERBEZIARE
by the Group as at 31 March 2023 and 2022 disclosed R=—B-_=FRk-%_-_-%=A
pursuant to Chapter 21 of Listing Rules are as follows: =T BARRERATRRESF
o
Percentage Percentage
Interest ~ of the total Interest ~ of the total
Unlisted debt securities, received/  assetsof  received/  assets of
Name of investee companies ~ Place of incorporation at cost Fair value adjustment Carrying value receivable ~ the Group  receivable  the Group
B/ A%5EE BN/ 1EEE
RRELAER ARALHY FLnERES #RA LYEHR REE EhHs EEEAE  EUAE EEESM
2023 212 2023 12 2023 022 2023 2023 022 022
ZECcE -%CCF CECCE C%-CF CBIZE C5--F CZBIZE O ZEIZE “ECCF CECCF
HKS'000 HKS000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HKS'000  HKS$'000 HK$'000
Tén TEr  fTErn  TEr  TRn  TER  TER TiEn
Guanwan Investments Limited
(note) BvI 20,000 20,000 (4,820) (3720) 15,180 16,280 - 4.66% 2,400 6.91%
BEREARLA (i)  XBERES
B3 -

Notes:

On 22 December 2014, the Company invested in the 3% unsecured
convertible bonds issued by Guanwan Investments Limited
("Guanwan") with principal amount of HK$20,000,000, bearing
coupon interest rate of 3% per annum. Guanwan is an investment
holding company which indirectly hold 100% of the issued shares
of its subsidiary, AN & HBREBR AR ("2HE"). 2HE
is established in the PRC and principally engaged in designing,
manufacturing and retail of women’s dress in PRC. The convertible
bonds held by the Group were originally due on 22 December 2017
and convertible into 24 fully paid ordinary shares of Guanwan with a
par value of USD1.00 each, which represented 24% of the enlarged
issued shares of Guanwan as at 22 December 2014, at a conversion
price of HK$833,333 per conversion share. The Company could
exercise the conversion option at any time until the maturity date.
On 23 December 2017, the maturity date of the convertible bonds
were renewed and extended to 22 December 2020.

R-_ZE—MWME+_A=-+=-H ' ARQ7A
RERTEREERAR([BEE&E]) %
TZIEEBERUBRES A28 A
20,000,000 7T - R E W X § F3E 7
B - RBEBAREERAR  HESHAH
MWEARRNGSHEEREERAA ([£
BIE]) Z100%E#TRHE - FBEES
By TEEFBEREELERF; - &
ERTE - AEEBBE2IBRBRESFER
ZE—+tF+ZAZ+ZHHH - ARBR
BB 5 R 2 B A% 17 833,333 T B ATE B
GRREE1.003E T 2 82 R L @Ak 24 8%
HMERZZE—HF+_AZ+T-HEELK
AT BITIRMN24% XA T Al R E H B
AIBERFTTERRE - R=FT—+F+=A
—+=H8  EREFINPHAEBETITER
E_ZT_ZTF+_F=+=8H -
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21.

152

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(b)

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

On 23 December 2020, the maturity date of the convertible bonds
were further renewed and extended to 22 December 2023. All of
the other terms of the convertible bonds remained unchanged for
the above renewals.

The Group's investments in convertible bonds, represented
by investments in convertible bonds issued by Guanwan, have
debt component and embedded derivatives components. The
investments in convertible bonds were classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition and
recognised at fair value, with changes in fair value recognized
in consolidated profit or loss. The fair values of the investments
in convertible bonds as at 31 March 2023 and 2022 were
determined by reference to the valuation carried out by an external
independent valuer by using Discounted Cash Flow Method and
Binominal Option Pricing Model. The inputs were as follows:

Guanwan

2023 2022
Equity component
Underlying share price HK$168,290 HK$660,211
Number of shares convertible into 24 24
Conversion price per share HK$833,333 HK$833,333
Time to maturity 0.7 year 1.7 years
Debt component
Interest rate per annum 3% 3%
Bond yield 51.92% 41.50%
Risk free rate 3.04% 1.65%
Volatility 39.99% 52.10%

For the valuation as at 31 March 2023, the fair value of underlying
shares is measured under asset base approach. The change of
valuation model for the underlying shares is due to Guanwan
recorded an operating loss for the year ended 31 March 2023.

The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value
measurement of the debt component is bond yield. The fair value
measurement for the valuation as at 31 March 2023 is negatively
correlated to the bond yield.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, it is estimated that with all other
variables held constant, an increase/decrease in the bond yield by
5% would have decreased/increased the carrying amount of the
investment by approximately HK$355,000/HK$375,000.

For the valuation as at 31 March 2022, the fair value of underlying
share is derived from market multiple — enterprise value to
earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation (“EV/
EBITDA") valuation methodology using key inputs of 4.2 and
further adjusted for discount for lack of marketability of 20.6%.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2023 B ZE T —_=F=A=+—HILFE

21.

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(b)

(continued)
Notes: (continued)

The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value
measurement of the equity component are the underlying share
price and expected volatility. The fair value measurement for
the valuation as at 31 March 2022 is positively correlated to the
underlying share price and expected volatility.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, it is estimated that with
all other variables held constant, an increase/decrease in the
underlying share prices by 5% would have increased/decreased the
carrying amount of the investment by approximately HK$692,000/
HK$692,000.

No interest repayment on the convertible bonds was received by
the Group during the year ended 31 March 2023. The directors of
the Company consider there was no foreseeable cash inflow for the
interest receivable, hence, no interest income on the convertible
bonds was recognised during the year.

The Group has subscribed Mount Peak Fund SPC~ —
Mount Peak Currency Fund SP (the “Currency Fund”) for
approximately HK$10,012,000 at cost, bearing coupon
interest rate of 7.5% per annum. For the year ended
31 March 2023, the unrealised interest income for the
Currency Fund was approximately HK$48,000.

The Currency Fund is for investors with different needs
and risks, match the corresponding fund products.
It has asset management licenses in Hong Kong and
Singapore, offshore investment manager qualifications
in Cayman and the BVI, and its core fund products are
hedge funds.

The investment in the Currency Fund is classified as a
financial asset at fair value through profit or loss upon
initial recognition and recognised at fair value, with
changes in fair value recognised in consolidated profit
or loss. The fair value of the investment in the Currency
Fund as at 31 March 2023 was determined by reference
to the redemption price as the investment is redeemable
at the option of the investor at US$1,275,336 (equivalent
to HK$10,012,000) of investment cost plus US$95,650
(equivalent to HK$750,900) of interest at 7.5% per
annum on 1 year after the subscription date.

21. BAVEFAEREREZMEE

E (&)
b) (#&)
FiE (@)
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7 5 B LA K AKX #£910,012,00078 7T R BB
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22. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS PAID AND

154

22. EBEWFHIEA - ENRERFEMNRK

PREPAYMENTS b1 |
2023 2022
—E-=HF —E-_fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHER TAET

Interest receivable JE s F1 8 - 163

Prepayments R RIE - 118

Other receivables and deposits paid (note a)  H #fl fE U 5/ I8 &

EftEE (Fita) 154,071 72,549

154,071 72,830

Less: ECL allowance (note b) B BHEEBERE (Witb) (32,431) (33,475)
121,640 39,355

Notes: B aE -

(a) As at 31 March 2023, the Group's other receivables and deposits (a) R-EBE-_=ZF=ZA=+—H  A&EEKX
paid were mainly deposits paid for potential investments with HtpEWRBARENRETIERBERE
gross carrying amount of HK$153,105,000 (2022: HK$70,102,000). 2 B 1% & Bk ™ 42 {8153,105,0007% 7T (=
During the year ended 31 March 2023, refundable deposits with e — £ 70,102,000 T) - HE - F
gross carrying amount of a) HK$24,000,000 as at 31 March 2022 was —ZHFZA=Z1+—HILFE B AIREIR
utilised as part of the cost of investment in promissory notes issued cHRABEEIR T F=ZA=+—H
by Jiarun classified as other financial assets at amortised cost, which 24,000,000 T AED R B HK A2
was matured and settled during the year ended 31 March 2023; b) ZEMBBEENSE BRTALER (B
HK$10,872,000 (equivalent to RMB9,000,000) as at 31 March 2022 BE T _=F=ZA=+—HBLEEZ?
was utilised as the cash consideration for the acquisition of shares HRERM) REKAH—BD DR ZZE
of Jiajiafu classified as financial assets at fair value through other —ZH=H=+—H10,872,000/% 7T (&
comprehensive income (see (v) in Note 27) and; c) HK$5,230,000 as ® A R ¥9,000,0007T) A E U E D 8 A%
at 31 March 2022 was repaid from the third party. AFEFACTHEMEZEREEE 2 MK

EENRREROGMBESKRE (RWF27
MVv) RoRZTEZZ=ZF=A=+—H
52300008 TERFE=HERE -

(b)  For the year ended 31 March 2023, in addition to the ECL of by #HE-_ZE-_ZF=ZA=Z1+—HLEFEE B

HK$30,000,000 (2022: HK$30,004,000) recognised in prior years on
deposits paid for potential investments and other receivables which
are categorised as doubtful under the Group's credit risk grading
framework, the directors of the Company estimated the loss
allowance on the remaining deposits paid for potential investment
and other receivables with aggregate gross carrying amount of
approximately HK$124,071,000 (2022: HK$42,545,000) at the end of
the reporting period on an individual basis, at an amount equal to
12-month ECL taking into account the expected collection period
as the deposits paid are categorised as low risk under the Group's
credit risk grading framework. Thus, an amount of HK$2,431,000
(2022: HK$3,308,000) was provided for impairment losses under the
ECL model.
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22. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS PAID AND 22. HttEWRIE - ERNRERFEAMNRK
PREPAYMENTS (continued) | (&)
The movements in allowance for impairment of other HithEWRERBEREZSHOT -

receivables are as follows:

2023 2022
—EC-= —EF_C

HK$'000 HK$'000

TER THET

At the beginning of year R E 4] 33,475 61,567

Impairment losses recognised BRI EEE 2,431 3,308

Reversal of impairment R B B [ (3,308) (31,400)

Written-off i (167) -

At the end of year K N 32,431 33,475

23. AMOUNT DUE FROM A SHAREHOLDER 23. BWRERMKIE

The amount due from a shareholder is non-interest bearing. EWBRERIBERATETE °
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CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

24 BERBEEEY

2023 2022
—E-=HE T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Cash and bank balances ReMETHER 3,997 51,574

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

As at 31 March 2023, cash and bank balances of
approximately HK$1,075,000 (2022: HK$17,957,000) are
denominated in RMB and placed in financial institutions in the
PRC. RMB is not a freely convertible currency in the PRC and
the remittance of funds out of the PRC is subject to the rules
and regulations of foreign exchange controls promulgated by
the PRC government.

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities:

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will
be, classified in the Group's consolidated statement of cash
flows as cash flows from financing activities.
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24. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued) 24. BERBELSEEY (&)

Lease Bonds
liabilities payables Total
HEAE EAES ast
HK’000 HK'000 HK'000
FHET FHExT FHET
At 1 April 2021 R-ZB--FHmA—H - - -
Changes from financing MERSRESLT :
cash flows:
Proceeds P 15 3R 4,244 63,225 67,469
Repayments B (680) (61,225) (61,905)
Finance cost paid B B # B AR (97) (2,081) (2,178)
Non-cash changes: FREEH :
Finance costs B 75 B 7R 97 2,175 2,272
At 31 March 2022 and R=Z=Z
1 April 2022 ZA=+—-HEK
—E--F
A—H 3,564 2,094 5,658
Changes from financing RMERERESD
cash flows:
Proceeds P 18 3R - 70,270 70,270
Repayments &R (2,067) (30,000) (32,067)
Finance cost paid BB S B AR (263) (748) (1,011)
Non-cash changes: FREEH
Finance costs B 75 A AR 263 2,569 2,832
At 31 March 2023 R-ZZE-=%
=H=+—H 1,497 44,185 45,682
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25.
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OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED CHARGES

Ht BN REARETEA

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FTAT

(restated)

(e=E751)

Bonds interest payables JEESFB 1,915 94
Bonds payables (note) EiSES (B EE) 42,270 2,000
Amount due to former director FERTE F M IE - 600
Accruals and other payables FEET B A & H A FE T 5B 6,289 5,388
50,474 8,082

Note:

For the year ended 31 March 2023:

The Company has entered into short-term unsecured bond agreements
for issuance of bonds of approximately HK$20,270,000 with independent
parties, bearing interest rate from 5% — 12% per annum, and maturity
dates of the bonds outstanding at 31 March 2023 is up to 29 March 2024.

The Company has entered into short-term secured bond agreement of
approximately HK$22,000,000 with independent party, bearing interest
rate at 5% per annum, and maturity date of the bonds outstanding at 31
March 2023 is 25 October 2023. The Group has pledged its financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss for the said bond.

For the year ended 31 March 2022:
The Company has entered into short-term unsecured bond agreements
with independent parties, bearing interest rate at 12% per annum, and

maturity dates of the bonds outstanding at 31 March 2022 is up to 7 June
2022.
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26. LEASE LIABILITIES 26. HEEE
2023 2022
—E—-= —E-CF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHERT FET
Amount due for settlement within two years M F RN 2| Hi 45 & 2 708 1,497 3,564
Less: Amount due for settlement within ~ J& @ 1218 A R B Hi&E & 2 &
12 months (shown under current H(RRHEEETIR)
liabilities) (1,497) (2,037)
Amount due for settlement RI2E AEBBAEE 2508
after 12 months = 1,527

As at 31 March 2023, the effective incremental borrowing rate Wz - E F ‘T’ ZA=+—H EK
was 10% (2022: 10%). BEERFNEBION (ZTZZF .
10%)
27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. BRA&
Number of ordinary shares
ZEREE
‘000 HK$'000
T FET
Authorised: EE
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022, 1 April 2022 RZZE-_—FWA—H -
at HK$0.01 each —E-_f#=ZfF=+—8H
ZTZZFMA—-AR -
R &MX0.01%8 T 10,000,000 100,000
Share consolidation (note (vi)) H&Lf’\/w (PH 3E (vi)) (9,000,000) N/A i@ F
At 31 March 2023 at HK$0.1 each AZE-_=F=ZA=+—H -
RER0.1E T 1,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: BRTRARE
At 1 April 2021 RZZE-_—FMA—H 1,269,786 12,698
Rights issue (note (i) % (BT EEG)) 634,893 6,349
Placing of new shares (note (i) i & 5 R (BT sE i) 380,900 3,809
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RZEZ=ZF=R=+—8H
FZEZ_HMA—H 2,285,579 22,856
Exercise of share options (note (iii)) 171 BB P A (BT 5 (i) 175,450 1,754
Placing of new shares (note (iv)) REFHRG (K v) 492,200 4,922
Issue of consideration shares (note (v)) BIIRERS (KiEwW) 650,720 6,507
Share consolidation (note (vi)) & B (Bt EE(vi) (3,243,555) N/A T iE A
At 31 March 2023 R-ZEBE-_=%#=F=+—H 360,394 36,039
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27. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

160

All sh

ares issued during the year rank pari passu with the then

existing shares in all respects.

Notes:

0]

(ii)

(iii)

The Company has raised gross proceeds of approximately
HK$127.0 million before expenses by way of a rights issue of up
to 634,892,864 rights shares at a price of HK$0.2 per rights share
on the basis of one (1) rights share for every two (2) existing shares
held by the qualifying shareholders on the record date.

The gross proceeds from the rights issue were approximately
HK$127.0 million and the net proceeds from the rights issue, after
deducting the underwriting commission and all other relevant
expenses for the rights issue, were approximately HK$124.0 million.
Details are set out in the Company’s announcements dated 4 May
2021, 14 May 2021, 28 May 2021, 25 June 2021 and 19 July 2021.

On 18 October 2021, the placing agents and the Company entered
into the placing agreement pursuant to which the placing agents
agreed to place, on a best effort basis, up to 380,900,000 placing
shares to currently expected not less than six placees who are
independent third parties.

A total of 380,900,000 placing shares have been successfully placed
to not less than six placees (who are individual, corporate and/or
institutional investors), who and whose ultimate beneficial owner(s)
are independent third parties. The net proceeds from the placing,
after deducting all related costs, commission and expenses,
amount to approximately HK$56.6 million, which is intended to be
utilised for the general working capital of the Group and future
investment opportunities as may be identified from time to time.
Details are set out in the Company’s announcements dated 18
October 2021 and 8 November 2021.

A total of 175,450,000 share options with exercise price per share
of HK$0.068 were exercised under the Company’s share option
scheme during the year ended 31 March 2023. The subscriptions
monies from share option holders amounted to approximately
HK$11,931,000. The share allotment for the subscription of
161,950,000 ordinary shares and 13,500,000 ordinary shares were
completed on 14 April 2022 and 17 April 2022 respectively.
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27. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iv)

(vi)

On 15 September 2022, the placing agents and the Company
entered into the placing agreement pursuant to which the placing
agents agreed to place, on a best effort basis, up to 492,200,000
new Shares at a price of HK$0.077 per placing share, for and on
behalf of the Company.

A total of 492,200,000 placing shares have been successfully placed
to not less than six placees (who are individual, corporate and/or
institutional investors), who and whose ultimate beneficial owner(s)
are independent third parties. The net proceeds from the placing,
after deducting all related costs, commission and expenses,
amounted to approximately HK$37.5 million, which is intended to
be utilised for the general working capital of the Group and future
investment opportunities as may be identified from time to time.
Details are set out in the Company’s announcements dated 15
September 2022 and 18 October 2022.

In April 2022, the Company entered into the following agreements:

1. The agreement with an independent third party in respect of
the acquisition of 7% of the Jiajiafu at the consideration to
be satisfied (a) HK$10,928,000 (equivalent to RMB9,000,000)
by cash and (b) by the allotment and issue of 290,720,000
ordinary shares of the Company on 6 April 2022.

2. The agreement with an independent third party in respect
of the acquisition of 30% of the Lanzhou Wole at the
consideration to be satisfied by the allotment and issue of
360,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company on 8 April 2022.

All conditions precedent of the agreements have been fulfilled
and completion of the Agreements took place on 17 January 2023
whereupon a total of 650,720,000 new Shares were issued to the
independent third parties pursuant to the agreements. The closing
price of the Company was HK$0.065 at completion day.

Details are set out in the Company’s announcements dated 6
April, 2022, 7 April 2022 and 8 April 2022 and circular dated 10 May
2022 relating to the issue of consideration shares under specific
mandate.

Share consolidation of every 10 issued and unissued existing shares
into 1 consolidated share became effective from 15 February
2023. Details are set out in the Company's announcements on 20
December 2022 and 4 January 2023, 31 January 2023, 10 February
2023 and circular dated 10 January 2023.

27. B (&)

Wi

(iv)

(vi)
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28. RESERVES 28. f#fE
— THE COMPANY — ARF
Investment
Share  Shareholders’ Deemed  revaluation  Share option  Accumulated
premium  contribution  contribution reserve reserve osses Total
B RRiE¥ ffEIR REEREHE  BREGS ZiHER it

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiEn TEL TEn TR TETL TEn T

At 1 April 2021 RZEZ-4RA-A 391,054 10,934 - (956) - (366,156) 35216
Loss for the year REEEE - - - - - (40,257) (40,257)
Other comprehensive income Epzaks
Change in fair value of financial assets EATEFAEAMZE
at FVTOC! WERBIHBEEL
ATERY - - - il - - ’
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ AEE2ANRLE - - - 50 - (40,257) (40,207)

Transfer of loss on disposal of financial asset B E R AT A AE
at fair value through other comprehensive ~ Zf2ERERE 28 B

income to retained earnings EENBRERART - - - 506 - (506) -
Deemed contribution arising from imputed ~ EMHEAFAFEREFISEE

interests on amounts due HRETE

from subsidiaries = = (3,385) = = - (3,385)
Rights issue 120,629 - - - - - 120,629
Rights issuance expenses (3,051) - - - - - (3,051)
Placing of new shares 53,326 = s S = S 53,326
New share placement expenses (918) - - - - - (918)
Recognition of equity settled-share

based payment = = = = 12,812 = 12,812
Lapse of vested share option - - - - (1,246) 1,246 -
Subscriptions received from share option ~~ REBRERAAZTE

holders - - - - 8,021 - 8,021
At 31 March 2022 RZB--f=R=1-H 561,040 10,934 (3,385) - 19,587 (405,673) 182,503
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28.

RESERVES (continued)

E_T—

— THE COMPANY (continued)

=F=RA=+—HLFE

28. f#&fE (&)
— ARAT (&)

Investment
Share  Shareholders’ Deemed revaluation  Share option  Accumulated
premium  contribution  contribution reserve reserve losses Total
RipEE hRig RELE REERRE BRERR 2 EE Eh
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TR TR TEL
At 1 April 2022 RZEZZERA-A 561,040 10,934 (3,385) - 19,587 (405,673) 182,503
Loss for the year rEEER - - - - - (13,933) (13,933)
Other comprehensive income At 2ENE
Change in fair value of financial assets EATEFALAMZE
at FVTOCI REREZHHEEL
ATEEY - = o (4,921) - - (4,921)
Total comprehensive income for the year ~ AEE2ANRAE = 5 5 4.921) 5 (13,933) (18,854)
Deemed contribution arising from imputed ~ EXHEAFFEREFISEE
interests on amounts due MEfELE
from subsidiaries - - 3,385 - - - 3,385
Placing of new shares REFRH 32977 S S S S = 32977
New share placement expenses FROEERS (379 - - - - - (379
Issue of consideration shares BIRERR 35,790 - - - - - 35,790
Lapse of vested share options BRBBRELN = S = = (2,130) 2130 =
Exercise of share options B RE 10,177 S - - (8,021) S 2,15
At 31 March 2023 RZFZ=£=f=1-H 639,605 10,934 - (4.921) 9,436 (417,476) 231,578
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28.

29.

164

RESERVES (continued)

The following describes the nature and purpose of each

reserve within owners’ equity:

Reserve

]

28. f#&fE (&)
DTAUEAARXANSHEIHEER
B &)~ it

Description and purpose

LKk BB

Share premium
Bt 4 (B

Shareholders’ contribution
REHE
Investment revaluation reserve

REEMGMHE

Share option reserve

B R

Exchange reserve
PE 3 R

Accumulated losses

Rt R

Amount subscribed for share capital in excess of nominal value.

RERATEBL®EE -

Contribution arisen from a financial guarantee by shareholders on 20
January 2020. \
BRR-_ZF-_ZF-A-THENMBERELNHE

Gains/losses arising on recognising financial assets classified as
financial assets at FVTOCI at fair value.

Rz A FESHBEERR I BARATFEFAEEMEE KRR
HBEEMEE 2 W, BE -

Cumulative expenses recognised on the granting of share options
to the employees over the vesting period and subscription monies
received from option holders in respect of which shares have not yet
been issued.

57 B HARE )8 B R B A R R 5 R STA KA M R B AT AR 2
BB AMWERE) RIB A -

Gains/losses arising on retranslating the net assets of foreign
operations into presentation currency.

b
RN EREFREGIEBEEFENEEZ Wa BB -

Cumulative net gains and losses recognised in profit or loss.

REBERER 2 Rt st R EEFH

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the
“Scheme”) and terminated the previous share option scheme
pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at an annual
general meeting of the Company held on 28 December 2018
for the primary purpose of providing incentives to directors,
eligible employees and consultants, and the scheme will
expire on 27 December 2028. Under the Scheme, the board
of directors of the Company may, at its discretion and on
such terms as it may think fit, grant to parties including any
employee, director, consultant or advisor of any member of
the Group options to subscribe for shares in the Company
at a price determined by the Board and shall be at least the
higher of (i) the closing price of the shares of the Company
on the grant date : (i) the average closing price of the shares
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of
grant : and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares on
the date of grant. Options granted must be taken up within
21 days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made,
upon payment of HK$1 per option. Options may be exercised
at any time during a period as the Board may determine
which shall not exceed ten years from the date of grant.
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29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 29. BEESE (@)
The following table discloses movements of the Company'’s TRBEERBE-_ZTS-_=Fk=_F==
share options granted under the Scheme during the years FZA=ZT—HLEFEREZFERD
ended 31 March 2023 and 2022: WARBIEREZE
2023 —EB-=F
Number of share options
BREHR
Granted and
accepted Exercised Adjustment

Exercise price At 1 April during the during the  Lapsed during on Share At 31 March

Category Date of grant Exercise period per share 2022 year year the year ~ Consolidation 2023
R-BZZE ERRHE RZIBZZ%
B3 RiHAH g BRITEE HA-H RE4 ERfTE ERXN RBAHSEE ZA=t-8
HKS
b
Non-executive directors
FHTER
Han Zhenghai 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 0.5* 8,821,857 — - — (7,939,672) 882,185
BESR
Deng Dongping 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 0.5* 8,821,857 - - - (7,939,672) 882,185
Liu Lihan 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 0.5% 8,821,857 - - - (7.939,672) 882,185
BuE
Yang Xiaogiu i) 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 0.5% 8,821,857 — - 8,821,857) - —
)
Yan Peng (ii) 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 0.5* 8,821,857 — - 8,821,857) - -
Bk (i)
Li Jiangtao (iii) 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 0.5* 8,821,857 — - (8,821,857) - —
ZEE(i) 7112022 8/1/2022-7/1/2025 0.068 13,500,000 — (13,500,000) - — —
Zhu Zhikun 1112022 8/1/2022-711/2025 0.068* 22,000,000 —(22,000,000) - - —
KR
Gao Yun (i) 1112022 8/1/2022-111/2025 0.068* 22,000,000 —(22,000,000) - - —
BE(v)
Independent non-executive directors
BUFHTES
Mo Li 21812021 3/8/2021-218/2024 0.5¢ 882,185 - - - (793,967) 88,218
LR
Kan Yan Kit (ii) 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 0.5% 862,185 - - (882,185) - —
5 4 i) 71172022 8/1/2022-7/1/2025 0.068 1,000,000 — - (1,000,000) - —
Lok Chiu Chan (v) 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 0.5% 862,185 — - (882,185) - —
BREW 1112022 8/1/2022-111/2025 0.068* 1,000,000 - - (1,000,000 - —
Shi Zhu 7112022 8/1/2022-7/1/2025 0.068 1,000,000 — - - (900,000) 100,000
At
Yuan Wei (v) 711/2022 8/1/2022-7/1/2025 0.068 1,000,000 — - (1,000,000) - -
REW
Employees 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 0.5% 8,821,850 — - (5,293,110) (3,175,866) 352,874
E&
Consultants
BR
Consultant A (Note 1) 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 0.5% 862,185 — - (882,185) - —
BRF (WiE1)
Consultant B (Note 2) 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 0.5* 882,185 — - (882,185) — —
BRZ (WiE2)
Total 127,663917 — (57,500,000  (38,267,421)  (28,688,849) 3,187,647
@it
Weighted average exercise price, 0.2919 — 00680 (Note 4) 04662 4.8645
based on the exercise price at the (BizE4)

dates of grant and exercise (HKS)
METHHEE - ERELR
I BANTRE ()
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29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 29. BERESE (@)
2022 —2--F
Number of share options
Granted and
accepted Exercised
Exercise price At 1 April, during the during the ~ Lapsed during At 31 March
Category Date of grant Exercise period per share 2021 year year the year 2022
) . Rz2=-% R . . R=®BoZ
ER REAM %8 'Sﬂi"ﬁfﬂ% BA-H RE& FRTE ER%% ZB=t-H
HK(
A7

Non-executive directors
FHITER
Han Zhenghai 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 0.5 - 8,821,857 — - 8,821,857
B8 71112022 8/1/2022-7/1/2025 0.068 — 12960,000 (12,960,000 = =
Deng Dongping 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 05 — 8,821,857 — — 8,821,857
HRT 71112022 8/1/2022-7/1/2025 0.068 - 10,000,000 (10,000,000) — —
Liu Lihan 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 0.5 - 8,821,857 - - 8,821,857
BuE 71112022 8/1/2022-7/1/2025 0.068 — 10,000,000 (10,000,000) — —
Yang i(iaoqiu (i) 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 0.5 — 8,821,857 — — 8,821,857
BEM)
Yan%Peng (i) 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 05 - 8,821,857 - - 8,821,857
i)
Li Jiangtao (iii) 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 05 — 8,821,857 — — 8,821,857

B & (i) 71112022 8/1/2022-7/1/2025 0.068 - 13,500,000 — - 13,500,000
Zhu Zhikun 11112022 8/1/2022-7/1/2025 0.068 - 22,000,000 - - 22,000,000
RAE
Gao Yun (iv) 71112022 8/1/2022-7/1/2025 0.068 — 22,000,000 — — 22,000,000
aE(v)
Independent non-executive directors
BUHfES
Lai Yuen Piu (vi) 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 0.5 — 882,185 - (882,185) —
RE i)
Mo Li 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 0.5 - 882,185 — - 882,185
EH
Kan Yan Kit (i) 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 0.5 — 882,185 - - 882,185
58 B i) 71112022 8/1/2022-1/1/2025 0.068 - 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
Lok Chiu Chan (v) 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 05 - 882,185 — - 882,185
BREW 71112022 8/1/2022-7/1/2025 0.068 — 1,000,000 — — 1,000,000
Shi Zhu 71112022 8/1/2022-7/1/2025 0.068 — 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
A
Yuan Wei (v) 11112022 8/1/2022-7/1/2025 0.068 - 1,000,000 — - 1,000,000
2l
Employees 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 05 - 10,586,220 — (1,764,370) 8,821,850
E& 71112022 8/1/2022-7/1/2025 0.068 - 64,700,000 (63,700,000) (1,000,000) -
Consultants
B
Consultant A (Note 1) 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 05 - 882,185 — - 882,185
BRF (WiE1)
Consultant B (Note 2) 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 05 — 882,185 — — 882,185
BRZ (Hi2)
Consultant C (Note 5) 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 0.5 - 1,764,370 — (1,764,370) -
BRR (WE5)
Consultant D (Note 6) 2/8/2021 3/8/2021-2/8/2024 05 — 8,821,857 — (8,821,857) —
BT (M)
Consultant E (Note 7) 1112022 8/1/2022-1/1/2025 0.068 - 21,290,000 (21,290,000 - -
BRK (57)
Toti\ — 259846699 (1179500000  (14,232782) 127663917
Weighted average exercise price, based on the exercise — 0.2000 0.0680 0.4696 02919

price at the dates of grant and exercise (HKS)
ﬂﬂ%”{?;ﬁ)ﬁ@i CERRHRRERNTRE
\BTT
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29. SHA

RE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(i) resigned on 13 February 2022

(ii)
(iii)
(iv)

V)

(vi

*

Notes:

resigned on 30 December 2021
resigned on 6 April 2022
resigned on 7 September 2022
resigned on 22 July 2022

retired on 16 September 2021

As at the dates of grant and exercise, the exercise prices of the
share options were HK$0.5 and HK$0.068. As a result of the Share
Consolidation effected on 15 February 2023, the exercise prices
were adjusted to HK$5.00 and HK$0.68 respectively.

Consultant A was an analyst providing investment analysis services
to the Company for the year ended 31 March 2022. In order to have
a better service and be part of the Group, the Company retained
and motivated consultant A to strive for future development and
expansion of the Group by way of granting options to Consultant A.

Consultant B was a lawyer providing professional services to the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2022. In order to have a
better service and be part of the Group, the Company retained
and motivated consultant B to strive for future development and
expansion of the Group by way of granting options to Consultant B.

Upon acceptance of the share options, the grantee shall pay
HK$1.00 to the Company as consideration for the grant. The
Company has received such consideration from the respective
grantees.

The weighted average closing price of the shares immediately
before the date on which the options were exercised was
HK$0.0837.

Consultant C was a company secretary providing professional
services to the Company for the year ended 31 March 2022. In
order to have a better service and be part of the Group. Therefore,
the Company retained and motivated Consultant C to strive for
future development and expansion of the Group by way of granting
options to Consultant C.

Consultant D was a lawyer providing professional services to
the Company for the year ended 31 March 2022. In order to
have a better service and be part of the Group. Therefore, the
Company retained and motivated Consultant D to strive for future
development and expansion of the Group by way of granting
options to Consultant D.

Consultant E was an analyst providing consulting and analysis
services to the Company (the “Services”) for the year ended 31
March 2022. The Company settled the Services of Consultant E by
way of granting options to Consultant E as the Company retained
and motivated Consultant E to strive for future development and
expansion of the Group.

29. BR
0

(i)

(iii)

GEE

T8 (@)
RZEZZFZA+=A8F

RZTE-Z—F+-A=+HEFT
R-ZZE-__FMANBEE
R-E-__FhALBEE
RIB-_—_FLtA-+-ABE
RZZEZ—FhA+ BEE

RELRITEBRE - BRETEEROS
BT R0068BTL c AR T _=F_A
THBEBOKROEN TEESRIFAR
#%5.00% 7T 2 0.68% 7T ©

ERRABE-_T-_—_F=RA=+—H81t
FEBARFRBRES RSO DA o
AEERHREERKEAEE —BH - A2
RIBERMBERFETERE USSR RS
ERFRAAEBRARERRERME S -

BERARE_T-_—_F=ZRA=+—H1
FERAAQRIREZXRBEHEMEM - BF
EFURBERKARNEE IS © NAFE
B R 2R T R E D I B ORI
LRAEBRREBRERMB N -

ENBRER - ARARRARFZAA.00
BITERSEHRE - AAFCKEE R
BANBBRE -

SEBRETE BB M NEFES KD
8 /50.083778 7T ©

BRRAHZE-_T-_—#=RA=+—H1
FERAARARHUEIERBORAME -
EERUBRBEERAEAEE D - B
- ARREBMEBRR TERENE
BREBBERNRABAEEARARERLER
meh -

BRTABZ-_ET-_—_#=A=+—801
FERAAQRREZSERBEHOZME - BE
TR EKAAER—FD - ALt -
ARG ERARABERTRTEREANER R
HEERT ARNEERKRERERBERMSE
# o

BERRABE-_T=-__F=A=+—H1t
FERARARREBEES RS ([
%) MDA - BRAR A KB RBE
BEEXARNEBARBEERBEZME N -
NARE R R EE R R T MR AE T R
BX B R ©
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29.

168

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The weighted average remaining contractual life for share
options outstanding at the end of the reporting period is 1.36
years (2022: 2.55).

The total number of securities available for issue under
the share option scheme as at 31 March 2023 in respect of
outstanding share options granted but not yet exercised was
3,187,647 (2022: 127,663,917) shares which represented 0.88%
(2022: 5.59%) of the issued share capital of the Company as
at 31 March 2023. During the year ended 31 March 2022,
the Company has received subscriptions monies from share
option holders amounted to approximately HK$8,021,000
for their exercises of the share options held by them for
subscriptions of 117,950,000 ordinary shares of the Company.
The share allotment for the subscriptions of these 117,950,000
ordinary shares was completed on 14 April 2022.

On 2 August 2021 and 7 January 2022, the Company issued
equity-settled share-based payments to certain directors
and grantees as encouragement. Equity-settled share-based
payments are measured at fair value (excluding the effect of
non marketbased vesting conditions) at the date of grant.
No vesting condition was imposed and the share options
were exercisable immediately on grant date. The fair value of
the equity-settled share-based payments were determined
as at the date of grant and recognised as expenses when
the share options were accepted by the grantees. The total
estimated fair value of the share options was HK$12,812,280,
which had been expensed in profit or loss and credited in the
share option reserve during the year. The following significant
assumptions were used to derive the fair value using the
Binomial option pricing model:

1. an expected volatility range of 89.79 and 105.72 per
cent, respectively;

2. expected annual dividend yield range equal to zero;

3. the estimated expected life of the options granted
during the year is 3 years; and

4. the quoted risk free rate with expected life of 3 years
were 0.2 and 0.95 per cent, respectively, which are
adopted to calculate the fair value of share options
grant on 2 August 2021 and 7 January 2022.
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29.

B ESTE ()
REBRAITHEEREZ NEFHF
BAMFERAEI36F (ZF - —F 255
F) o

R-ZTE-_=F=F=+—H  BREH#E
FEBEBTIHRE R HEBRITENEITESIN
B AR RE MBS 1T 2 BB 5 4R B 53,187,647
B (ZF = = F 127,663,917 &
?) > MERARARZ-ZZT-_=ZF=
A=+—B 2B #{TREK088% (= F
TZF 1 559%) c BE_TE-__F=A4
=+—HLFE  XRRRBERERHE
ANTEEFRE BERERZERSBRE
A A2 R IE£8,021,0008 7T+ M
R HE117,950,000 A A Al EBAR o R
B 2% £117,950,0000% & 3@ B& 2 P& 17 Bc 3
RZE_—_FWNA+MHBETEK °

RZE-_—FNAZBR T -__F—
BtH  ARFAREBETESRERAE
HESEEURGARIELSER - #%
HEEURODANRARFEL BBZAFER
ETEENETSAER BB GG
ZRE)  c MENNEAEBIKME - M
BRETAEEBHABITHE -
HEEUROERAFERR L BBHE
E W REARAEMNERESEREH
X FRN - BREIZHALATFESLEE
12,812,280 L E RNIBm P X8 - Wit A
BRERE  FTHRA-_BABETEERER
FEATFEREHEANTERBR

1. TEHI K 1B & B o 5 A89.79% &
105.72% :

2. BHEREFEXLEMRIFIRNT

3. FAERHUBREEFHA/IF
54

4, HFAER-_ZE-_—FNAZHEZ=
E__F—AtHMEBEHBEREZ
NFEEMERTEFHAEIF 2 &
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29.

30.

31.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 29. BIRESTE (@)
The volatility assumption, measured at the standard deviation REMGARENG EERETEZ 5)§
of expected share price returns, is based on a statistical BEREDUNZZEZ—FNANAZHBEZ
analysis of daily share prices over the last three years for the T ZF-A+tBAREBEBRERE= ¢
share options grant on 2 August 2021 and 7 January 2022. HREZG M RELE -
The Binomial option pricing model requires the input of THEAEETEEAERBASEEH
highly subjective assumptions. As changes in subjective input R BREROERKE - BREEE
assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimated, ABRELEEeeH R FEMGBTEKE
in the Directors’ opinion, the existing model does not AFE  HWEERERBEEARMATERE
necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the fair value HAUSE-—GFSBREQAFEZAZE -
of the share options.
NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE 30. BREERE
Net asset value per share is HK$0.759 as at 31 March 2023 RZEBE-_=Z=F=ZA=+—HBEREE
(2022: restated as HK$0.980) which is calculated by dividing FEOIB L (ZEZF KEHN A
the net assets included in the consolidated statement of 0980 ) HiRET AR EHMBHRARNE 2
financial position of approximately HK$273,676,000 (2022: & EOF B #273,676,0008 L (ZE = =
HK$224,016,000) and the number of ordinary shares in issue 4 12240160008 L) R AR —F = =
as at 31 March 2023, being 360,394,859 (2022: 228,557,900), as FZAZ+—HZERTETBERHEE
adjusted for share consolidation completed on 15 February 360,394,859 (=& — — © 228,557,900
2023. H%(MW:§::¢*H+£E%&Z
RipaHAE) 8
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 3. BEALRS
(@) Compensation of key management personnel, @ FTEEBAB(BEARQRAES)
comprising the directors of the Company, during the FAMSHT
year is as follows:
2023 2022
—EZ=fF —T=-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
Salaries, allowances and e BRER
benefits in kind B et 1,723 1,685
Share-based payment B 4 - 8,364
Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in FHEETNE 2 E - FLFBHRE

note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

é%ﬁﬁ%WEMo
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31.

32.

SO

170

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued) . BEALRS (&)
(o) During the year, the Group entered into the following (b) ¢ W AEBE EEBEEALTFI LN
transactions with related parties: R
2023 2022
—Eg=-= —E-C
Name of related party Nature of transaction HK$'000 HK$'000
BEALRE REME TER FAT
Evergrande Securities (Hong Kong) Investment manager fee
Limited ("ESHK") (Note i) 480 160
BARE (B4) BRAT RAEE YA
(Mex&#]) (KD
Note: B 5 -

(i) The annual investment manager's fee payable to ESHK is
HK$480,000. The investment management agreement is
effective from 1 December 2021.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

The Group has participated in a defined contribution
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
for all eligible employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the
MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group, in
funds under the control of trustee. Under the scheme, each of
the Group (the employer) and its employees makes monthly
contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5% of the employees’
earnings as defined under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme Ordinance. The contributions from each of the
employer and employees are subject to a maximum
contribution of HK$1,500 (2022: HK$1,500) per month with
effective from 1 June 2014 and thereafter contributions are
voluntary. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce the
contributions payable in the future years.

The total contributions charged to the consolidated income
statement amounted to approximately HK$105,000 (2022:
approximately HK$108,000), representing contributions
payable to the MPF Scheme by the Group in respect of the
year ended 31 March 2023.

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

At the end of reporting period, the minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases for leased premise

32.

5o

0] BFENEBABSF ZRELKEER
/480,000 T - WEEREHEE =
T —F+-A—BBER -

RIKRERETE
$Elﬁh%ﬂﬁﬁééﬁéhmﬁﬁ
BRERER ﬁ%@@i%ﬁ X 58 i 1
~NEEHE ([RESFE]) - BES
AEZEEEASKE B EEH M1
ARG ZESHE - REZEE - X
EIHEI))SZ BEXBERBRERZ
& GE#HRBRIEAMS 8RR 2
%tﬁﬁﬁ%iﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ%°§:§
—mFENA—HBHE BEXREEEBZ

HERES AT H1500ET (ZE-—F :
15008 7T) ' hEzZHEFRBEERHE - WE
SRR B A R D R R E R 2 R o

AR A WS ?ECPZf X 48 58 #105,000
f’éfn(fzﬁ:: %’7108,000/%75) 5

ZK%@?J&@?::%:Ei_ﬂ =t+—H
HFEERMRES B ZHR -

REHEERE
RBEHR - RETATHEHECEHE

HEME (XERARERAREE) BN

which were not recognised as right-of-use assets were ZEREBESRENT
payable as follow:
2023 2022
—EZ=F% —E-C
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THET
Within one year —F R 2,378 -

Annual Report 4F ¥ 2023



China Investment Development Limited ® f B % & [ 2 B R A A)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

Forthe yearended 31 March2023 B ZE T —_=F=A=+—HILFE

34. HOLDING COMPANY STATEMENT OF 4. RZE==F=HA=1+—HERKRAT
FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 31 MARCH 2023 MR R T
2023 2022
—E—-= —E-CF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
k=2 FERT FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERERE
Non-current assets kRBDEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BELRZE - -
Investments in subsidiaries REB AR ZIE 1 781
Amounts due from subsidiaries = NEIE O = 33,026
Other financial assets at amortised cost REHRAFTEZHM
MBEE = 64,200
Financial assets at fair value through other Z A F{EFF AL EMEE
comprehensive income WREB HBEE 48,304 =
48,305 98,007
Current assets RBEE
Financial assets at fair value through profit Z A F(EFFALERERE
or loss CHBEE 49,922 34,038
Other receivables, deposits and HiEWzE Ee &k
prepayments B FIE 120,674 36,933
Other financial assets at amortised cost REHERANGEZ M
BEE 100,809 41,249
Amount due from the shareholder JE U B% R 3R 949 949
Cash and cash equivalents ReBReEEY 2,795 2,192
275,149 115,361
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables and accrued charges HMEMNRBERETER 49,837 7,985
Amounts due to subsidiaries JE A BT B A R 3R = 24
49,837 8,009
Net current assets REBEETFE 225,312 107,352
Net assets EEFE 273,617 205,359
EQUITY B
Share capital & 27 36,039 22,856
Reserves ] 28 237,578 182,503
Total equity BaER 273,617 205,359
On behalf of the directors RERE=E
Han Zhenghai CHAN Yiu Pun Clement
HBIEF PR B M
Director Director
EZE EZE
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35.

172

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY

The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair

35. BERBS 2 MBEERMBERE

M=

TRIRH T4 REANEE M BEE

values of the Group's financial assets and liabilities as defined RBEZERELRATE :
in note 4(g):
2023 2022
—EC-= —EF-Z
Carrying Carrying
amount  Fair value amount  Fair value
EREE DNFE REE ~TE
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER THER FET FET
Financial assets: BBEE:
Financial assets at fair value through ~ EAFEFH AT HMEE
other comprehensive income WaREB L WBEE
- Unlisted equity securities - ETRAES 48,304 48,304 4,297 4,297
Financial assets at fair value through A FEF AEIE & EE
profit or loss LHBEE

— Investments in convertible bonds - RERITRERES 15,180 15,180 16,280 16,280

— Listed equity securities — FTRAES 24,662 24,662 17,758 17,758

— Private equity funds - hERERES 10,080 10,080 = =

Financial assets measured at amortised E#HEK A E 2 MK E

costs E

— Other receivables and deposits paid  — H 1 E U FIBE K B 11 1%

i 121,640 121,640 39,237 39,237

— Amount due from shareholder — EWRE A 949 949 949 949

- Promissory notes and a secured bond — &R ZEE R EHAEZHF 100,809 100,809 105,449 105,449

— Cash and cash equivalents - HekREEFEYD 3,997 3,997 51,574 51,574

Financial liabilities: BKAaE:

Financial liabilities measured REHKATEZ

at amortised cost BikaE 50,474 50,474 8,082 8,082

The following table provides an analysis of financial TRINTERATFEZERE D AR TFET

instruments carried at fair value by level of fair value hierarchy: BZHBEIAS :

Level 1:  Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for F—H: HRAEESABZ/ERMER
identical assets or liabilities; B (CREHE)

Level 2:  Inputs other than quoted prices included within F-H o BE (AEW) sEE (kA
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, BR)WNEEXEBBEZAHE
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. WABE  MIE-—RFABRE
derived from prices); and WE &

Level 3:  Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based FE=R: WHERABEMSHEEBNE

on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
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35.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND

35. BERBS 2 MBEERMBEE

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY (continued) BE ©)
2023
—Eg2=-=
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—& EFH E=R et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FET FET
Financial assets at fair value through BRAFEFAEEMEE
other comprehensive income WREECHMEEE
— Unlisted equity securities —JEETREES = = 48,304 48,304
Financial assets at fair value through EAFEFAEEBZEE
profit or loss ZHBEE
- Listed equity securities - FTRAEH 24,662 = = 24,662
— Investments in convertible bonds - BERNABEESR - - 15,180 15,180
— Private entity funds - hEREES - - 10,080 10,080
24,662 - 73,564 98,226
2022
=
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—H B BE=4 Bat
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAT FAT FAT
Financial assets at fair value through BRAFEFAEEMET
other comprehensive income MEREBECHKEE
- Private equity securities - EREES - - 4,297 4,297
Financial assets at fair value through BRAFEFAEBRZEE
profit or loss ZHBEE
- Listed equity securities — FTRAEH 17,758 = = 17,758
— Investments in convertible bonds —KERABRES - = 16,280 16,280
17,758 - 20,577 38,335
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35. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND

35. BERBS 2 MBEERMBERE

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY (continued)

Reconciliation for financial instruments carried at fair value

based on significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) are as

BE @)
RESEATAEBRBGARE (F=F) K
NFENENMHE TR ZEKRAT ¢

follows:
Financial assets at ~ Financial assets at
Financial assets at ~ FVTPL Investments ~ FVTOCI Investments
FVTPL Investmentsin ~in unlisted private  in unlisted equity
convertible bonds equity funds securities Total
RATEHA
RAVETA RAVETA EAf2E
TREREL ERE WEREZ
HHEE: REHBRE HBEE:
RTARK RELTRE W LHRE K
RHRE REESRE #5RE At
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
TR TR T T
At 1 April 2022 RZE--FWA-A 16,280 - 4,297 20,577
Additions RE - 10,012 53,225 63,237
Disposal il - . (52) (52)
Total gain/(loss) from change in fair value ~ AFEEH 7 k% /
(B#)
~in profit or loss (note a) -RE% (Mia) (1,100 68 - (1,032)
- in other comprehensive income -REM2ERE
(note b) (HiiEb) - - (9,166) (9,166)
At 31 March 2023 RZE-=F=R=1-H 15,180 10,080 48,304 73,564
Loss recognised in profit or loss relatingto ~ StASERN G4 ABLERE
financial instruments held by the Group at ~ FIEH B T AR RS
the end of reporting date ERLER (1,100) 68 - (1,032)
At 1 April 2021 RZE--£WmA-H 10,002 - 9416 19418
Disposal & S = (0) (50)
Shareholder contribution hET4 (264) = = (264)
Total gain/(loss) from change in fair value 2T EZE 2 EM%/
(B#)
- in profit or loss (note a) -RE% (Mia) 6,542 = = 6,542
- in other comprehensive income -REf2ERE
(note b) (B itb) - - (5,069) (5,069)
At 31 March 2022 W-ZF-_F=R=1-H 16,280 = 4,297 0577
Gain recognised in profit or loss relatingto ~ FAKERRE R BLERE
financial instruments held by the Groupat ~ Fris B TERNBR®
the end of reporting date R s 6,542 = s 6,542
Notes: Mt 5
(a) Included in the change in fair value of and net realised gain/(loss) (a) H‘A}ﬁ ANFEEFAECBRIREB U HEE

on disposal of financial assets at FVTPL.

(b) Included in the OCl related to investment revaluation.
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36. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

37.

During the year, the Group completed the acquisition of
investments in unlisted equity securities classified as at fair
value through other comprehensive income from independent
third parties in respect of the consideration which comprised
cash consideration which was settled by refundable deposit
of HK$10,872,000 (equivalent to RMB9,000,000) and share
consideration portion which was settled by the allotment
and issue of the equity shares of the Company; with a total
amount recognised in shareholders’ equity of the Group
in respect of the new shares of the Company issued as
consideration shares amounting to HK$42,297,000 (2022: nil).

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group's major financial instruments include equity
investments, promissory notes and a secured bond, other
receivables, other payables and borrowings. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in the respective notes.
The risks associated with these financial instruments and the
policies applied by the Group to mitigate these risks are set
out below. Management monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented in a timely and
effective manner.

Interest rate risk

Except for the cash and cash equivalents which carry
floating interest rate, the Group has no other significant
interest-bearing assets or liabilities with floating rates. The
Group's income and operating cash flows are substantially
independent of changes in market interest rates.

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group's fair value interest
rate risk relates to its fixed-rate promissory notes (see Note
18(i) and (ii)), secured bond (see Note 18(iii)), convertible bond
(see Note 21(b)), currency fund (see Note 21(c)) and bonds
payables (see Note 25). The Group currently does not have an
interest rate hedging policy. However, management monitors
interest rate exposure and will consider other necessary
action when significant interest rate exposure is anticipated.

36.

37.

FEFBEERS

RAEE » REBZXKABLFE=ZFK
BoEAR A FESMATCHEHMEZA RS
BEMIFELTREZTHFRE  REEE
/e A E (LAA R E 1% £10,872,0007%8 7T
(&R A R #9,000,0007T) &) &I
MRELD (AR ERETAQRED
BHERM)  MIEARERGEBITHAR
NEIFRORAEB R R ERERAR
B42297,0008 T (ZE-__F 1 &) -

B EREERRER R

AEBTEVBEIABREAKRE - &
AEBRRBREFES - EMERFE -
HitEARBEREE - ZFMBITAZ
HBEREENERE - AERSEVHT
AvEBEAESERNUREBZEARZ
BEHHNWAT - EREEEZERARU
BREKLBERERGERE

=@k

BREERRSFEMNFBHNERARIN
AEBYBBEMAFBHHERFEZEKX
MEEEXAE - AEERAREER

EMERHFDHBINT SN KEF o

RZBEZ=FRZFT_F=H=+—
H ASEBEQXFEMNXZRBIREEFE
FlEEEZE (BRWaE186) &6) « §iK
EH (MsE18Gi) ~ JH@ERES (RN
H21b)) - EME® (RWE210) RE
~ES (RH5E25) » ANEE R pif &5
REHRBEK - A - EEBERAER
By - WASTETER HIRE R E R R E
EERREMNKETE -
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37.

176

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

Assuming the balance at 31 March 2023 was the amount
for the whole year, if the interest rate on cash and cash
equivalents was 50 basis points higher or lower and all
other variables were held constant, the Group's loss for the

year ended 31 March 2023 would decrease or increase by
HK$19,985 (2022: decrease or increase by HK$257,870).

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from various currency exposures,
primarily with respect to the Renminbi (“RMB"). Foreign
exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities and net investments in
foreign operations.

The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency

37. BXEAREEEEREE (&)

HREDTH

BER_ZB_=F=ZA=+—HZ&®R
DEFEZRE  HRELBESFEYD
F& FF ok TRESOMEEE - MAE A
HHERFITE  AXAEEBE_T_=

FZA=+-BLFEZEBEESRI K
HN19,9858 T (ZE = —F : WMk
hn257,870% 7t)

S EE R B

AEBEBBRRL  AXXREZEHER
ZHNERRR - R EXERBRKAARE ©
SMNERBRIRBBINEB 2 RRBERS
EEREENBBEUARREFHE -

AEERSRESBHAUIINEFENER

denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the respective EENBEREENOT
reporting dates are as follows:
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FET
Assets BE
Other financial assets at amortised cost NARBTEREHEKNATEZ
denominated in RMB HiMBEE 77,437 105,449
Other receivables and deposits paid IAARBEHE 2 E R RIE R
denominated in RMB EffZe 121,640 36,795
Cash and cash equivalents denominated in UMARBHEZHERE S
RMB FEY 1,488 47,386
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 37.

AND POLICIES (continued)

Foreign exchange risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table shows the sensitivity analysis of a 5%
increase/decrease in RMB against the Hong Kong dollars, the
effects on the loss for the year is as follows:

BEEREERERBER ()

SNEmBR ()

BREDN
TRINTAREEBILIAE B E%H
REREBEBRZEZHREIN

Impact of RMB

AR¥ZEE
2023 2022
—EZ=fF T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FHAT
Decrease/increase in loss for the year AEEERRD LM 10,028 9,482

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from
investments in convertible bonds, private equity fund,
investments in PRC unlisted equity securities and investments
in Hong Kong listed equity securities, which were classified as
either financial assets at FVTOCI (note 20) or financial assets
at FVTPL (note 21) on the consolidated statement of financial
position. To manage its price risk arising from investments in
financial assets, the Group diversified its portfolio.

B A (E 45 EAR
AREBAZBEANERRR - JIRERE
EUMBRARKRFDBR/EBRAFESAL
Hivr 2w 2 M5 EE (FFE20)
HBRAFEFAEBRSRECMBEE
(M aE21) 2 ATRIRESRE ~ BB
E®  TEFLTRAZHZFRELRE
ALTERAEZRE - REEREMH
BEMEEZERRAR  AKEOHE
REHES -
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37.

178

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Equity price risk (continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every 5%
(2022: 5%) change in the fair value of the financial assets with
all other variables held constant and based on their carrying
value amounts at the end of the reporting period.

Impact of financial assets

/e

Impact of investment

in Hong Kong listed

MHEREEEERBE (#)

BRAERRER ()
TRAEAAEMBEEMERER TE 2B
AT REVBEERRSESHRZER
BE2BAE Q2 FESEH% (ZF
T 5%) ZHURE o

Impact of investments in

Impact of investments in  unlisted private equity

at FVT0CI equity securities convertible bonds funds

ROTEFAEELZE RERLTRERSH REFLTAERE

hERBHKEEYE REYE RETHRESNTE Eéhype
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
ZE-=ZE -“3--F CZBCCE -“T--F CZECZE “R--F CZBECCE —ToCF
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TEn TERL TAn TARL TER TER TAn TR
Increase/decrease in loss for the year REEEREN/F - = 1,233 888 759 814 504 =
Increase/decrease in other equity reserve  EfERFEEE N/ D 2,415 215 - - - - - -

Credit risk FER

The credit risk for bank deposits and balances is considered
negligible, since the counterparties are reputable banks with
high quality external credit ratings.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group has a systematic
internal credit management policy, which includes both credit
and risk management and collection management.

Before placing an investment in a debt instrument or an
advance to a counterparty, the Group conducts a credit
risk assessment on each of the counterparties, including
assessing the potential credit quality, defining credit limits
and calculating the interest rate by considering the underlying
financial risks. The Group subsequently performs on-going
review on the recoverable amount of each individual
financial assets at the end of the reporting period to ensure
that adequate derecognition process are made for any
irrecoverable amounts and impairment loss under ECL model
is recognised for future potential loss.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 3. BEREEEEREEK &)

AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued) FERK (&)
The Group uses the following benchmarks to perform internal AEBFRAATEERTEHREERSIRE
credit risk grading and impairment assessment under ECL RATET 2 AEE & E 2 57 & &R E &
model: (G
Level of credit risk Benchmarks ECL assessment requirement
EERBKF BEE RMEEBEFEER
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default 12-month ECL

and does not have any past-due amounts
e RHEFHENRREERZEEFAABMNKIE 12HABHEEER
Watch list The counterparty has amounts past-due but ~ 12-month ECL

is continuously settling after due date and
with continuous business transactions with

the Group
BRaE ZEcHECRY  MRXZEBFRIPRES

BER YEAKEFEETEERS

Doubtful There have been significant increases in
credit risk since initial recognition through
information developed internally or
externally resources while the counterparty
is with continuous business transactions
with the Group

] &t BEBAMERZERFINBLEIR  EER
B #1152 féﬂﬁ%i'bﬂ B %ﬁ??@zﬁ’%
BRSEETEBR

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is
credit-impaired

R BEEBRBTREECBREEERE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the

debtor is in severe financial difficulty and
the Group has no realistic prospect of
recovery

i BEEBRBTEBABARENV KRB R
SEYEEEREH®ZAIKEAEBRE

1218 AEBEEEE

Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired

EHFEMEEEE - YEEERE

Lifetime ECL - credit-impaired

2HIFRMEERER - FERE

Amount is written off

555 A IR
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued)

37. BXEAREEEEREE (&)

EERR (£)

Gross carrying amount

EEAE

External Internal 12-month or

Notes  creditrating ~ credit rating Lifetime ECL 2023 2022
EEEES

WE HPEETR RPEETR BAHEEES ZBC=E St 2

HK$'000 HK$'000

TER TET

Other financial asset at amortised REHERAGTEZEWE 18 N/A Low risk 12-month ECL 112,043 109,119
cost BEE TEA ERR 1REABRSEESE

Amount due from a shareholder JEU IR B 23 N/A Low risk 12-month ECL 949 949
TER BERR VNEABHEEESRE

Other receivables and deposits paid £t ERFEREREE 2 N/A Low risk 12-month ECL 124,071 42,545
TEm ERR 1REABRSBEEESR

N/A Doubtful Lifetime ECL 30,000 30,167
NER g 2HESEEESB

Cash at banks B84 24 AA1-AA3 Low risk 12-month ECL 3,997 51,574
ERR 1REABRSEESSE

271,060 234,354

In term of collection management, the Group monitors the REHERFHE - AEEREBRELET

repayment against the pre-determined repayment terms and
considers to take and conducts these actions to recover the
overdue receivables in a default event:

(i) To negotiate with the counterparty, understand their
financial position and plan for debt restructuring, if
necessary;

(i) Toissue legal letter to the counterparty as a warning;

(i) To appoint external debt collection agency to recover
the debt against the counterparty; and

(iv) To take legal actions against the counterparty to collect
the overdue receivable.
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37.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Although the Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements to cover the credit risk, the directors of
the Company consider these internal control policies could
effectively manage the Group's credit risk.

The Group's credit risk exposure is primarily attributable to its
financial assets at amortised cost, including promissory notes
and a secured bond, other receivables, deposits paid and
cash at bank.

The credit risk on other financial assets at amortised cost is
arisen from the promissory notes and a secured bond issued
by certain unlisted companies in PRC. The Group's investment
strategy is to balance the credit risk and return by investing in
medium risk corporate promissory notes and a secured bond.
These corporate promissory notes and a secured bond are
always lacking of independent and public recognised credit
ratings available, as such, management of the Company
carried out additional credit and risk management policy
against these investments:

(@) To review and monitor the portfolio, financial
performance and financial positions of these unlisted
companies on regular basis; and

(b) To prepare impairment review under ECL model
by using historical repayment record and past due
information to consider whether the credit risk changed
since initial recognition.

37. BREAREEEEREE (£)

FERRE (&)
BEASETESETAEAFmKEM
EREBRNEEEERR -  ARARES
RR - ZEABEFEETAREEAR
SENEERAR -

AEENEERRTIERS HREBHK
AEFEZHMBEE  BRALZEEREA
BREZ  HBRKFKE BNEER
RITRE -

BBHEKAHEZRMOYBEEZEE
RBREETHEE LT R AT
AEBRBEEFAES - AREHRER
REBBERETERARARALZEER
BEAES  NEIEERRK&EHRH
T - ZERRAARRBEREERES
BERZELRARNEEFTR - Bt -
ARREREBHZEREBITRINGG
ErEBREERSK

@ TEHRTMEEZFHELTAAN
BREMEG ~ MBERARMBENR
54

(b) IRIBLEFIIB 1 R AR BB H A B
BTG S R TR AR
B 8 12 B L MR B3 944 R 3R B R 2
THERE -
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk (continued)
For the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group has
recognised the expected credit loss on financial assets at
amortised cost as follows:

/e

MHEREEEERBE (#)

FEERR (&)
HE_FT-_=FKk_FT=-_=F=H
ZT—HLEFE @ ~AEBEEBRIEZEH
KAGFECHBEEZBREEBEN
™~

12 month-ECL 12 month-ECL  Lifetime ECL Total
Other financial ~ 12EARHE 2HAHBEE
assets at FEER BB @
amortised cost
12BAREE
EFBREH Other receivables and
BAGTEZHE deposits paid
hEEEE HttEKREREAES
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FTAEL FTEL FTAEL
As at 1 April 2021 RZE--£NA-H - - 61,567 61,567
Expected credit losses recognised ~ BHERZ BHEEER 3,670 3,308 = 6,978
Expected credit losses reversed BROzBHEEERE = = (31,400 (31,400)
As at 31 March 2022 and R-ZBE-ZE=8=+
1 April 2022 “B-"¥NA-AH 3,670 3,308 30,167 37,145
Expected credit losses recognised ~ BHERZEHEEFR 11,234 2,431 = 13,665
Expected credit losses reversed ERREHEERBE (3,670) (3,308) = (6,978)
Expected credit losses written off B BHEERE = = (167) (167)
As at 31 March 2023 R-E-=(=ZRA=+-H 11,234 2,431 30,000 43,665

The Group writes off a financial asset at amortised cost
when there is information indicating that the debtor is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.
Other than that, taking into consideration that there is no
default payment noted in the previous repayment history of
the debtors and adequate impairment assessment under ECL
model performed, the directors of the Company consider the
credit risk on these other financial assets at amortised cost
held by the Group is manageable.
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37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES ~ 37. Bi#ABREEEERBE (&)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk REE SRR
In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors REBRDECRRMNE - AEEEE
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed THFHEBERRAKZR GRS
adequate by the management to finance the Group's EWKFE  UAKAEBEXRBLERHESR
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuation in cash T YRERESRERBZTE - 3L
flows. With regard to 2020 and thereafter, the liquidity of Z_TERHEEmNE  AEBEZRHE
the Group is primarily dependent on its ability to maintain TFEMARBEXRBEBTHRE R
adequate cash flow from operations and to raise funds ENRFRETREETRNEEE R
through issue and placement of new shares to meet its debt IREBEIHRENEERAE 2N -
obligations as they fall due.
The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities at the AEBERBERRIHMBAEINHBER
end of reporting period is as follows: mr
Total Within second
Carrying  undiscounted Within one year to fifth years
amount cash flows  or on demand inclusive
KRB E-ERER
BHE RERELE -FRHARER (BHEREMEF)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THT THT THET
As at 31 March 2023 R-F_=%
=ZA=+-H
Other payables and accrued Hih A RIERER
charges ER 50,474 52,277 52,277 =
Lease liabilities REARE 1497 1,554 1,554 -
As at 31 March 2022 RN-_E-—
=R=+-A
Other payables and accrued HAo 508 R ER
charges £8 8,082 8,122 8,122 S
Lease liabilities HEARE 3,564 3,885 2,331 1,554
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38.

39.

184

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT POLICY

The Group's objectives of managing capital are to safeguard
the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure
to reduce the cost of capital. In order to maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders,
issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is
calculated as debts divided by equity attributable to owners
of the Company. Debts included amount due to former
director and bond holder as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position.

The gearing ratio at the end of reporting period was as
follows:

38. ETEHEEE

AEB EcEBBRDRERAEERE
FERLE  UARRERDBLSHM
BamAATKNGD  AKEFRESR
REBABEERKER o SERFHAER
BEARGERE  AEEAHERARRIKMNZ
BE2HE  MRREMER - HITHK
MBEEBEENREBY -

AEBEEBREME -2 REER
BUERBERERER - B RTINUE
BRARBHEEABREERNE - &R
EMBRARNEKMT  BEEERENNE
EREFFAEAKA -

RBEMR - BEABLERMT

2023 2022
—ECZ= —T==

HK$'000 HK$'000

TER FHET

Debts &% 44,185 2,694
Equity attributable to owners of RKARIEBEARMGER

the Company 273,676 224,016

Gearing ratio EEAMELE 16.15% 1.20%

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

The Group pledged certain assets to bond holder to secure
a bond payable of the Group. Carrying amounts of the assets
pledged were as follows:

. BEEHA

AEBREHFFEARBEE TEENR
BAREBZENES BEHEBFEEZ
REENT :

2023 2022
—E=-= —EF-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHER FET
Financial assets at fair value BAVTEHATERREZ
through profit or loss MEEE 23,049 =
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40. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2023, the Group has no significant contingent
liability.

41.

42.

CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2023, the Group has no significant capital and
other commitments.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

(i)

Rights issue

The company proposes to implement the rights issue on
the basis of one (1) rights share for every one (1) existing
share held on the record date at the subscription price
of HK$0.15 per rights share, to raise gross proceeds
of approximately HK$54.5 million before deducting
the costs and expenses (assuming no change in the
number of shares in issue other than the full exercise
of outstanding share options on or before the record
date), by way of the rights issue of up to 363,582,506
rights shares to the qualifying shareholders. The rights
issue is not underwritten and will not be extended to
the excluded shareholder(s) (if any).

The estimated net proceeds of the rights issue, if fully
subscribed, will be up to approximately HK$53.2 million
(assuming no change in the number of shares in issue
other than the full exercise of outstanding share options
on or before the record date). The company intends to
apply (i) 83.1% of the net proceeds from the rights issue
of approximately HK$44.2 million for repayment of the
group’s bonds principal amount and accrued interests;
and (i) 16.9% of the net proceeds of approximately
HK$9.0 million for general working capitals of the group.

Details are set out in the Company’s announcement
dated 25 May 2023.
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42. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD (continued)

186

(ii)

(iii)

Acquisition of equity shares of P& E & (b R)R
K& R ABMRAT (“Zhonghe Huinong”)

On 13 April 2023, the Company entered into the sales
and purchases agreement with an independent third
party, Tang Shengxia (7% 22 &), in respect of acquisition
of 27.54% equity interest of Zhonghe Huinong at the
consideration of HK$44,803,000. Included in the deposits
paid for potential investments of the Group as at 31
March 2023 (see Note 22(a)) is an amount of deposit paid
to Zhonghe Huinong of HK$43,057,800 and the remaining
balance of the purchase consideration of HK$1,745,200 is
to be settled by cash on the date of completion. Zhonghe
Huinong was established in PRC with limited liability
and principally engaged in technology development,
technology transfer, technology consulting, technical
services, technology promotion; data processing (except
for bank card centers in data processing and cloud
computing data centers with a PUE value above 1.5);
software development; corporate planning; economic
and trade consulting; conferences Services; organizing
cultural and artistic exchange activities (excluding
commercial performances); undertaking exhibitions and
display activities; enterprise management consulting;
design, production, agency, release of advertisements
and computer animation design. The transaction was
completed in June 2023.

Acquisition of equity shares of 2 EIB E EH &
(&) B R 2 E] (“"Huanghao Guoji”)

On 21 April 2023, the Company entered into the sales
and purchases agreement with an independent third
party, Fu Xingiang ( {5 #7 38 ), in respect of acquisition
of 22.85% equity interest of Huanghao Guoji at the
consideration of HK$44,803,000. Included in the
deposits paid for potential investments of the Group
as at 31 March 2023 (see Note 22(a)) is an amount of
deposit paid to Huanghao Guoji of HK$42,086,800 and
the remaining balance of the purchase consideration
of HK$2,716,200 is to be settled by cash on the date of
completion. Huanghao Guoji was established in PRC
with limited liability and principally engaged in financial
leasing business; leasing business; purchase of leased
property at home and abroad; residual value treatment
and maintenance of leased property; lease transaction
consultation and guarantee (excluding financing
guarantee) and concurrently operating factoring
business related to financial lease (non-bank financing
kind). The transaction was completed in June 2023.
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42. EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD (continued)
(iv) Acquisition of equity shares of SRIYIFTEHIRE R

REZEHABR AT (“Zhongtou Dingsheng”)

On 23 April 2023, the Company entered into the sales
and purchases agreement with an independent third
party, Jiang Yongjun (3% 5 13), in respect of acquisition
of 30% equity interest of Zhongtou Dingsheng at the
consideration of HK$44,803,000. Included in the deposits
paid for potential investments of the Group as at 31
March 2023 (see Note 22(a)) is an amount of deposit
paid to Zhongtou Dingsheng of HK$42,143,400 and
the remaining balance of the purchase consideration
of HK$2,659,600 is to be settled by cash on the date
of completion. Zhongtou Dingsheng was established
in PRC with limited liability and principally engaged
in investment consulting, enterprise management
consulting, economic information consulting; engage
in system application management and maintenance,
information technology support management, bank
background service, software development, offshore
call center and data processing and other information
technology and business process outsourcing services
by undertaking service outsourcing. The transaction was
completed in June 2023.

43. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the Board of Directors on 29 June 2023.
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FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY

EFEMBHRE

Year ended 31 March
HE=-A=1T—-HLEE

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-=F —T_—— —E--F —E-FTF —T-hE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FET FAT TET FET
RESULTS E¥
Revenue Wz = = = = 600
Loss before income tax expense BETSHA S AEE (22,802) (20,010) (15,450) (52,541) (87,911
Income tax expense FriEHmEX - > S o =
Loss for the year attributable to ARAEEABIEREE
owners of the Company BE (22,802) (20,010) (15,450) (52,541) (87,911)
As at 31 March
R=A=+-H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—g-=fF —T--— —E--% —T-TFE —FE-hE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FET FEr FET FEr
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets ERBEE 48,330 68,497 9,429 8,726 37,778
Current assets MENEE 277,317 167,165 45,080 37,193 71,694
Current liabilities mEAE (51,971) (10,119) (5,178) (4,849) (3,601)
Non-current liabilities FRBEE - (1,527) S = -
Total equity EmBE 273,676 224,016 49 331 41,070 105,871
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